
A. SORIANO CORPORATION 

 

Notice of Annual Meeting of Stockholders 
 
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the regular Annual Meeting of Stockholders of A. Soriano 

Corporation (“ANSCOR” or the “Company”) will be held on Wednesday, 17 April 2013 at 10:00 
A.M. at the Rigodon Ballroom, Manila Peninsula Hotel, Ayala Avenue corner Makati Avenue, 
1226 Makati City, Philippines. 

 
The agenda for the meeting is as follows: 

 1.    Approval of the minutes of previous meeting. 
 2.  Presentation of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer’s Message to Stockholders. 
 3. Election of the members of the Board of Directors. 
 4.  Appointment of external auditors. 
 5.  Ratification of all acts, contracts, investments and resolutions of the Board of Directors 

and Management since the last annual meeting. 
 6.  Such other business as may properly come before the meeting. 

 
Only stockholders of record in the books of the Company at the close of business on 15 

March 2013 will be entitled to vote at the meeting. The list of stockholders entitled to vote will be 
available for inspection at the office of A. Soriano Corporation, 7th Floor Pacific Star Building, 
Makati Avenue corner Gil Puyat Avenue Ext., Makati City, ten (10) days prior to the Annual 
Meeting. 

 
Stockholders are requested to complete, date, sign and return the enclosed proxy form to 

reach the Company as promptly as possible not less than ten (10) working days prior to the 
Annual Meeting or not later than 02 April 2013. The giving of such proxy will not affect your right 
to vote in person should you decide to attend the Annual Meeting. 

 
Proxy validation will be held at A. Soriano Corporation, 7th Floor Pacific Star Bldg., Makati 

Avenue corner Gil Puyat Avenue Ext., Makati City on 10 April 2013 from 11: 00 A.M. to 12:00 
noon. 

 
Makati City, Philippines, 21 March 2013. 
 

     THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
     By: 

      

     LORNA PATAJO-KAPUNAN 
                        Corporate Secretary 

 
 
REGISTRATION OF STOCKHOLDERS WILL START AT 9:00 A.M. 
Please bring identification, such as valid passport, driver’s license or Company I.D.      
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Wednesday, 17 April 2013, 10:00 A.M.
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1INFORMATION STATEMENT

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
SEC FORM 20-IS

INFORMATION STATEMENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 20
OF THE SECURITIES REGULATION CODE

1. Check the appropriate box:
  /  / Preliminary Information Statement  / x /   Definitive Information Statement
 
2. Name of the registrant as specified in its charter : A. SORIANO CORPORATION

3. Province, or country or other jurisdiction of 
  Incorporation organization :  Makati City, Philippines

4. SEC Identification Number           : PW - 02

5. BIR Tax Identification Code  : 000-103-216-000
 
6. Address of principal office : 7th Floor Pacific Star Building
       Makati Avenue corner Gil Puyat Avenue Ext.
                1209 Makati City, Philippines
   
7. Registrant’s telephone number, including area code :  (632) 819-0251 to 70

8. Date, Time and Place of the meeting : 17 April 2013, Wednesday at 10:00 A.M.
               Rigodon Ballroom
              Manila Peninsula Hotel
               Ayala Avenue corner Makati Avenue
                                  1226 Makati City, Philippines
   
9. Approximate date on which the Information Statement
 is first to be sent or given to security holders : On or before 21 March 2013

10. In case of Proxy Solicitations
  Name of Person Filing the Statement/Solicitor    :   Atty. Lorna Patajo-Kapunan, 
    Corporate Secretary

            Address : 7th Floor Pacific Star Bldg., 
    Makati Avenue  corner Gil Puyat Avenue Ext.,  
    1209 Makati City, Philippines

  Telephone Nos.  : (632)  819-0251 to 70  

11. Securities registered pursuant to Sections 8 and 12 of the Code or Sections 4 and 8 of the 
  RSA (information on number of shares and amount to debt is applicable only to corporate registrants):

              Title of Each Class : Common Shares

              Number of shares of Common Stock
              Outstanding or Amount of Debt Outstanding : 2,500,000,000

12. Are any or all of registrant’s securities listed on 
 the Philippine Stock Exchange? : Yes

 If so, disclose name of the Exchange                :  Philippine Stock Exchange
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INFORMATION STATEMENT

GENERAL INFORMATION

Date, Time and Place of Meeting of Security Holders

Date : Wednesday, 17 April 2013
Time  : 10:00 A.M.
Place : Rigodon Ballroom 
  Manila Peninsula Hotel
  Ayala Avenue corner Makati Avenue
  1226 Makati City, Philippines
Principal :  7th Floor Pacific Star Bldg.
Office                 Makati Avenue corner Gil Puyat Avenue Ext.
  1209 Makati City, Philippines

This information statement and the enclosed proxy form will be mailed 
to stockholders entitled to notice of and to vote at the Annual Meeting on or 
before 21 March 2013.

Voting, Revocability, Validation, Submission
Deadline and Authentication of Proxies

When proxies are properly dated, executed and returned on or before 02 
April 2013, the shares they represent will be voted at the Annual Meeting in 
accordance with the instructions of the stockholder. If no specific instructions 
are given, the shares will be voted FOR the election of the nominees for 
directorship whose names appear in the proxy form and FOR the approval 
of all matters the stockholders’ approval of which is sought in the meeting.  
A stockholder giving a proxy has the power to revoke it at any time prior 
to its exercise by voting in person at the Annual Meeting, by giving written 
notice to the Corporate Secretary prior to the Annual Meeting or by giving 
a subsequent proxy which must be received by the office of the Corporate 
Secretary not later than 02 April 2013.
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Each share of common stock outstanding as of record date will be 
entitled to one vote on all matters. The candidates for election as directors at 
the Annual Meeting who receive the highest number of affirmative votes will 
be elected. The appointment of the independent auditors for the Company 
for the current year as well as other items presented to the Stockholders 
during the Annual Meeting will require the affirmative vote of a majority of the 
votes cast on the matter. Pursuant to Article III, Section 6 of the By-Laws of 
the Corporation, written proxy shall be filed with the Corporate Secretary not 
less than ten (10) working days prior to the date of such meeting or not later 
than 02 April  2013.

Pursuant to the provisions of the By-Laws, the Board of Directors has 
set the date of validation of proxies on 10 April 2013. For this purpose, the 
Corporate Secretary shall act as the inspector at the election of directors and 
other voting by stockholders. 

Under SEC Memo Circular No. 5 Series of 1996, all proxies executed 
abroad must be duly authenticated by the Philippine Embassy or Consular 
Office.

SOLICITATION INFORMATION

Person Making the Solicitation

The solicitation of proxies in the form accompanying this statement is 
made in behalf of Management through Atty. Lorna Patajo-Kapunan and the 
proxy given will be voted in accordance with the authority contained therein. 
The solicitation of proxies in the accompanying form will be primarily by mail. 
However, personal solicitation may be made by officers, directors and regular 
employees of the Company whose number is not expected to exceed fifteen 
(15) and who will receive no additional compensation therefor. The Company 
will bear the cost, amounting to Eight Hundred Thousand, of preparing 
and mailing the annual reports, information statement and other materials 
furnished to the stockholders in connection with proxy solicitation.

None of the Directors has informed the Company of any intention to 
oppose an action intended to be taken by the Company.
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Dissenter’s Right of Appraisal

There are no corporate matters or action that will trigger the exercise 
by the stockholders of their Right of Appraisal under the Corporation Code. 
However, if at any time after the information statement has been sent out, 
an action which may give rise to the Right of Appraisal is proposed at the 
meeting, any stockholder who wishes to exercise such right and who voted 
against the proposed action must make a written demand within thirty (30) 
days after the meeting.

The appraisal right may be exercised by any stockholder who shall have 
voted against the proposed corporate action, by making a written demand 
on the corporation within thirty (30) days after the date on which the vote was 
taken for payment of the fair value of his shares. Provided, that failure to make 
the demand within such period shall be deemed a waiver of the appraisal right. 
If the proposed corporate action is implemented or effected, the corporation 
shall pay to such stockholder, upon surrender of the certificate(s) of stock 
representing his shares, the fair value thereof as of the day prior to the date 
on which the vote was taken, excluding any appreciation or depreciation in 
anticipation of such corporate action.

If within a period of sixty (60) days from the date the corporate action 
was approved by the stockholders, the withdrawing stockholder and 
the corporation cannot agree on the fair value of the shares, it shall be 
determined and appraised by three (3) disinterested persons, one of whom 
shall be named by the stockholder, another by the corporation and the third 
by the two thus chosen. The findings of the majority of the appraisers shall 
be final, and their award shall be paid by the corporation within thirty (30) 
days after such award is made. Provided, that no payment shall be made to 
any dissenting stockholder unless the corporation has unrestricted retained 
earnings in its books to cover such payment; and Provided, further, that upon 
payment by the corporation of the agreed or awarded price, the stockholder 
shall forthwith transfer his shares to the corporation.

Interest of Certain Persons in Opposition 
to Matters to be Acted Upon

No Director or Executive Officer, nominated for re-election as Director, or 
his Associate has, at any time, any substantial interest, direct or indirect, by 
security holdings or otherwise, on any of the matters to be acted upon in the 
meeting, other than the approval of the Annual Report, election to office and 
ratification of acts of Management.
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CONTROL AND COMPENSATION 
INFORMATION

Voting Securities and Principal Holders Thereof

Only stockholders of record on the books of the Company at the close 
of business on 15 March 2013 will be entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting. 
Presence in person or by proxy of a majority of the shares of common stock 
outstanding on the record date is required for a quorum.

There are 2,500,000,000 shares of common stocks outstanding and 
issued as of 15 March 2013.  All the issued shares are entitled to vote on a 
one (1) share - one (1) vote basis. The Company has only one class of shares.

Pursuant to the Corporation Code and as provided under Article III, 
Section 8 of the By-Laws, every stockholder is entitled to vote such number 
of shares for as many person as there are directors or he may cumulate said 
shares and give one candidate as many votes as the number of directors 
to be elected multiplied by the number of his shares shall equal, or he may 
distribute them on the same principle among as many candidates as he shall 
see fit. Provided, that the total number of votes cast by him shall not exceed 
the number of shares owned by him as shown in the books of the corporation 
multiplied by the whole number of directors to be elected. The proxy being 
solicited includes the authority to cumulate votes.

Except as indicated in section (a) below on Security Ownership of Certain 
Record and Beneficial Owners, there are no other persons holding 5% or 
more of the common stock of the Company.

The Company does not own any other equity securities beneficially 
owned by its directors and other nominees.

Change in Control

No change in control of the Company occurred since the beginning of 
the last fiscal year.  Management is not aware of any arrangement which may 
result in a change in control of the Company.
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a. Security Ownership of Certain Record and Beneficial Owners 

As of  28 February 2013, the following are the Security Ownership of 
Certain Record and Beneficial Owners of the Company:

 Name/Address of Name of Beneficial 
Title of Record Owner & Ownership & Citizenship Number of Percentage
Class Relationship w/ Relationship with  Shares Held
 Issuer Record Owner 

Common Anscor Consolidated Anscor Consolidated Filipino 1,241,717,039* 49.669%
 Corporation Corporation
 7th Flr. Pacific Star
 Bldg., Makati Avenue
 Makati City
 (Subsidiary) (Subsidiary)

Common PCD Nominee Corp. PCD Nominee Corp. Non-Filipino 466,946,432 18.678%
 (Non-Filipino) (Non-Filipino)
 37th Flr. The Enterprise (Depository Account)
 Center, Inc.
 Ayala Avenue corner
 Paseo de Roxas, Makati City
 (Depository Account)  

Common A-Z Asia Limited A-Z Asia Limited Filipino 176,646,329 7.066%
 Philippines, Inc. Philippines, Inc.
 Barrio Mabacan (Stockholder)
 Calauan, Laguna
 (Stockholder)  

Common PCD Nominee Corp. PCD Nominee Corp. Filipino 148,030,434    5.920% 
 (Filipino) (Filipino)
 37th Flr. The Enterprise (Depository Account)
 Center, Inc.
 Ayala Avenue corner
 Paseo de Roxas, Makati City
 (Depository Account) 

 

* Includes 339,544,736 shares lodged with PCD Nominee Corp. (Filipino)

Anscor Consolidated Corporation is wholly owned by A. Soriano 
Corporation, the registrant Company, represented by Mr. Ernest K. Cuyegkeng 
as Treasurer.
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PCD Nominee Corporation, a wholly owned subsidiary of Philippine 
Central Depository, Inc. (“PCD”), is the registered owner of the shares in 
the books of the Company’s transfer agent in the Philippines. The beneficial 
owners of such shares are PCD’s participants, who hold the shares on their 
behalf or in behalf of their clients of which Maybank ATR Kim Eng Securities, 
Inc., represented by Nilaida Enriquez, is the sole owner of more than 5%, 
specifically 33.310%, the bulk of which or 17.558% is owned by Deerhaven, 
LLC, a company registered in Delaware, USA. PCD is a private company 
organized by the major institutions actively participating in the Philippine 
capital markets to implement an automated book-entry system of handling 
securities transactions in the Philippines. 

A-Z Asia Limited Philippines, Inc. is a holding company incorporated in 
the Philippines on 25 April 2003 represented by Mr. Raul Balaquiao as its 
Corporate Secretary. 

Other than the above, there are no Stockholders owning more than 5% 
of the Company‘s outstanding shares of stock.

The Company is not aware of any material pending legal proceedings to 
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries is a party.

b. Securities Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and 
Management 

As of  28 February 2013, the following are the security ownership of the 
Directors and Officers of the Company:

Title of Name of Amount and Nature of
Class Beneficial Owner Beneficial Ownership Citizenship Percent

Common Andres Soriano III 50,490,265 Direct/Indirect American 2.020  %

Common Eduardo J. Soriano 18,669,614 Direct/Indirect Filipino 0.747%

Common Ernest K. Cuyegkeng 20,000 Direct Filipino 0.001%

Common John L. Gokongwei, Jr.      345,934 Direct/Indirect Filipino 0.014%

Common Oscar J. Hilado   6,020,000 Direct/Indirect Filipino 0.241%

Common Jose C. Ibazeta        32,951 Direct Filipino 0.001%

Common Roberto R. Romulo        20,000 Direct Filipino 0.001%

 Total 75,598,764   3.025%



A. SORIANO CORPORATION8

Narcisa M. Villaflor, Atty. Lorna Patajo-Kapunan  and Joshua L. Castro do 
not own shares of the Company.

c. Voting Trust Agreement

The Company does not have any voting trust agreement with any 
stockholder.  

Directors and Executive Officers

Pursuant to the Corporation’s By-Laws, in addition to the right of the 
Board of Directors to make nominations for the election of Directors including 
independent Directors, may be made by any shareholder entitled to vote for 
the election of Directors.

Nominations shall be received by the Chairman of the Board of Directors 
(which nominations may be sent through the Corporate Secretary), on the 1st 
of March of every year or at such earlier or later date as the Board of Directors 
may fix. 

 
Each nomination under the preceding paragraph shall set forth the name, 

age, business address and, if known, residence address of each nominee, 
the principal occupation or employment of each such nominee, the number 
of shares of stock of the Corporation which are beneficially owned by each 
such nominee, and the interests and positions held by each nominee in 
other corporations.  In addition, the shareholder making such nomination 
shall promptly provide any other information reasonably requested by the 
Corporation. 

 
The Board, by a majority vote unless a greater majority is required under 

these By-Laws, may, in its discretion, determine and declare that a nomination 
was not made in accordance with the foregoing procedures, and/or that a 
nominee is disqualified for election as Director and if the Board should so 
determine, the defective nomination and the nomination of the disqualified 
person shall be disregarded.

Mr. Eduardo J. Soriano, the Vice Chairman and Treasurer, nominated all 
the nominees for Directors including independent Directors contained in the 
information statement. Mr. Soriano is not related to any of the independent 
Directors nominated.   No other nomination was submitted as of 01 March 
2013.
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Unless marked otherwise, the proxies received will be voted FOR the 
election of the nominees named below who have signified their acceptance 
of their respective nominations. The Board of Directors has no reason to 
believe that any of such nominees will be unwilling or unable to serve if 
elected as a Director. Each Director shall serve until the next annual meeting 
of stockholders or until his successor is elected or appointed in case of 
vacancy due to death, resignation or removal. Management recommends a 
vote FOR the election of each of the nominees listed below who are incumbent 
directors of the Company. 

The nominations for independent Directors complies with SRC Rule 
38, which requires that a corporation with a class of equity securities listed 
for trading on an Exchange or with assets in excess of Fifty million pesos 
(P50,000,000.00) and having two hundred (200) or more holders, at least two 
hundred (200) of which are holding at least one hundred (100) shares of a 
class of its equity securities shall have at least two (2) independent Directors 
or such independent Directors shall constitute at least twenty percent (20%) 
of the members of such Board.  

        
The two nominated independent Directors of the Company are Mr. 

Oscar J. Hilado and Mr.  Roberto R. Romulo.  They are neither officers nor 
employees of the Company or of any of its subsidiaries.  They do not have 
any relationship with the company which would interfere with the exercise 
of independent judgment in carrying out their responsibilities. Further, the 
nominated independent Directors possess all the qualifications and none of 
the disqualifications to serve as independent Directors of the Company. The 
independent Directors are nominated and elected in the same manner as 
regular directors in accordance with the nomination and election procedures 
provided in the By-Laws. The Company amended its By-Laws in 04 March 
2010 and 18 February 2011 to incorporate the requirements of SRC Rule 38 
with respect to the nomination and election of independent directors.  

ANDRES SORIANO III, age 61, American, Director of the Company 
since 19 May 1982; Chairman and Chief Executive of the Company (1983 to 
present); Chairman and President of Anscor Consolidated Corporation (1987 
to present); Chairman of Andres Soriano Foundation, Inc. (1985 to present); 
Director of Anscor Property Holdings, Inc. (1998 to present), A. Soriano Air 
Corporation (2003 to present) and Anscor-Casto Travel Corporation (1983 
to present); Chairman of Phelps Dodge International Philippines, Inc. (1983 
to present), Phelps Dodge Philippine Energy Products Corporation (1997 to 
present), Seven Seas Resorts and Leisure, Inc. (1998 to present) and Pamalican 
Resort, Inc. (May 2011 to present); Director of Cirrus Medical Staffing, Inc. 
(2007 to present);  International Container Terminal Services, Inc. (ICTSI) 
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(1992 to present), ICTSI, Ltd. (2001 to present),  International Container Terminal 
Holdings, Inc. (1999 to present), Manila Peninsula Hotel, Inc. (1986 to present). 
Mr. Soriano was formerly President and Chief Operating Officer of San Miguel 
Corporation and was subsequently Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of 
San Miguel Corporation.  He was Chairman of Coca-Cola (Philippines), Coca-
Cola Amatil (Australia) and Nestle (Philippines).  He was a Director of SPI 
Technologies and eTelecare Global Solutions, Inc. until 2006.  He was also a 
Member of the G.E. Asian Advisory and the Wharton East Asia Executive Board.  
He holds a Bachelor of Science Degree in Economics, Major in Finance and 
International Business, Wharton School of Finance and Commerce, University 
of Pennsylvania, (1972).

EDUARDO J. SORIANO, age 58, Filipino, Director of the Company since 
21 May 1980; Vice Chairman-Treasurer of the Company (1990 to present); 
Chairman of Cirrus Global, Inc. (formerly International Quality Manpower 
Services, Inc.) (2004 to present); Chairman and President of Anscor Property 
Holdings, Inc. (1985 to present); Director of Phelps Dodge Philippines Energy 
Products Corporation (1997 to present), Phelps Dodge International Phils., 
Inc. (1997 to present); Graduate of Bachelor of Science Degree in Economics, 
Major in History, University of Pennsylvania, (1977).

ERNEST K. CUYEGKENG, age 66, Filipino, Director of the Company 
since 22 April 2009; Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of 
the Company (1990 to present); President and Director of Anscor Property 
Holdings, Inc. (1990 to present), Phelps Dodge Philippines Energy Products 
Corporation (1999 to present), A. Soriano Air Corporation (2003 to present), 
and Cirrus Global, Inc. (formerly International Quality Manpower Services, Inc.) 
(2004 to present); Director of  Seven Seas Resorts and Leisure, Inc. (2008 to 
present), KSA Realty Corporation (2001 to present) and  T-O Insurance (2008 
to present), Sumifru, Singapore (2003 to present), Pakistan Cables Limited 
and Phelps Dodge International (Thailand) Limited; Chairman and Director 
of Artha Land (2007 to present); Trustee of Andres Soriano Foundation, Inc. 
(1990 to present); Member of the Management Association of Philippines, 
Makati Business Club and Financial Executive Institute of the Philippines 
(FINEX); Graduate of De La Salle University, B.A. Economics and B.S. 
Business Administration, (1968). Masters Degree in Business Administration, 
Columbia Graduate School of Business, New York, (1970).
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JOHN L. GOKONGWEI, JR., age 86, Filipino, Director of the Company 
since  21 May 1980;  Director and Chairman Emeritus of JG Summit Holdings, 
Inc. (2002 to present); Chairman and CEO of JG Summit Holdings, Inc. (from 
1990 to 2001); Director of Universal Robina Corporation, Robinsons Land 
Corporation (1980 to present), Cebu Air, Inc., JG Summit Petrochemical 
Corporation (1994 to present), JG Summit Capital Markets Corporation, 
Oriental Petroleum and Minerals Corporation, Robinsons, Inc. (1987 to 
present), Chairman of the Gokongwei Brothers Foundation, Inc. (1992 to 
present), Deputy Chairman and Director of United Industrial Corporation 
Limited and Singapore Land Limited; Graduate of De La Salle University, 
Masters Degree in Business Administration, (1977) Advance Management 
Program, Harvard University, (1972-1973).

OSCAR J. HILADO, age 75, Filipino, an independent Director of the 
Company since 13 April 1998; Chairman of Philippine Investment Management 
(PHINMA), Inc. (January 1994 to present); Chairman of Holcim Phils., Inc.; 
Chairman of the Board & Chairman of the Executive Committee of Phinma 
Corporation; Chairman of the Board of Phinma Property Holdings Corporation; 
Vice Chairman of Trans Asia Power Generation Corporation (1996 to present); 
Chairman of Trans Asia Oil & Energy Development Corporation (April 2008 to 
present); Director of Manila Cordage Corporation (1986 to present); Director 
of Seven Seas Resorts & Leisure, Inc., Pamalican Resort, Inc. (May 2011 to 
present),  First Philippine Holdings Corporation (November 1996 to present), 
Philex Mining Corporation (December 2009 to present); Graduate of De La 
Salle College (Bacolod), Bachelor of Science in Commerce, (1958) Masters 
Degree in Business Administration, Harvard Graduate School of Business, 
(1962). Mr. Hilado also serves as Chairman of the Audit Committee of the 
Company.

JOSE C. IBAZETA, age 70, Filipino, Director of the Company from 1981 to 
1998, 2004 to present; Director of International Container Terminal Services, 
Inc. (1987 to present), Anscor Consolidated Corporation (1980 to present), 
Anscor Property Holdings, Inc. (1982 to present), A. Soriano Air Corporation 
(1988 to present), Island Aviation, Inc., Minuet Realty Corporation (1995 to 
present),  Phelps Dodge Philippines Energy Products Corporation (1997 to 
present), NewCo, Inc. (1997 to present), ICTSI Ltd, ICTHI. President of Seven 
Seas Resorts & Leisure, Inc. (2008 to present) and Pamalican Resort, Inc. 
(May 2011 to present); Member, Finance Committee of Ateneo de Manila 
University (1997 to present); Board of Trustees of Radio Veritas (1991 to 
present).  Mr. Ibazeta was President and CEO of Power Sector Assets & 
Liabilities Management Corporation (PSALM) (March 2007 to March  2010) 
and Acting Secretary of Energy (April –June 2010); Graduate of Bachelor of 
Science in Economics, Ateneo de Manila University, (1963),  Masters Degree 
in Business Administration, University of San Francisco, (1968).
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ROBERTO R. ROMULO, age 74, Filipino, an independent Director of 
the Company since 13 April 1998; Chairman of AIG Philippines Insurance, 
Inc. (formerly Charitis Philippines Insurance, Inc.), PETNET, Inc., MediLink 
Network, Inc., Carlos P. Romulo Foundation for Peace and Development, 
Foundation for Information Technology Education and Development (FIT-
ED), Philippine Foundation for Global Concerns, Inc. (PFGC), The Zuellig 
Family Foundation, Romulo Asia Pacific Advisory, Inc.  and Asia-Europe 
Foundation of the Philippines; Advisory Board Member of Philippine Long 
Distance Telephone Co. (PLDT) and Equicom Savings Bank;  25-year career 
at IBM Corporation holding CEO positions in the Philippines, Thailand, Burma 
and Bangladesh; Graduate of Georgetown University, (A.B.)  and Ateneo de 
Manila University (LLB); Former Ambassador to Belgium, Luxembourg and 
the European Commission and Secretary of Foreign Affairs. 

The following are the members of the Audit Committee, Compensation 
Committee, and Executive Committee:

 
Audit Committee:
 Mr. Oscar J. Hilado  Chairman
 Mr. Eduardo J. Soriano  Member
 Mr. Jose C. Ibazeta  Member

Compensation Committee:
 Mr. Oscar J. Hilado  Chairman
 Mr. Andres Soriano III  Member
 Mr. Eduardo J. Soriano  Member

Executive Committee:
 Mr. Andres Soriano III  Chairman
 Mr. Eduardo J. Soriano  Vice Chairman
 Mr. Oscar J. Hilado  Member
 Mr. Ernest K. Cuyegkeng  Member
 Mr. Jose C. Ibazeta  Member

The following are not nominees but incumbent officers of the Company:

NARCISA M. VILLAFLOR, age 50, Filipino, Vice President and Comptroller 
of the Company since 19 April 2000; Treasurer of Seven Seas Resorts and 
Leisure. Inc., Pamalican Resort, Inc., Andres Soriano Foundation, Inc., Cirrus 
Global, Inc. (formerly International Quality Manpower Services, Inc.), A. Soriano 
Air Corporation, Pamalican Island Holdings, Inc., and Sutton Place Holdings, 
Inc.; Director of Anscor Consolidated Corporation, Cirrus Global, Inc.;  Trustee 
of Andres Soriano Foundation, Inc..  Joined SGV (January 1985 to November 
1989) and joined Anscor in December 1989;  Graduate of University of the 
Philippines, Bachelor of Science in Business Administration and Accountancy 
(1984). Attended AIM Management Program (November 1996).
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LORNA PATAJO-KAPUNAN, age 60, Filipino, Corporate Secretary of A. 
Soriano Corporation (1998 to present);  Senior Partner of  Kapunan Garcia 
& Castillo Law Offices;  Corporate Secretary, Roxas Holdings, Inc. (1995 to 
present),  Central Azucarera de Don Pedro (February 1995), Central Azucarera 
de la Carlota (March 1996), Beverage Industry Association of the Philippines 
(February 1991 to present), Seven Seas Resorts & Leisure, Inc (November 
1990 to present), Pamalican Island Holdings, Inc. (1995 to present), iAcademy 
(2002 to 2011), Uni-President Phils., Inc. (2002 to present), Huntly Corporation 
(February 1992 to present), Palomino Resources, Inc. and Malate Pensionne, 
Inc.(2001 to present), Cuisine Exchange, Inc. and Culinary Innovators, Inc. 
(2001  to present),  Jose M. Velero Corporation (2001 to present), Creative 
Concoctions, Inc. (2001 to present), Hotel Concepts, Inc. (September 2001 
to present), Creative Hotel Concepts, Inc. (September 2001 to present), 
Culinary Events, Inc. (2001 to present), AH Distribution Corporation, Hotel & 
Resorts Trench, Inc. (2002 to present), It’s About Taste (I’ATE), Inc. (2002 to 
present), Kitchen Alley, Inc. (2001 to present), Les Maitres Gourmands, Inc. 
(July 2001 to present); Traditional Financial Services Philippines, Inc. (2008 to 
present); Avaya Philippines, Inc. (2006 to present), Elixir Gaming Technologies 
Philippines, Inc. (2007-2008), Elixir Group Philippines, Inc. (2006-2008); 
Director of AMAX Holdings Limited (2008 to present), Corporate Secretary , 
Blessed Mary Mother of the Poor Foundation, Inc., Montemar Beach Club, Inc., 
Philcomsat Communications Satellite Corporation (Philcomsat).  Graduate of  
University of the Philippines College of Law, (1978); Seminar Courses:  Japan 
Institute of Invention and Innovation (JIII) Tokyo (1997); National Institute 
on Humanitarian Law, San Remo Italy (September 2005); Summer Course 
International Humanitarian Law, Magdalene College, Cambridge University, 
London UK (July 2010).

JOSHUA L. CASTRO, age 38, Filipino, Executive Assistant and Assistant 
Corporate Secretary of the Company (2006 to present); Assistant Corporate 
Secretary of Seven Seas Resorts and Leisure, Inc. (2006 to present) and 
Island Aviation, Inc. (2006 to present);  Corporate Secretary of Phelps Dodge 
Philippines Energy Products Corporation (2006 to present), A. Soriano Air 
Corporation (2006 to present), Cirrus Global, Inc. (formerly International 
Quality Manpower Services, Inc.) (2006 to present), Anscor Property Holdings, 
Inc. (2006 to present), and Andres Soriano Foundation, Inc. (2006 to present). 
Tax Lawyer, SyCip Gorres Velayo & Co. (1999 to 2005); Graduate of San Beda 
College of Law (1999).

Ownership Structure and Parent Company

The registrant has no parent company.
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Family Relationship

Andres Soriano III and Eduardo J. Soriano are brothers.

Executive Officers and Significant Employees

There are no significant employees.

Legal Proceedings

For the last five years and as of 28 February 2013,  Management is not 
aware of any pending material legal proceeding i.e. bankruptcy petitions, 
convictions by final judgment, being subject to any order, judgment or decree 
or violation of a Securities or Commodities Law involving its nominees for 
directorship, executive officers and incumbent officers and directors.

Certain Relationship and Related Transactions

There are no Management transaction during the year or proposed 
transaction to which the Company was or is to be a party, in which any of 
its Directors, nominees for election as Directors, Executive Officers, security 
holders owning more than 5% of the outstanding shares of the Company, or 
any member of the immediate family of any of the forgoing persons, have or 
is to have material interest.

Resignation of Directors

No incumbent Director has resigned or declined to stand for re-election 
to the Board of Directors due to disagreement with Management since the 
date of the last annual meeting.
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Compensation of Directors and Executive Officers

As approved in 2004, Directors are paid a per diem of P20,000.00 per 
meeting attended and are given directors bonus representing no more than 
1% of previous year’s net income. Similarly, annual bonus, of no more than 
3% of the preceding year’s net income as well as salary increase of Executive 
Officers are approved by the Compensation Committee and the Board of 
Directors. 

Name Principal Position       Compensation

   2011  2012  2013
   Actual  Actual  Estimate

Andres Soriano III Chairman & Chief
 Executive

Eduardo J. Soriano Vice Chairman 
 & Treasurer

Ernest K. Cuyegkeng Executive Vice President
 & Chief Financial Officer

Narcisa M. Villaflor Vice President & 
 Comptroller

Joshua L. Castro Executive Assistant &
   Assistant Corporate 
 Secretary   

Salaries  E 46,982,205 E 48,877,524 E 51,321,400

Benefits   2,225,679  2,022,411        2,450,000

Bonus   45,511,778  33,697,500      21,491,165

Sub-Total Top Executive Officers E   94,719,662 E 84,597,435 E   75,262,565

Other Directors    13,901,049  10,648,906        5,005,344

Total  E 108,620,711 E 95,246,341 E   80,267,909  
  

Employment Contracts and Termination of Employment and Change-in 
Control Arrangements

All the Executive Officers are not subject of any employment contract.  
Neither are there any compensatory plans or arrangements with respect to 
the named executive officers that will result from their resignation, retirement 
or any other termination or from change in control in the company or change 
in the named executive officers’ responsibilities following a change in control.
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Warrants and Options Outstanding

There are no warrants or options granted to the Directors, Chief Executive 
Officer, and other named Executive Officers.

Compliance with Leading Practice on Corporate Governance 

On 07 December 2012, the Company submitted its annual Certification to 
the SEC confirming its substantial compliance with its Manual on Corporate 
Governance.  Before issuance of said Certification, the Board of Directors 
and Management evaluated the Company’s compliance with the Manual on 
Corporate Governance. The different Board Committees also evaluate the 
level of compliance with the Manual on Corporate Governance.  

The Company continues to improve its systems and processes to 
enhance adherence and fully comply with leading practices on good corporate 
governance. In line with this goal, Directors of the Company are required, 
before assuming office, to attend a seminar on Corporate Governance 
conducted by a duly recognized private or government institution. 

Likewise, the Company participates in the annual Corporate Governance 
Scorecard Self-Assessment for Publicly-Listed Companies conducted by 
the Institute of Corporate Directors. Before submitting the self-assessment, 
Management evaluates the responses and considers the scorecard as a tool 
to further improve and ensure compliance with the Manual on Corporate 
Governance. 

As part of the Company’s continuing efforts to comply with leading 
practice on corporate governance, on 10 March 2010, the Company 
submitted to the SEC and  PSE its revised Manual on Corporate Governance 
in conformity with SEC Memorandum Circular No. 6, Series of 2009.  The 
Manual on Corporate Governance was further revised on 18 February 2011 
to comply with additional requirements of the SEC. All the revisions to the 
Manual on Corporate Governance are discussed and deliberated upon by 
the Board of Directors prior to its approval and subsequent submission to 
the SEC. 

As of 28 February 2013, there were no deviations from the Company’s 
Manual on Corporate Governance.
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Appointment of Independent Auditors

SyCip Gorres Velayo & Co. (SGV) has been the Company’s independent 
auditors since its establishment in 1946. They will again be nominated for 
reappointment and presented for approval by the stockholders during the 
stockholders’ meeting as external auditors for the ensuing fiscal year.  Unless 
marked to the contrary, proxies received will be voted FOR the appointment 
of SGV as the independent auditors for the ensuing year. The Management 
recommends a vote FOR the appointment of SGV as independent auditors 
for the Company for the current year.

 A representative of SGV is expected to be present at the Annual Meeting 
to respond to appropriate questions from the stockholders and to make a 
statement if so desired.

The Company has no disagreements with its independent auditors on 
Accounting and Financial Disclosure and changes in Accounting and Financial 
Disclosures are included in the attached Notes to Financial Statements, if 
applicable.  

In compliance with SRC Rule 68 paragraph 3(b) (iv) (Rotation of External 
Auditors), the SGV audit partner, as of  December 2012, is Ms. Josephine 
Estomo who is on her fourth year of audit engagement. 

Audit and Audit Related Fees 

The Company paid to its external auditors the following fees in the past 
two years:   

   
  Year  Audit Fees
     2012 E  1 ,037,925
     2011  988,500                         
       
The audit fees were approved by the Audit Committee based on the 

scope of work of external auditors and the complexity of accounting and 
audit issues identified.  There are no other fees paid to the external auditors 
for other assurance and related services.

Tax Consultancy and Other Fees

No tax consultancy fees were paid by the Company to SGV for the year 
2012.
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FINANCIAL AND OTHER INFORMATION

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Operation

Description of General Nature and Scope of Business

A. Soriano Corporation (“Anscor”) was incorporated on February 13, 
1930.

Anscor  is  a  Philippine  holding  company  with  diverse  investments. 
Anscor’s major investments are in Phelps Dodge Philippines Energy Products 
Corporation (“PDP Energy”) which manufactures wire and cable products 
and Seven Seas Resorts and Leisure, Inc., owner of Amanpulo Resort. It has 
investments in US-based nurse and physical therapists staffing company. 
It has other investments in companies engaged in a wide range of activities 
in the Philippines including aviation, nurse deployment, school, broadband 
services, business process outsourcing, modular engineering & constructions 
and real estate.    As a holding company, the principal sources of income 
for Anscor are: the share in net earnings of the companies in which it has 
investments, management fees, interest income, dividends and gains from 
the sale of investments mainly the trading gain on marketable securities and 
bonds. 

As of 31st December 2012, the Company’s consolidated total assets 
stood at E13.9 billion.   For the year ended 31st December 2012, consolidated 
revenues of the Company amounted to about E3.7 billion.

As interest rates of financial assets, here and elsewhere, have fallen 
of late; but we are gratified that our operating and direct investments 
have amply demonstrated an enduring ability to ride out adverse periods 
and stiff competition (as in KSA), entice different market segments when 
traditional ones turn tepid (as in Amanpulo), identify new talent sources and 
revenue potential (as in Cirrus), collaborate with partners to develop human 
competencies (as in Enderun), win new customers through higher quality 
and product diversity (as in PDP), and grow through superior technology and 
business models that move us up the value chain (as in Prople and AG&P).  
In our best judgment, it is time to leverage these strengths by reducing our 
financial assets and shifting resources to direct investments and operations 
that offer better prospects of growth.
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A. Soriano Corporation has the following direct/indirect subsidiaries/
associates as of December 31, 2012:

Company   % of  Business Jurisdiction
     Ownership 

A. Soriano Air Corporation 100% Service/Rental Philippines
 Pamalican Island Holdings, Inc.   62% Holding Company Philippines
  Island Aviation, Inc.   62% Air Transport Philippines
Anscor Consolidated Corporation 100% Holding Company Philippines
Anscor International, Inc. 100% Holding Company British Virgin Island
 IQ Healthcare Investments Limited 100% Manpower Services British Virgin Island
  Cirrus Medical Staffing, Inc.   94% Manpower Services USA
   NurseTogether, LLC   94% Online Community USA
   Cirrus Holdings USA, LLC   94% Manpower Services USA
   Cirrus Allied, LLC 
    (formerly MDI)   94% Manpower Services USA
Anscor  Property Holdings, Inc.  100% Real Estate Holding Philippines
 Akapulko Holdings, Inc. 100% Real Estate Holding Philippines
 Goldenhall Corporation 100% Real Estate Holding Philippines
 Lakeroad Corporation 100% Real Estate Holding Philippines
 Mainroad Corporation 100% Real Estate Holding Philippines
 Makatwiran Holdings, Inc. 100% Real Estate Holding Philippines
 Makisig Holdings, Inc. 100% Real Estate Holding Philippines
 Malikhain Holdings, Inc. 100% Real Estate Holding Philippines
 Mountainridge Corporation 100% Real Estate Holding Philippines
 Rollingview Corporation 100% Real Estate Holding Philippines
 Summerside Corporation 100% Real Estate Holding Philippines
 Timbercrest Corporation 100% Real Estate Holding Philippines
Sutton Place Holdings, Inc. 100% Holding Company Philippines
 Cirrus Global, Inc. (formerly   
  International Quality   
  Manpower Services, Inc.)   93% Manpower Services Philippines
  IQ Healthcare Professional   
   Connection, LLC   93% Manpower Services Houston Texas, 
       United States
Seven Seas Resorts and Leisure, Inc.   62% Resort Operations Philippines
 Pamalican Resort, Inc.   62% Resort Operations Philippines
New Co, Inc.    45% Real Estate Philippines
 AFC Agribusiness Corporation   45% Real Estate Philippines
Anscor-Casto Travel Corporation   44% Travel Agency Philippines
Phelps Dodge International 
 Philippines, Inc.    40% Holding Company Philippines
 Minuet Realty Corporation   60% Landholding Philippines
      Ownership
 Phelps Dodge Philippines Energy 
  Products Corporation   40% Wire Manufacturing Philippines
  PD Energy International 
   Corporation   40% Wire Manufacturing Philippines
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Company   % of  Business Jurisdiction
     Ownership
Vicinetum Holdings, Inc.   32% Holding Company Philippines
Enderun Colleges, Inc.   20% Culinary School Philippines
Prople, Inc.     20% Business Processing 
      & Outsourcing Philippines
 Prople-bpo, Inc.   20% Business Processing 
      & Outsourcing Philippines
 Prople-kpo, Inc.   20% Business Processing 
      & Outsourcing Philippines
 Prople-contents, Inc.   20% Business Processing 
      & Outsourcing Philippines
DirectWithHotels Inc. 15% Online Reservation Philippines
KSA Realty Corporation   11% Realty Philippines
AG&P International Holdings Ltd     6% Modular Engineering 
      & Construction Philippines

 
Below are the key performance indicators of the Company:

Over the last three years, consolidated revenues and net income from 
operations are as follows (in thousand pesos):

                      Years Ended December 31
   2012  2011  2010
REVENUES   
Services E 1,918,797 E 1,572,688 E 866,113
Dividend income  231,959  223,198  145,749
Equity in net earnings 
 of associates  155,328  93,030  115,225
Interest income   93,524  120,204  111,236
Management fee  55,777  36,065  37,755
Others  21,049  36,436  34,077
   2,476,433  2,081,620  1,310,155
(Forward)



INFORMATION STATEMENT 21

                    Years Ended December 31
   2012  2011  2010
INVESTMENT GAINS (LOSSES)   
Gain on sale of:   
 AFS investments E 1,169,315 E 676,840 E 2,091,925
 Property and equipment 
    and  investment property   3,510  39,886  –
 Long-term investments   –  16,725  –
Gain (loss) on increase 
 (decrease) in market values 
 of FVPL investments   67,242  (7,243)  99,868
   1,240,068  726,208  2,191,793
TOTAL   3,716,501  2,807,828  3,501,948
INCOME BEFORE 
 INCOME TAX  1,525,949  1,027,220  1,988,656
PROVISION FOR 
 INCOME TAX   34,103  30,944  11,933
NET INCOME E 1,491,847 E 996,276 E 1,976,723

Attributable to:   
Equity holdings of the Parent  E 1,470,505   E 994,507 E 1,975,358
Noncontrolling interests  21,342  1,769  1,365
  E 1,491,847  E 996,276 E 1,976,723

Earnings per share   
Basic/diluted, for net income 
 attributable to equity 
 holdings of the Parent  E 1.07 E 0.74 E 1.46

   
Financial Performance Year 2012

The Company posted consolidated gross revenues of E3.72 billion, 32% 
higher than last year’s E2.81 billion, and earned a consolidated net income of 
E1.47 billion, a 48% gain over E994.5 million.

 
In the financial portfolio, the investment gain on sale of marketable 

securities reached E1.17 billion, 73% above last year’s E676.84 million, due 
to a higher volume of shares sold in a vibrant stock market.  Dividend income 
of E231.96 million was almost the same as last year. Interest income dipped 
to E93.51 million versus 2011’s E120.20 million, as interest rates of most 
financial assets declined. 
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The market value of investments carried at fair value through profit and 
loss increased by E67.24 million, versus the E7.24 million decrease in 2011.

Buoyed by domestic consumption and foreign investor readings of the 
country’s fiscal position, the peso strengthened against the US dollar and the 
euro.  This lowered the peso value of Anscor’s foreign currency-denominated 
investments, resulting in a foreign exchange loss of E78.73 million, net of 
hedging gains of E22.92 million.

 
Three cash dividends, totaling E1.00 per share, were declared during 

the year.  The Board of Directors approved the first on February 17, paying 
E0.25 per share on March 27 to shareholders of record as of March 5; a 
second dividend of E0.25 per share on October 4, paid on November 12 to 
shareholders of record as of October 18; and a third dividend of E0.50 per 
share on December 6, paid from December 21, 2012 to January 18, 2013 to 
stockholders of record as of December 21. These three dividends amounted 
to E625 million, E625 million and E1.25 billion, respectively. Over the last five 
years, dividends paid made up 79% of net income for the corresponding 
period.  

Book value per share was E9.69 as of December 31, 2012.

The operating businesses, sometimes facing variable markets, turned 
to innovation, process improvement, and new revenue opportunities and 
delivered creditable results. 

Group Operations

Phelps Dodge Philippines Energy Products Corporation (PDP Energy)
PDP Energy set a record in net income of E389  million in 2012, 77% over 

the E220 million earned in 2011, despite a drop in revenue to E6.2 billion from 
the previous year’s E6.5 billion, as the company’s export activity fell 50% due 
to lower demand in foreign markets. The decrease in sales was offset by a 
more favorable domestic product mix  and more efficient production costs.

 
The domestic markets’ high growth was most evident in the industrial, 

commercial, and residential construction and energy sub-sectors.  Sales 
through its distribution network increased significantly in both Metro Manila 
and the regions, as strategies to penetrate the provincial retail markets 
showed early success. Domestic sales revenue increased from E5.0 billion in 
2011 to E5.4 billion in 2012.
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PDP’s business-to-business sales also jumped 20% as the company 
clinched numerous projects in Manila and the provinces.  Domestic sales 
growth was tempered by some softening in the utilities, food and telephone 
sub-sectors.

As part of the General Cable Group, PDP offers a larger portfolio of 
premium quality products like special cables for export, medium and high 
voltage cables, low-smoke halogen- free cables,  aluminum cables, and 
access to technology and best practices that constitute a competitive edge.  
Its commercial programs, broader range of offerings and delivery record 
combined with fine tuning of manufacturing processes, aimed to increase 
margins, create new value and firm up market share.

Seven Seas Resorts and Leisure, Inc. (Owner of Amanpulo)
Occupancy at Amanpulo ebbed 1.3% as Europe’s turmoil led to an 

11% drop in resort arrivals from that region, with typhoons causing  further 
cancellations.  The Resort refocused  its marketing efforts and  domestic 
travelers are now Amanpulo’s foremost patrons, comprising 26% of total 
guests compared to last year’s 23%.

 
The Resort generated revenues of E545 million, a 5% improvement, 

mainly from slight increases in room and food and beverage revenues and 
higher villa management and handling fees, that rose from E50 million in 2011 
to E56 million in 2012. Average room rate was raised by US $88 to US $1,011 
per night.  Net profit grew by E26 million to E50 million. 

Amanpulo is channeling investments toward care for its environment and 
human resources, with construction of the new seawall at the eastern side 
of the island  and a staff building;  the latter’s utilities will be solar-powered.

The 22nd Annual Reader for the 2012 Gallivanter’s Awards for Excellence 
recognized Amanpulo as Best Leisure Resort Worldwide and Best Small 
Hotel/Resort under 100 rooms.  Trip Advisor awarded Amanpulo a Certificate 
of Excellence as Palawan’s Number 1 resort.

Cirrus Medical Staffing, Inc.
Demand for temporary healthcare staff in the US grew at an uneven 

pace through 2012; nursing demand rose  steadily while demand for physical 
therapists slowed in the second half as cuts to Medicare, as a result of the 
fiscal cliff, loomed. Revenues rose 14% to E1.1 billion, and operating income 
increased from breakeven in 2011 to E5.5 million in 2012.
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Cirrus stepped up investments in both recruitment and account 
management personnel and opened a branch in Fort Lauderdale, Florida 
in early 2013 to tap into the area’s large pool of healthcare talent.  User 
traffic continued to rise at NurseTogether, which turned profitable, as its on-
line properties catered to advertisers targeting healthcare professionals.  It 
is developing an improved technology platform and the revamped site will 
launch in the first quarter of 2013.

The Affordable Health Act, also known as “Obamacare”, will begin to 
go into effect over the next few years. One of its central aims is to reduce 
the number of uninsured in the United States and this, along with the ageing 
population, will underpin demand for nursing services.

KSA Realty Corporation
New office buildings opened in the Makati Central Business District and 

secondary locations, heightening competition in the office leasing market.  The 
Enterprise Center started 2012 with the loss of an anchor tenant equivalent to 
five floors or about 85,000 square meters.

However, by midyear new lessees signed up and existing tenants 
expanded leased areas, and the Center ended the year with an average 
occupancy rate of 86% versus 87% in 2011, and up to 98% in committed 
leases.  Rental yield was E791 per square meter, versus E768 in the previous 
year.

KSA’s 2012 gross revenue was E765 million, and net income was 
E528 million, 6% lower than last year, attributable to the lower fair value 
adjustment in investment property of E66 million compared to E157 million 
in 2011.  KSA declared and paid cash dividends of E250 million, of which 
E28.6 million accrued to Anscor.

Enderun Colleges, Inc.
With enrollment rising 15% to 1,091 full-time college and certificate 

students in the current school year, Enderun’s operating profit surged 50% to 
E15 million, from E10 million last year.  Revenues gained 22% to reach E362 
million in school year 2011-2012.  Significant contributors to revenue growth 
were the continuing education unit Enderun Extension, whose revenues 
climbed 89% to E40 million, and Restaurant 101-Banquet Operations, which 
generated E28 million, a 56% rise.



INFORMATION STATEMENT 25

Enderun held its third graduation rites in April 2012, conferring BS 
International Hospitality Management degrees to 94 students.  During the 
year, 244 students completed internships in 13 countries, bringing to 930 the 
number that the school has placed since 2006.  International internships in 
2012 totaled 125, or 51% of this year’s batch.

In April 2012, Enderun signed an agreement with Thunderbird School 
of Global Management of Arizona, USA, making its College of Business the 
first partner of Thunderbird Online in the Philippines.  Thunderbird ranked 
number 1 in international business in Bloomberg Businessweek’s listing of 
Best B-Schools for 2012.

The continuing upgrade of campus facilities has produced five additional 
classrooms, a new state-of-the-art kitchen and a multi-purpose covered 
court.

Prople, Inc.
2012 was a breakthrough year for Prople, Inc., as total revenues grew 

33% to E126 million, EBITDA margin swelled to E20 million from break-even 
in 2011, and the firm recorded its first net income after tax of E5.7 million.

Sustained investments in technology, processes and productivity pushed 
down overhead costs from 49% of revenues to 39%, and raised contribution 
margin from 41% of revenues to 47% in 2012.

The company expanded its business in the US and the Philippines, 
adding 33 customers and securing contracts with longer service terms, 
ending the year with 135 clients and 247 employees.  KPO consulting, HR, 
and Information and Technology (IT) services were Prople’s fastest growing 
segments, gaining by 85%, 70%, and 70%, respectively.  The firm’s HR, 
IT, Finance and Accounting, and Consulting services now reflect a more 
balanced mix of business lines.  Proprietary cloud technologies and proven 
capability to integrate processes, people, and systems remain the key selling 
proposition for clients drawn to augmented value.

AG&P International Holdings Ltd.
In December 2011, Anscor invested in AG&P, Southeast Asia’s leading 

modular fabricator of refinery and petrochemical plants, power plants and 
other facilities.
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Three major achievements in 2012 bear highlighting: 

 In August 2012, AG&P and ALE, a leading marine engineering and heavy 
lift company, were awarded a major  two-year contract to develop, own (on 
a 50/50 basis), operate and maintain a proprietary Module Offloading Facility 
Transition Pontoon (MOFTP) for initial deployment near Darwin, Australia. The 
MOFTP’s technological innovations overcome tidal limitations and supply-
chain bottlenecks.  Engineering work has begun and the pontoon should be 
completed by end-2013.

 
In September 2012, AG&P and Fluor Corporation agreed to form a long-

term, committed joint venture, which will serve Fluor’s global modularization 
needs.  AG&P will provide Fluor with a sub-area of land within an existing 
AG&P yard in Batangas that AG&P will operate.  President Aquino hailed the 
joint venture, called AG&P-Fluor, as a major step in developing the Philippines 
into an industrial hub.  The new yard will open in June 2013.

 
In October 2012, AG&P won a US$152 million contract to modularize 26 

local electrical rooms (LER) and local instrumentation rooms (LIR) that will 
be the electrical backbone of a consortium project to provide liquid natural 
gas from Australia to Japan and other countries.  Fabrication for the three-
year project, to start in 2013, will demonstrate AG&P’s capability to develop 
mission-ready modules, outfitted with electrical and instrumentation systems 
installed and tested prior to shipment from Batangas to Northern Australia.

To attain the record capacity levels called for by new contracts, even as 
existing projects reach peak activity, AG&P has treated 2012 as an investment 
period during which it restructured its procurement and project management 
functions and streamlined its fabrication yard to meet global standards.

Alphion Corporation
Alphion is positioning itself as a global provider of Gigabit Passive 

Optical Networks (GPON) solutions with a track record of implementation 
in 50 Indian cities as well as in the US, Canada and Russia.  As stated in 
the 2010  Annual Report, it does business largely with two of India’s biggest 
telecommunications firms.

However, that country’s telecoms industry has been roiled by a scandal 
that led to the Indian Supreme Court’s ordered cancellation in February 2012 
of 122 mobile licenses granted under questionable circumstances.  The ruling 
does not implicate Alphion’s clients, but its impact has contributed to delays 
in Alphion’s collections and purchase orders from new customers, and the 
company is encountering some cash tightness.
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Despite these difficulties, Alphion continues to win contracts with its 
strong technology and its Board and management team are guiding efforts to 
diversify into other industry sectors and geographic regions.

Predictive Edge Technologies, LLC
In the first quarter of 2012, Anscor’s holdings in Predictive Edge Media 

Holdings, LLC (PEMH), first acquired in October 2011, were exchanged for an 
interest in Predictive Edge Technologies, LLC (“Predictive”), PEMH’s parent 
company. 

Predictive has a range of proprietary algorithms that examine large 
amounts of unstructured data to uncover patterns and correlations and 
compile a series of indices that sharpen  decision- making. This methodology, 
known as “Big Data Analytics,” targets a $5 billion  market that is growing 
rapidly.

Predictive’s prospective customers are consumer goods and 
pharmaceutical industries, political campaigns, and their support groups. The 
company focused during the year on continued development of its Smart 
View analytical product and expansion of its sales and marketing staff. As an 
early-stage development company, it made no profits in 2012.

Other Information

Except as discussed above, disclosures of the following information are 
not applicable for the registrant and its subsidiaries:

Business Development
•	 Bankruptcy,		receivership	or	similar	proceedings
•	 Material	reclassification,	merger,	consolidation	or	purchase	or	sale	of	

a significant amount of asset

Business of the Issuer
•	 Distribution	methods	of	the	products	or	services
•	 Status	of	any	publicly-announced	new	product	and	services
•	 Competition
•	 Transaction	 with	 and/or	 related	 parties	 (except	 those	 disclosed	 in	

the notes to financial statements)
•	 Patents,	trademarks,	copyrights,	licenses,	franchises,	royalty,	etc.
•	 Need	for	any	government	approval	of	principal	products	and	services
•	 Effect	 of	 existing	 or	 probable	 governmental	 regulations	 on	 the	

business
•	 The	amount	spent	on	development	activities	and	its	percentage	to	

revenues during each of the last three years.
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Anscor and its subsidiaries are not aware of any major risks involved in 
their businesses.

Significant financial indicators of the Group are the following:
   
  12/31/2012 12/31/2011
1. Book Value Per Share   (Note 1) 9.69 8.69
2. Current Ratio   (Note 2) 1.80 3.24
3. Interest Rate Coverage Ratio (Note 3) 84.63 110.38
4. Debt to Equity Ratio  (Note 4) 0.11 0.08
5. Asset to Equity Ratio (Note 5) 1.11 1.08
6. Profit Ratio (Net Income Attributable 
 to Equity Holdings of the Parent/Total 
 Revenues) 39.6% 35.4%
7. Return on Equity (Net Income/Equity 
 Attributable to Equity Holdings 
 of the Parent) 12.1% 8.8%

Note 1 – Equity Attributable to Equity Holdings of the Parent/    
Outstanding Shares

Note 2  – Current Assets/Current Liabilities
Note 3  – EBIT (earnings before interest and taxes)/ total interest 

expense
Note 4  – Total Liabilities/Equity Attributable to Equity Holdings of the 

Parent
Note 5  – Total Assets/Equity Attributable to Equity Holdings of the 

Parent

The key financial indicators of our major subsidiaries are the following:
 

Cirrus Group

1. Submission to lock ratio (operating statistic to evaluate recruitment)
2. Nurse/therapist retention ratio (Operating statistic to evaluate 

retention of nurse and therapist in the pool for staffing business.

In Thousand Pesos
   
  12/31/2012 12/31/2011
3. Service income 1,145,739 998,567
4. Cost of services rendered 955,089 822,106
5. Income before interest, taxes, 
 depreciation and amortization 9,682 8,358
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Seven Seas Group
 
In Thousand Pesos
  12/31/2012 12/31/2011
1. Occupancy rate 46.7% 48.0%
2. Hotel revenue 545,195 516,925
3. Gross operating profit (GOP) 174,706 143,172
4. GOP ratio 32.0% 27.7%
5. Net income after tax 50,375 23,873

Occupancy rate is based on actual room nights sold over available 
room nights on a 12-month period. Hotel revenues include rooms, food and 
beverage and other ancillary services. GOP is total revenues less direct costs 
and GOP ratio is GOP over total hotel revenues.

Outlook and Investment Strategy
Anscor has sought to contribute its share to the national endeavor by 

ensuring that its assets and operations consistently yield estimable returns 
to its shareowners and investors.  As interest rates of financial assets, here 
and elsewhere, have fallen of late; but Anscor is gratified that the Company’s 
operating and direct investments have amply demonstrated an enduring 
ability to ride out adverse periods and stiff competition (as in KSA), entice 
different market segments when traditional ones turn tepid (as in Amanpulo), 
identify new talent sources and revenue potential (as in Cirrus), collaborate 
with partners to develop human competencies (as in Enderun), win new 
customers through higher quality and product diversity (as in PDP), and grow 
through superior technology and business models that move us up the value 
chain (as in Prople and AG&P).  In our best judgment, it is time to leverage 
these strengths by reducing financial assets and shifting resources to direct 
investments and operations that offer better prospects of growth.

Employees

The Company and the Group as of December 31, 2012, has 20 and 472 
employees, respectively.  Breakdowns are as follows:

 Parent Subsidiaries Group
Management 8 55 63 
Rank and file 12 397 409
TOTAL 20 452 472

•	 The	Company	and	the	Group	were	not	subjected	to	any	employees’	
strike in the past three years nor were there any threatening strike for 
the ensuing year.
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•	 Employees	 of	 the	 Group	 are	 not	 subject	 to	 Collective	 Bargaining	
Agreement (CBA).

•	 The	Group	provides	various	employee	benefits	including	health	care	
and retirement benefits and has enjoyed good labor relations in the 
past. 

Properties

Anscor owns and maintains its office at 7/F, Pacific Star Building in Makati 
City with approximately 2,000 square meters.  It also owns the following:

 
Shipping Centre Bldg., Intramuros, Manila 1 office condo unit/509   

       sq. meters 

Information regarding properties of major subsidiaries and affiliates are:

•	 PDP	Energy	plants	are	situated	on	an	18.4	hectare	property	owned	by	
Phelps Dodge’s wholly owned subsidiary, Minuet Realty Corporation 
in the Luisita Industrial Park in San Miguel, Tarlac.

•	 Seven	 Seas	 owns	 a	 40-room	 resort	 in	 Pamalican	 Island,	 called	
Amanpulo.  This covers about 75 hectares of land, with 40 room 
casitas of about 65 sq. meter each and back of house facilities to 
service its power and water and staff house requirements.  Additional 
39 villa rooms are available for rent under the management agreement 
executed by SSRLI and the villa owners.

•	 APHI	has	interests	in	land	covering	an	area	of	approximately	830.12	
hectares in Berong, Palawan, 24.1 hectares in San Vicente, Palawan 
and parcels of land with a total area of 40.41 hectares in Cebu. Also, 
APHI owns a lot at the Cebu Business Park, about 1.27 hectare 
properties in Puerto Princesa and 1 townhouse unit in Alpha Village, 
Capitol Hills, Quezon City.

Other Information:

•	 The	registrant	 is	not	 involved	 in	 lease	contracts	requiring	 it	 to	pay	
substantial amount of rental fees.

•	 There	 were	 no	 commitments	 for	 major	 capital	 expenditures	 or	
acquisitions of properties in the next twelve months.
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Financial Condition

There was no significant change in the Company’s Balance Sheet as of 
December 31, 2012 versus December 31, 2011.

 
Cash and Cash Equivalents

The increase in cash and cash equivalents can be attributed to net cash 
flows generated in operating and investing activities, total of E1.3 billion, 
offset by cash used in financing activities of E975.5 million.

 
(Please see attached consolidated cash flow statements for detailed 

analysis of cash movements.)

Fair Value through Profit and Loss (FVPL) Investments
The decrease in the account can be attributed to the net disposal for 

the period of about E399.3 million. The market value of foreign denominated 
investment in bonds, stocks and funds increased by E67.2 million vs. 
December 31, 2011 market values.

Receivables
The increase in receivables was mainly due to improved service revenues 

of the resort and the US-based staffing business.

Inventories
The increase is traced to spare parts and supplies purchased for the year 

by the aviation and resorts operating subsidiaries.

Prepayments and Other Current Assets
Increase in this account can be attributed mainly to additional refundable 

deposits made by aviation subsidiary in relation to the maintenance service 
plan for its aircrafts.

Available for Sale (AFS) Investments (Current and Noncurrent)
Change in the account can be attributed mainly to the net additions that 

were mostly in bonds, equity funds and traded equities amounting to E465.4 
million.  There was an increase of about E962.8 million in market value of 
AFS investments, offset by foreign exchange loss from translation of foreign 
currency-denominated AFS investments. 

Investments and Advances
The increase in investments and advances was mainly due to equity 

earnings of associates of about E155.3 million and reversal of investment 
related valuation allowances.
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Property, Plant and Equipment - net
Depreciation charged to operations amounted to E117.9 million while net 

additions to property and equipment amounted to E86.0 million.

Goodwill
The goodwill from resort business and US-based staffing business, 

totaling to E604.6 million as of December 31, 2011 decreased by E38.9 million 
due to foreign exchange loss of the peso equivalent of the dollar investment.

Notes Payable
The increase in the balance was due to additional loan availed by the 

Parent Company and Cirrus group as of December 31, 2012.

Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses
The change in the account was mainly attributable to the subsidiaries 

and increase in the Parent  trade payable and accrual of its expenses as of 
end December 2012.

Dividends Payable
As of December 31, 2012 the Company had dividends payable amounting 

to E369.2 million.  Dividends payable represents mainly dividend checks 
that were returned by the post office and which remained outstanding as of 
December 31, 2012 due to problematic addresses of some of the Company’s 
stockholders. Dividends payable as of December 31, 2012 also includes 
dividends declared in December 2012 but which remained unpaid.

Income Tax Payable
Movement in the account was attributable to income tax accrued by the 

group for 2012, net of income tax paid as of December 31, 2012.

Long-term debt (current and noncurrent)
The decrease in the account can be attributed to current portion of debt 

paid by a subsidiary.

Deferred Revenue
Deferred revenue pertained to collections of Cirrus Global, Inc./IQHPC 

for its client hospital for processing of nurses application for deployment. 
The decrease was due to reversal of deferred revenues related to changes 
in the contract provisions that were previously in the agreement with the 
subsidiary’s clients.
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Deferred Income Tax Liabilities
This account increased mainly due to the Parent Company’s set up of 

a deferred tax liability pertaining to uncollected management fee, pension 
assets and market adjustments on FVPL investments as of December 31, 
2012.

Retirement Plan Asset/Retirement Benefits Payable
The Parent Company fully funded the vested benefits and nonvested 

past service for officers and employees under the retirement benefit plan.  
This caused the increase in retirement plan asset and decrease in retirement 
benefits payable.

Other noncurrent liabilities
Fund for villa operations of Pamalican Resort, Inc. (PRI) amounting to 

E47.5 million as of December 31, 2012, which is a restricted cash fund for the 
villas held as a source of future maintenance requirements and association 
dues when the need arises as determined by PRI.  Interest income on this fund 
shall accrue to the villa owners.  A liability related to the fund was recognized 
and is included under this account.

Cumulative Translation Adjustment
This account includes translation adjustments of Anscor International, 

Inc., Cirrus Medical Staffing, Inc. and Cirrus Global, Inc.  The decrease in 
credit balance resulted from the lower peso value of the dollar denominated 
net assets of said subsidiaries.

Unrealized valuation gains on AFS investments (equity portion)
The increase in market values of AFS investments from December 31, 

2011 to December 31, 2012 amounted E962.8 million, net of deferred income 
taxes.  When the assets are sold, the gain or loss is realized and will be 
reflected in the consolidated statements of income.   

Cost of Shares Held by a Subsidiary
Anscor Consolidated Corporation, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Anscor, 

purchased additional 40.4 million Anscor shares amounting to E183.1 million 
during the year.

Noncontrolling interests (equity portion)
Increase in minority interest was mainly due to share of minority 

shareholders on 2012 higher income of the resort and aviation subsidiaries; 
increased income of Cirrus Global, Inc. due to reversal of deferred liability; 
and minimal income of Cirrus Medical Staffing vs. the loss in 2011.
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Others
There were no commitments for major capital expenditures in 2012.

Results of Operation
Management is not aware of any known trends, events or uncertainties 

except for political and market uncertainties that may have material impact 
on the Company’s recurring revenues and profits.

The discussions below were based on the consolidated results of the 
Company and its subsidiaries.

Revenues
This year’s consolidated gross revenues of E3.7 billion was 32.4% higher 

than last year’s revenue of E2.8 billion.  The Resort and Cirrus group reported 
improved service revenues for the whole year of 2012. Also, Anscor posted 
equity in net earnings and dividend income amounting to E155.3 million and 
E232.0 million, respectively, higher than the revenue for the period in 2012. 
The investment gain was significantly higher compared to the gain reported 
last year due to increased volume of trade securities sold in stock market.

Cost of Services Rendered
Increase in cost of services rendered was mainly attributable to higher 

cost of services of the resort and nurse staffing business as a result of their 
improved service revenues.

Operating Expenses
Increase can be attributed to the higher operating expenses of the resorts 

and nurse staffing business.

Valuation Allowances
The Parent Company setup a provision for decline in market value of 

some AFS investments based on reduced values as of December 31, 2012.

Foreign Exchange Loss
Due to the appreciation of peso vis-à-vis US dollar and euro, the peso 

value of foreign currency-denominated investments of the Group decreased 
which resulted to foreign exchange loss.

Interest Expense
The Group reported higher charges for interest expense resulting from 

additional loans obtained by the Parent Company. 



INFORMATION STATEMENT 35

Provision for Income Tax - net
This account increased mainly due to the higher income tax provision of 

the resort and aviation subsidiaries.

Noncontrolling  Interests (statements of income)
Increase in minority interest was mainly due to share of minority 

shareholders on higher income of the resort and aviation subsidiaries; Cirrus 
Global, Inc. and minimal income of Cirrus Medical Staffing for the year 2012 
as against a net loss in 2011.

Year Ended December 31, 2011 Compared with Year Ended December 
31, 2010 (as reported in 2011 SEC 17-A)

Revenues
This year’s consolidated gross revenues of E2.8 billion was 19.8% lower 

than last year’s revenue of E3.5 billion.  The gain from sale of AFS investments 
was significantly lower compared to the gain reported last year.  This reduction 
in revenues was partially offset by improved service revenues of Cirrus group 
and inclusion of SSRLI’s E412.4 million hotel revenues for the period March 
1 to December 31, 2011. 

Cost of Services Rendered
Increase in cost of services rendered was mainly attributable to higher 

cost of services of nurse staffing business (as a result of improved revenues) 
and consolidation of SSRLI cost of services for the period  March 1 to 
December 31, 2011.

Operating Expenses
Operating expenses increased as a result of consolidation of SSRLI 

operating expenses for the period  March 1 to December 31, 2011.

Recoveries (Valuation Allowances) - net
As a result of recovery in market values of some AFS investments mostly 

from bonds, previously booked provisions were reversed.

Foreign Exchange Loss
Due to the appreciation of peso vis-à-vis US dollar and euro, the peso 

value of foreign currency-denominated investments of the Group decreased 
which resulted to foreign exchange loss.  
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Interest Expense
The Group reported lower charges for interest expense in 2011 resulting 

from payment of the parent company of its loan.  Despite the pick up in 
the consolidated balance sheet of SSRLI’s loans/debt, the interest expense 
that was considered only pertained to March 1 to December 31, 2011, as 
the effectivity of consolidation of income statement accounts of SSRLI was 
March 1, 2011.

Other Income
Other income reported in 2011 pertains mainly to gain from fair value 

adjustment of net assets of acquired subsidiary and forfeiture of rental deposit 
from lessee by the parent company.

Provision for Income Tax - net
The current provision for income tax of the group increased due to 

consolidation of SSRLI‘s income tax expense of E4.7 million for the period 
March 1 to December 31, 2011. The parent company sets up provision for 
deferred income tax liability on uncollected management fee during the 
year and wrote off the tax benefit on unrealized foreign exchange loss and 
unrealized loss from decrease in market value of AFS investments.

Noncontrolling  Interests
Increase in noncontrolling interests was mainly due to share of minority 

shareholders on reduced losses of Cirrus Global, Inc. and Cirrus Medical 
Staffing, Inc. and the share of minority shareholders on results of SSRLI from 
March 1 to December 31, 2011.

Year Ended December 31, 2010 Compared with Year Ended December 
31, 2009 (as reported in 2010 SEC 17-A)

Revenues
This year’s consolidated gross revenues of E3.5 billion doubled last year’s 

revenue of E1.7 billion. Anscor posted higher equity in net earnings from 
associates and investment gain from sale of AFS investments, mostly locally 
traded shares amounting to E115.2 million and E2.1 billion, respectively. The 
increase in revenues was partially reduced by the lower service revenues of 
Cirrus Medical Staffing, Inc., from E916.7 million to E711.5 million.

Costs of Services Rendered
Decrease in cost of services rendered was mainly attributable to decline 

in business activities of the nurse staffing and recruitment services.
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Operating Expenses
Operating expenses increased slightly. In view of the substantial income 

generated by the Company in 2010 for the sale of its investments, the parent 
company declared and paid bonuses to its executive officers and directors as 
approved by the BOD and the Compensation Committee.

Valuation Allowances
The Parent Company setup a provision for decline in market value of 

some AFS investments based on reduced market values as of December 31, 
2010 vs. values as of December 31, 2009 and/or original acquisition cost. 
Additional provision was also setup for some of its equitized investments. 
Likewise, provisions for doubtful accounts receivable was set up.

Foreign Exchange Loss
Due to appreciation of peso vis-à-vis US dollar and euro, the peso value 

of foreign currency-denominated investments of the Group decreased which 
resulted to foreign exchange loss. The loss could have been higher if not for 
the hedging transaction.

Interest Expense
The Group reported higher charges for interest expense resulting from 

additional loans obtained by the parent company and its subsidiary during 
2010.

Other Expenses- net
Minimal rental income was recognized in 2010. In 2009, the rental income 

amounted to E14.5 million and shown as part of “Other expenses-net” in the 
consolidated statements of income.

Provision for Income Tax
This account increased mainly due to the higher income tax due by a 

subsidiary.

Noncontrolling Interest
Increase in noncontrolling interest represents the share of minority 

shareholders on income of the aviation subsidiary, net of share in losses of 
minority shareholders of Cirrus Global, Inc. and Cirrus Medical Staffing, Inc. 
for the year ended December 31, 2010.

Cash Flows
Management has no knowledge of known trends, demands, 

commitments, events or uncertainties that will have a material impact on the 
Company’s liquidity.
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Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous 

financial year except for the adoption of the following new and amended 
PFRS and Philippine Interpretations based on IFRIC which were adopted as 
of January 1, 2012.

•	 Amendments	 to	 PFRS	 7,	 Financial	 Instruments:	 Disclosures	 -	
Transfers of Financial Assets, require additional disclosures about 
financial assets that have been transferred but not derecognized to 
enhance the understanding of the relationship between those assets 
that have not been derecognized and their associated liabilities.  
In addition, the amendments require disclosures about continuing 
involvement in derecognized assets to enable users of financial 
statements to evaluate the nature of, and risks associated with, the 
entity’s continuing involvement in those derecognized assets.  

The Group does not have financial assets that have been transferred but 
not derecognized nor does it have any continuing involvement in derecognized 
assets so the amendments have no impact on the consolidated financial 
statements of the Group.

•	 Amendment	 to	 PAS	 12,	 Income	 Taxes	 -	 Deferred	 Tax:	 Recovery	
of Underlying Assets, clarifies the determination of deferred tax 
on investment property measured at fair value.  The amendment 
introduces a rebuttable presumption that the carrying amount of 
investment property measured using the fair value model in PAS 40, 
Investment Property, will be recovered through sale and, accordingly, 
requires that any related deferred tax should be measured on a ‘sale’ 
basis. The presumption is rebutted if the investment property is 
depreciable and it is held within a business model whose objective 
is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits in the 
investment property over time (‘use’ basis), rather than through 
sale. Furthermore, the amendment introduces the requirement 
that deferred tax on non-depreciable assets measured using the 
revaluation model in PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment, always 
be measured on a sale basis of the asset.  

The Group does not have investment properties at fair value and property 
and equipment carried under the revaluation model so the amendment has 
no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group. 
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New Accounting Standards, Interpretations and Amendments to
Existing Standards Effective Subsequent to December 31, 2012 

The Group will adopt the standards, amendments and interpretations 
enumerated below when these become effective.  The Group continues to 
assess the impact of the following new and amended accounting standards 
and interpretations.  Except as otherwise indicated, the Group does not 
expect the adoption of these new changes in PFRS to have a significant 
impact on the consolidated financial statements.  The relevant disclosures 
will be included in the notes to the consolidated financial statements when 
these become effective.

Effective in 2013
•	 Amendments	 to	 PFRS	 7,	 Financial	 instruments:	 Disclosures	 -	

Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities, require an entity to 
disclose information about rights of set-off and related arrangements 
(such as collateral agreements).  The new disclosures are required 
for all recognized financial instruments that are set off in accordance 
with PAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation. These disclosures 
also apply to recognized financial instruments that are subject to 
an enforceable master netting arrangement or ‘similar agreement’, 
irrespective of whether they are set-off in accordance with PAS 32.  
The amendments require entities to disclose, in a tabular format 
unless another format is more appropriate, the following minimum 
quantitative information. This is presented separately for financial 
assets and financial liabilities recognized at the end of the reporting 
period:

a) The gross amounts of those recognized financial assets and 
recognized financial liabilities;

b) The amounts that are set off in accordance with the criteria in PAS 
32 when determining the net amounts presented in the statement of 
financial position;

c) The net amounts presented in the statement of financial position;
d) The amounts subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement 

or similar agreement that are not otherwise included in (b) above, 
including:
i) Amounts related to recognized financial instruments that do not 

meet some or all of the offsetting criteria in PAS 32; and
ii) Amounts related to financial collateral (including cash collateral); 

and
e) The net amount after deducting the amounts in (d) from the amounts 

in (c) above.
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The amendments to PFRS 7 are to be retrospectively applied and are 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013.  The 
amendments affect disclosures only and have no impact on the Group’s 
financial position or performance.  The relevant disclosures will be included 
in the notes to the financial statements when this amendment becomes 
effective. 

•	 PFRS	10,	Consolidated	Financial	Statements,	replaces	the	portion	
of PAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, that 
addresses the accounting for consolidated financial statements.  It 
also includes the issues raised in SIC 12, Consolidation - Special 
Purpose Entities. PFRS 10 establishes a single control model 
that applies to all entities including special purpose entities.  The 
changes introduced by PFRS 10 will require management to exercise 
significant judgment to determine which entities are controlled, and 
therefore, are required to be consolidated by a parent, compared 
with the requirements that were in PAS 27. The standard becomes 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. 

A reassessment of control was performed by the Company on all its 
subsidiaries and associates in accordance with the provisions of PFRS 10.  
Following the reassessment, the Company determined that there will be no 
additional entities that need to be consolidated nor are there subsidiaries that 
need to be deconsolidated when this new standard becomes effective.

•	 PFRS	11,	 Joint	Arrangements,	 replaces	PAS	31,	 Interests	 in	 Joint	
Ventures, and SIC 13, Jointly Controlled Entities - Non-Monetary 
Contributions by Venturers.  PFRS 11 removes the option to account 
for jointly controlled entities using proportionate consolidation.  
Instead, jointly controlled entities that meet the definition of a 
joint venture must be accounted for using the equity method. The 
standard becomes effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2013. 

 The Company does not have any jointly controlled entities so the 
adoption of this new standard will have no significant impact on the 
financial statements of the Group upon its effectivity. 
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•	 PFRS	12,	Disclosure	of	Interests	in	Other	Entities,	includes	all	of	the	
disclosures related to financial statements that were previously in 
PAS 27, as well as all the disclosures that were previously included in 
PAS 31 and PAS 28, Investments in Associates.  These disclosures 
relate to an entity’s interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, 
associates and structured entities.  A number of new disclosures are 
also required. The standard becomes effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2013.

The adoption of PFRS 12 will affect disclosures only and will have no 
impact on the Group’s financial position or performance. The relevant 
disclosures will be included in the notes to the financial statements when this 
standard becomes effective.

•	 Amendments	 to	 PAS	 27,	 Separate	 Financial	 Statements.	 As	 a	
consequence of the issuance of the new PFRS 10 and PFRS 12, 
what remains of PAS 27 is limited to accounting for subsidiaries, 
jointly controlled entities, and associates in the separate financial 
statements.  The amendment becomes effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2013.  The adoption of the amended 
PAS 27 will not have a significant impact on the separate financial 
statements of the entities in the Group.

•	 Amendments	 to	 PAS	 28,	 Investments	 in	 Associates	 and	 Joint	
Ventures.  As a consequence of the issuance of the new PFRS 11 
and PFRS 12, PAS 28 has been renamed PAS 28, Investments in 
Associates and Joint Ventures, and describes the application of 
the equity method to investments in joint ventures in addition to 
associates.  The amendment becomes effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2013. The Company does not have 
any joint venture so the adoption of this amendment will have no 
significant impact on the financial statement of the Group upon its 
effectivity.

•	 PFRS	13,	 Fair	Value	Measurement,	 establishes	a	 single	 source	of	
guidance under PFRSs for all fair value measurements.  PFRS 13 
does not change when an entity is required to use fair value, but 
rather provides guidance on how to measure fair value under PFRS 
when fair value is required or permitted. This standard should be 
applied prospectively as of the beginning of the annual period in 
which it is initially applied. Its disclosure requirements need not be 
applied in comparative information provided for periods before initial 
application of PFRS 13.  The standard becomes effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013.
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The Group has assessed the impact of adopting this standard and does 
not anticipate that the adoption of this standard will have a significant impact 
on its financial position and performance. 

•	 Amendments	 to	 PAS	 1,	 Presentation	 of	 Financial	 Statements	 -	
Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income or OCI, 
change the grouping of items presented in OCI.  Items that can be 
reclassified (or “recycled”) to profit or loss at a future point in time 
(for example, upon derecognition or settlement) will be presented 
separately from items that will never be recycled.  The amendments 
affect presentation only and have no impact on the Group’s financial 
position or performance.  The amendment becomes effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2012.  The amendments 
will be applied retrospectively and will result to the modification of 
the presentation of items of OCI. 

•	 Amendments	to	PAS	19,	Employee	Benefits,	range	from	fundamental	
changes such as removing the corridor mechanism and the concept 
of expected returns on plan assets to simple clarifications and 
rewording.  The revised standard also requires new disclosures such 
as, among others, a sensitivity analysis for each significant actuarial 
assumption, information on asset-liability matching strategies, 
duration of the defined benefit obligation, and disaggregation of 
plan assets by nature and risk. The amendments become effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013.  Once 
effective, the Group has to apply the amendments retroactively to 
the earliest period presented.

The Group reviewed its existing employee benefits and determined that 
the amended standard has significant impact on its accounting for retirement 
benefits.  The Group obtained the services of an external actuary to compute 
the impact to the financial statements upon adoption of the standard. The 
effects are detailed below: 

  December 31, January 1,
       2012 2012
                                                                                     (In Millions) 
Increase in:  
Consolidated balance sheets  
Net pension asset (liability) E37.0 E1.0
Deferred tax  asset (liability) (10.5) 0.4
Other comprehensive income (expense) 16.5 8.5
Retained earnings (3.8) 6.7
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   2012
   (in millions)
Increase (decrease) in:  
Consolidated statement of income  
Net benefit expense   E1.4
Income tax expense - deferred  (0.4)
Profit for the year  
 Attributable to the owners of the  
 Parent Company  (0.9)
 Attributable to non-controlling interests  (0.1)
Other comprehensive income, net 
 of deferred income tax 
Attributable to the owners of the Parent Company  (9.2)
Attributable to non-controlling interests  1.2

•	 Philippine	Interpretation	IFRIC	20,	Stripping	Costs	in	the	Production	
Phase of a Surface Mine, applies to waste removal (stripping) costs 
incurred in surface mining activity, during the production phase 
of the mine.  The interpretation addresses the accounting for the 
benefit from the stripping activity. The interpretation is effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013.  This new 
interpretation is not relevant to the Group as the Group is not involved 
in any mining activities.

Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2009-2011 cycle)
The Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2009-2011 cycle) contain non-

urgent but necessary amendments to PFRSs.  The amendments are effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013 and are applied 
retrospectively.  Earlier application is permitted. 

•	 PFRS	 1,	 First-time	 Adoption	 of	 PFRS	 -	 Borrowing	 Costs,	 clarifies	
that, upon adoption of PFRS, an entity that capitalized borrowing 
costs in accordance with its previous generally accepted accounting 
principles, may carry forward, without any adjustment, the amount 
previously capitalized in its opening statement of financial position at 
the date of transition. Subsequent to the adoption of PFRS, borrowing 
costs are recognized in accordance with PAS 23, Borrowing Costs. 
The amendment does not apply to the Group as it is not a first-time 
adopter of PFRS.
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•	 PAS	 1,	 Presentation	 of	 Financial	 Statements	 -	 Clarification	 of	 the	
Requirements for Comparative Information, clarify the requirements 
for comparative information that are disclosed voluntarily and those 
that are mandatory due to retrospective application of an accounting 
policy, or retrospective restatement or reclassification of items in the 
financial statements.  An entity must include comparative information 
in the related notes to the financial statements when it voluntarily 
provides comparative information beyond the minimum required 
comparative period.  The additional comparative period does not 
need to contain a complete set of financial statements.  On the 
other hand, supporting notes for the third balance sheet (mandatory 
when there is a retrospective application of an accounting policy, or 
retrospective restatement or reclassification of items in the financial 
statements) are not required. The amendments affect disclosures 
only and will have no impact on the Group’s financial position or 
performance.  

•	 PAS	16,	Property,	Plant	and	Equipment	-	Classification	of	Servicing	
Equipment, clarifies that spare parts, stand-by equipment and 
servicing equipment should be recognized as property, plant and 
equipment when they meet the definition of property, plant and 
equipment and should be recognized as inventory if otherwise.  The 
amendment will not have any significant impact on the Group’s 
financial position or performance. 

•	 PAS	 32,	 Financial	 Instruments:	 Presentation	 -	 Tax	 Effect	 of	
Distribution to Holders of Equity Instruments, clarifies that income 
taxes relating to distributions to equity holders and to transaction 
costs of an equity transaction are accounted for in accordance with 
PAS 12, Income Taxes.  The Group expects that this amendment will 
not have any impact on its financial position or performance. 

•	 PAS	34,	Interim	Financial	Reporting	-	Interim	Financial	Reporting	and	
Segment Information for Total Assets and Liabilities, clarifies that the 
total assets and liabilities for a particular reportable segment need 
to be disclosed only when the amounts are regularly provided to 
the chief operating decision maker and there has been a material 
change from the amount disclosed in the entity’s previous annual 
consolidated financial statements for that reportable segment.  The 
amendment affects disclosures only and has no impact on the 
Group’s financial position or performance.
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Effective in 2014
•	 Amendments	 to	 PAS	 32,	 Financial	 Instruments:	 Presentation	 -	

Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities, clarify the 
meaning of “currently has a legally enforceable right to set-off” 
and also clarify the application of the PAS 32 offsetting criteria to 
settlement systems (such as central clearing house systems) which 
apply gross settlement mechanisms that are not simultaneous.  The 
amendments to PAS 32 are to be retrospectively applied for annual 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014. The amendments 
affect presentation only and have no impact on the Group’s financial 
position or performance.

Effective in 2015
•	 PFRS	 9,	 Financial	 Instruments,	 reflects	 the	 first	 phase	 on	 the	

replacement of PAS 39 and applies to the classification and 
measurement of financial assets and liabilities as defined in PAS 
39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.  Work 
on impairment of financial instruments and hedge accounting is 
still ongoing, with a view to replacing PAS 39 in its entirety.  PFRS 
9 requires all financial assets to be measured at fair value at initial 
recognition.  A debt financial asset may, if the fair value option 
(FVO) is not invoked, be subsequently measured at amortized cost 
if it is held within a business model that has the objective to hold 
the assets to collect the contractual cash flows and its contractual 
terms give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding.  
All other debt instruments are subsequently measured at fair value 
through profit or loss.  All equity financial assets are measured at fair 
value either through other comprehensive income (OCI) or profit or 
loss.  Equity financial assets held for trading must be measured at 
fair value through profit or loss.  For FVO liabilities, the amount of 
change in the fair value of a liability that is attributable to changes in 
credit risk must be presented in OCI.  The remainder of the change 
in fair value is presented in profit or loss, unless presentation of 
the fair value change in respect of the liability’s credit risk in OCI 
would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. 
All other PAS 39 classification and measurement requirements for 
financial liabilities have been carried forward into PFRS 9, including 
the embedded derivative separation rules and the criteria for using 
the FVO.  The adoption of the first phase of PFRS 9 will have an 
effect on the classification and measurement of the Group’s financial 
assets, but will potentially have no impact on the classification and 
measurement of financial liabilities.



A. SORIANO CORPORATION46

 PFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 
1, 2015. The Group decided not to early adopt PFRS 9 for its 2012 
reporting ahead of its effectivity date on January 1, 2015 and therefore 
the consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 
December 31, 2012 do not reflect the impact of the said standard. 

 The Group shall conduct another impact evaluation in early 2013 
using the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 
December 31, 2012.  Given the amendments on  PFRS 9, Financial 
Instruments, the Group at present, does not plan to early adopt in 
2013 financial reporting.  It plans to reassess its current position 
once the phases of PFRS 9 on impairment and hedge accounting 
become effective.

 The Group’s decision whether to early adopt PFRS 9 for its 2013 
financial reporting will be disclosed in its interim consolidated financial 
statements as of and for the period ending March 31, 2013.  Should 
the Group decide to early adopt the said standard for its 2013 financial 
reporting, its interim consolidated financial statements as of and for the 
period ending March 31, 2013 will reflect application of the requirement 
under the said standard and will contain the qualitative and quantitative 
discussions of the results of the Group’s impact evaluation.

 The Group’s AFS investments may be affected by the adoption of 
this standard. 

Effectivity date to be determined
•	 Philippine	 Interpretation	 IFRIC	 15,	 Agreements	 for	 the	

Construction of Real Estate, covers accounting for revenue 
and associated expenses by entities that undertake the 
construction of real estate directly or through subcontractors.  
This Interpretation requires that revenue on construction of real 
estate be recognized only upon completion, except when such 
contract qualifies as construction contract to be accounted for 
under PAS 11, Construction Contracts, or involves rendering of 
services in which case revenue is recognized based on stage of 
completion.  The SEC and the Financial Reporting Standards 
Council (FRSC) have deferred the effectivity of this interpretation 
until the final Revenue standard is issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and an evaluation of the 
requirements of the final Revenue standard against the practices 
of the Philippine real estate industry is completed.  Adoption of 
the interpretation when it becomes effective will not have any 
impact on the financial statements of the Group. 
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Other Financial information
•	 There	 are	 no	 material	 events	 that	 will	 trigger	 direct	 or	 contingent	

financial obligation that is material to the Company, including any 
default or acceleration of an obligation.

•	 There	 are	 no	 off-balance	 sheet	 transactions,	 arrangements,	
obligations including contingent obligations, and other relationships 
of the Company with unconsolidated entities or other persons 
created during the year.

•	 There	were	no	commitments	for	major	capital	expenditures	in	2010	
and onwards.

•	 The	 management	 has	 no	 knowledge	 of	 known	 trends,	 events	 or	
uncertainties that have had or that are reasonably expected to have 
a material favorable or unfavorable impact on net sales or revenue or 
income from continuing operations.

•	 There	 are	 no	 seasonality	 or	 cyclicality	 trends	 in	 the	 business	 that	
would have material effect on the Company’s result of operations 
and financial condition.

•	 There	 is	 no	 other	 change	 in	 composition	 of	 the	 registrant,	 no	
restructuring, except the business combination mentioned above.

•	 There	 are	 no	 other	 material	 events	 subsequent	 to	 the	 reporting	
period that have not been reflected in financial statements.

Financial Statements

1. The financial statements were presented using the classified balance 
sheet format in accordance with the Philippines Financial Reporting 
Standards (PFRS).

2. The financial statements were prepared in accordance with the 
disclosures required by SRC Rules 68 and 68.1, current PFRS/IAS. 

3. The consolidated financial statements include disclosures with 
regards to new accounting standards that the Company and its 
subsidiaries adopted.
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Audited Financial Statements
 
The audited Financial Statements as of 31 December 2012 are included 

in pages 12 to 87 of the 2012 Annual Report in the same CD containing this 
Information Statement

The Statement of Management’s Responsibility is on page 11 of the 2012 
Annual Report in the same CD containing this Information Statement.

Action with Respect to Reports

The following reports/minutes shall be submitted for approval/ratification:
      

Approval of Minutes of Annual Meeting of Stockholders on 11 April 2012

The Minutes of Annual Meeting of Stockholders of the Company held on 
11 April 2012 (“Minutes”) will be presented for approval of the stockholders. 
Such action on the part of the stockholders will not constitute approval or 
disapproval of the matters referred to in said Minutes since Stockholders’ 
approval and action on those items had already been obtained in that meeting 
and subsequently carried out.

The Minutes and related records are available for inspection at the office 
of the Company during business hours. In addition, copies of the Minutes 
shall be posted at the meeting site.

Summary of the Minutes of 11 April 2012:

In the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting the following were taken up:
 
1. Approval of the Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements 

as of 31 December 2011 and ratification of all acts, contracts, 
investments and resolutions of the Board as set forth in the minutes 
of the Board of Directors.

2. Election of the members of the Board of Directors.
3. Appointment of external auditors.

In the organizational meeting that followed after the Stockholders’ 
Meeting, the Executive Officers were re-elected and the member of the Audit 
Committee and Compensation Committee were re-appointed. 
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Approval of  2012  Audited Financial Statements

The Audited Financial Statements of the Company for the period ended 
31 December 2012 will be submitted for approval of the stockholders at the 
Annual Meeting.

SGV had examined the Financial Statements in accordance with 
generally accepted auditing standards and have expressed their opinion on 
the fairness of the presentation in their report to the Board of Directors and 
Stockholders of the Company. The information and representation in the 
Financial Statements are the responsibility of Company’s Management.

Ratification of All Acts, Contracts, Investments and Resolutions of the 
Board of Directors and Management since the Last Annual Meeting

As matter of corporate policy, Management seeks the approval and 
ratification by the stockholders of all acts, contracts, investments and 
resolutions of the Board of Directors and Management since 11 April 2012, 
the last Annual Meeting. These are reflected in the Minutes of the meetings of 
the Board of Directors in their regular reports and disclosure to the Securities 
and Exchange Commission, and the Philippine Stock Exchange, and in the 
2012 Annual Report of the Company. For reference, attached herewith (Annex 
A) is a list of all the resolutions approved by the Board of Directors since 11 
April 2012 which are the subject of ratification by the stockholders.

Voting Procedures

SyCip Gorres Velayo & Co., the Independent Auditors elected as Board 
of Election Inspectors in the last Annual Meeting, has signified no changes in 
the voting procedures, which will be the same as in the previous years.

Stockholders as of 15 March 2013 may vote at the scheduled Stockholders 
Meeting.

Registration of stockholders and proxies attending the meeting will open 
at 9:00 A.M. on 17 April 2013.

 
In the previous meeting of stockholders, considering that only seven (7) 

were nominated to fill the seven (7) seats of the Board of Directors, there was 
no balloting.



A. SORIANO CORPORATION50

In case of balloting, only stockholders and proxies who have previously 
registered will be given ballots. The ballots will be distributed at the 
registration booths. Upon being given a ballot, a stockholder/proxy should 
sign the stockholder/proxy registration list beside his/her signature placed 
earlier during registration.

After casting his/her vote, the stockholder/proxy may place his/her 
ballot inside any of the ballot boxes clearly marked as such and located at 
designated areas at the place of the meeting. Stockholders/proxies will be 
given a sufficient period of time to vote. Thereafter, SyCip Gorres Velayo & 
Co. will proceed to collect the ballot boxes and canvass the votes.

All questions and elections shall be decided by majority vote of 
stockholders present and in proxy and entitled to vote thereat.

Other Matters

As of the date hereof, there are no other matters which the Board of 
Directors intends to present or has reason to believe others will present at 
the meeting. If other matters come before the meeting, the proxy holders will 
vote in accordance with his best judgment with respect to such matters that 
are not known to the solicitors at a reasonable time before the solicitation is 
made.

The Company  shall provide to the stockholders, without charge, on 
written request the Annual Report of the Company on SEC Form 17-A.  
All such requests for a copy of the Annual Report shall be directed to the 
Corporate Secretary, 7th Floor Pacific Star Building, Makati Avenue corner Gil 
Puyat Avenue, Makati City, Philippines.

After reasonable inquiry and to the best of my knowledge and belief, 
I certify that the information set forth in this report is true, complete and 
correct.  This report is signed in the City of Makati on 21 March 2013.

                                                                         
                                                       

   
    LORNA PATAJO-KAPUNAN
            Corporate Secretary
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Market Information

The Principal Market where the registrant’s Common equity is traded:

Philippine Stock Exchange
Latest Market Price – 28 February 2013

Previous close High Low Close
P 6.68   E 6.90  E 6.68 E 6.82
   
The following are the high and low sales prices of the shares of the 

Company for each quarter within the last two fiscal years:
    

  2012 2011
 Quarter High Low High Low
 First E 4.40 E 3.30 E 3.35 E 2.98
 Second  5.02  4.25  3.80  3.30
 Third  4.86  4.50  3.60  3.00
 Fourth  5.95  4.70  3.75  3.00

        Source:   PSE Report

The total number of stockholders/accounts as of 28 February 2013 is 
11,544 holding 2,500,000,000 shares of common stock.

Dividends

In 2012, the Board of Directors declared the following cash dividends:

Classification Peso Rate  Declaration Record Payable
 Per Share  Date Date Date
Regular 0.25 17-Feb-12 05-Mar-12 27-Mar-12
Regular 0.25 04-Oct-12 18-Oct-12 12-Nov-12
Special 0.50 06-Dec-12 21-Dec-12 18-Jan-13

 The cash dividends declared by the Board in 2011 were:

Classification Peso Rate  Declaration Record Payable
 Per Share  Date Date Date
Regular 0.12 18-Feb-11 07-Mar-11 30-Mar-11
Special 0.12 11-Oct-11  26-Oct-11 21-Nov-11
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      There is no restriction on payment of dividends other than the availability 
of retained earnings following the SEC rule on calculation of available retained 
earnings for dividend declaration.  As of 31 December 2012, the Company 
has sufficient retained earnings available for dividend declaration. 

 

Security Holders

The top 20 stockholders as of 28 February 2013 are as follows:
  

 Stockholder Name Number of % of
   Common Shares  Ownership
1. Anscor Consolidated Corporation 1,241,717,039   49.669 %
2. PCD Nominee Corp. (Non-Filipino)    466,946,432   18.678 %
3. A-Z Asia Limited Philippines, Inc    176,646,329     7.066 %
4. PCD Nominee Corp. (Filipino)    148,030,434    5.921 %
5. Universal Robina Corporation      64,605,739     2.584 %
6. Andres Soriano III      50,490,265     2.020 %
7. Phil. International Life Insurance Co.      49,002,875      1.960 %
8. C & E Property Holdings, Inc.      28,011,922     1.120 %
9. Edmen Property Holdings Inc.      27,511,925     1.100 %
10. MCMS Property Holdings, Inc      26,513,928     1.061 %
11. Express Holdings, Inc.      23,210,457      0.928 %
12. EJS Holdings, Inc.      16,018,782       0.641 %
13. Dao Investment & Management Corp.        8,628,406      0.345 %
14. Philippine Remnants Co., Inc.        7,556,183      0.302 %
15. Oscar J. Hilado        6,020,000      0.241 %
16. Balangingi Shipping Corporation        2,767,187      0.111 %
17. Leonardo T. Siguion Reyna        2,625,000      0.105 %
 18. Dolmar Real Estate Dev. Corporation        2,531,106      0.101 %
19. Jocelyn C. Lee        2,000,000      0.080 %
20. Lennie C. Lee  2,000,000      0.080 %

                 
There are no recent sales of unregistered or exempt securities including 

recent issuance of securities constituting an exempt transaction.
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ANNEX A

Resolutions Approved During the Meetings of the Board of 
Directors of A. Soriano Corporation for the Period April 11, 
2012 to February 21, 2013

1. Board Meeting held on April 11, 2012

 RESOLVED, That the Board of Directors of A. Soriano Corporation 
by unanimous concurrence, submits herewith the Statement and 
Annual Report of the Chairman of the Board of Directors and 
President of the Corporation as its own Report to the Stockholders 
for the year ended December 31, 2011.

2. Board Meeting held on June 4, 2012

2.1 RESOLVED, That the Corporation hereby designates BPI Asset 
Management and Trust Group as Trustee of the Corporation’s 
Retirement Trust Fund;

 RESOLVED, FURTHER, that the Corporation’s Executive Vice 
President and Chief Financial Officer, Mr. Ernest K. Cuyegkeng 
and Vice President-Comptroller, Ms. Nancie Villaflor, are hereby 
authorized to sign the Trust Agreement with BPI Asset Management 
and Trust Group and all documents necessary to give full force and 
effect to the foregoing resolution;

 RESOLVED, FINALLY, That any two (2) of the following officers be 
authorized to sign, execute and deliver any withdrawal from the 
fund resulting from separation, retirement or loan availment of the 
Corporation’s employees:  

 Mr. Andres Soriano  III
 Mr. Eduardo J. Soriano
 Mr. Ernest K. Cuyegkeng
 Ms. Narcisa M. Villaflor
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2.2 RESOLVED,  That the following officers shall be the signatories 
of the Company in connection with the Company’s Retirement 
Trust Fund with the BDO Unibank, Inc. to make any withdrawals 
therefrom:

Singly:    Mr. Andres Soriano III
      Mr. Eduardo J. Soriano

Jointly:   Mr. Ernest K. Cuyegkeng
       Ms. Narcisa M. Villaflor

               Atty. Joshua L. Castro   

 RESOLVED, FINALLY, That Messrs. Ernest K. Cuyegkeng and 
Joshua L. Castro are  authorized to sign and execute whatever 
documents or agreements may be necessary to carry out the 
foregoing resolutions.

2.3 RESOLVED, That Atty. Joshua L. Castro, Assistant Corporate 
Secretary, is hereby authorized to sign documents relative 
to the Company’s application for retention plan with Smart 
Communications, Inc.

3.  Board Meeting held on October 4, 2012 

3.1 RESOLVED, as it is hereby resolved, that there is hereby declared 
out of the surplus profits of the Corporation, a cash dividend of 
Twenty Five Centavos (E0.25) per share on the common stock of 
the Corporation, payable on November 12, 2012, to all stockholders 
of record as of the close of business on October 18, 2012, and Mr. 
Ernest K. Cuyegkeng, the Corporation’s Executive Vice President 
and Chief Financial Officer, is hereby directed and authorized to 
cause the payment of the said cash dividend on the specified date.
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3.2 RESOLVED, as it is hereby resolved, that A. Soriano Corporation 
(the “Corporation”) is empowered and authorized to renew its 
working capital facilities with Bank of the Philippine Islands (BPI) 
as follows:

FACILITY  AMOUNT

Revolving Promissory Note Line (RPNL) E 300,000,000.00
Bills Purchase Line (BPL) E 20,000,000.00
Foreign Exchange Line E 50,000,000.00
  (US$1,190,000.00)

RESOLVED, FURTHER, That any two of the following officers of the 
Corporation, namely:

NAME POSITION

Mr. Andres Soriano III Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Mr. Eduardo  J. Soriano Vice Chairman and Treasurer
Mr. Ernest K. Cuyegkeng Executive Vice President and CFO
Mr. Jose C. Ibazeta Director
Atty. Joshua L. Castro Executive Asst. and Asst. Corporate   

  Secretary
Ms. Emelinda P. Orozco Manager (up to E100,000.00 only)

 be authorized, as they are hereby authorized, directed and 
empowered, in the name and for the account of the Corporation, 
to negotiate for and enter into the foregoing transactions with 
BPI under such terms and conditions as may be acceptable to 
the aforementioned officers, and to execute, sign and deliver any 
and all promissory notes, instruments, agreements, contracts 
and documents that may be necessary and/or required for the 
implementation of the foregoing transaction;

 RESOLVED, FINALLY, That all transactions, warranties, 
representations, covenants, dealings and  agreements by the 
aforementioned officers of the Corporation with BPI prior to the 
approval of this Resolution are all hereby approved, confirmed and 
ratified to be the valid and binding acts, representations, warranties 
and covenants of the Corporation.    
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4.  Board Meeting held on December 6, 2012 

 RESOLVED, as it is hereby resolved, that there is hereby declared 
out of the surplus profits of the Corporation, a special cash dividend 
of Twenty Five Centavos (P0.50) per share on the common stock of 
the Corporation, payable on January 18, 2013, to all stockholders 
of record as of the close of business on December 21, 2012, and Mr. 
Ernest K. Cuyegkeng, the Corporation’s Executive Vice President 
and Chief Financial Officer, is hereby directed and authorized to 
cause the payment of the said cash dividend on the specified date.

5.  Board Meeting held on February 21, 2013 

5.1 “RESOLVED, as it is hereby resolved, that the Board of Directors 
hereby approve the additional appropriation of the Company’s 
unrestricted retained earnings amounting to E0.9 billion, which 
will be used for the Company’s investment program within three 
years on business activities gearing towards service sector, 
tourism, telecommunication, manufacturing and petroleum, whose 
operations are based within and outside the Philippines.”

5.2 “RESOLVED, as it is hereby resolved, that the Audited Financial 
Statements of the Corporation for the period ended December 31, 
2012 is hereby approved.”

5.3 “The Board proceeded to approve  the record date, proxy validation 
date and the date of the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting as follows:

 Record Date – March 15, 2013
 Proxy Validation Date - April 10, 2013
 Date of Stockholders’ Meeting – April 17, 2013
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COnCurrent resOlutiOn OF the BOarD OF DireCtOrs

The Board of Directors of A. Soriano Corporation

by unanimous concurrence, submits herewith the Statement

and Annual Report of the Chairman of the Board

and President of the Corporation as its own Report

to Stockholders for the year ended December 31, 2012.
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The Economy in 2012 

The world economy dodged two disasters most feared in 2012 – a break-up of the euro zone and a 
fall off the US fiscal cliff; as Europe’s central bankers pledged support for sovereign bonds and the US 
Congress approved a stop-gap suspension of automatic tax hikes and spending cuts.

 
Still, prospects of unified action toward recovery remain 

fragile.  Discord runs high in Europe as governments impose 
austerity measures that worsen unemployment.  The US 
legislature seems mired in wrangling over the gap between 
government outlays and revenues, and the threat of debt 
default.  Uncertainty likewise hangs over the Middle East as 
ethnic and political dissidents unsettle the ruling elite.

 
Within this troubled setting, the positive signs in the US 

are weak but steady job creation, gradual housing market 
recovery, and more confident consumer spending.  In China, 
a growth slowdown ended and exports regained vigor in late 
2012. Asia Pacific is now the world’s fastest growing region, 
though still vulnerable to fall-out from fiscal contraction or 
deeper recession in its trading partners.

 
The Philippine economy topped official targets and grew 

6.6%, fueled by the services, real estate and manufacturing 
sectors, higher OFW remittances, strong domestic 
consumption amid low inflation, and the government’s public-
private partnership infrastructure program.

 
Public construction led the way in the first half of 2012, 

then the private sector took over in the second half.  Also 
notable was the growth of the electricity, gas, and water 
sectors in support of livelier economic activity.  Exports 
of goods and services grew less than expected owing to 
the global slowdown and the appreciation of the peso, but 
nevertheless rebounded from 2011.

2012 Financial Performance

Your Company posted consolidated gross revenues of E3.72 billion, 32% higher than last year’s 
E2.81 billion, and earned a consolidated net income of E1.47 billion, a 48% gain over E994.5 million.

 
In the financial portfolio, the investment gain on sale of marketable securities reached E1.17 billion, 

73% above last year’s E676.84 million, due to a higher volume of shares sold in a vibrant stock 
market.  Dividend income of E231.96 million was almost the same as last year. Interest income dipped 
to E93.51 million versus 2011’s E120.20 million, as interest rates of most financial assets declined. 

 
The market value of investments carried at fair value through profit and loss increased by 

E67.24 million, versus the E7.24 million decrease in 2011.

Buoyed by domestic consumption and foreign investor readings of the country’s fiscal position, 
the peso strengthened against the US dollar and the euro.  This lowered the peso value of Anscor’s 
foreign currency-denominated investments, resulting in a foreign exchange loss of E78.73 million, net 
of hedging gains of E22.92 million.

Chairman’s Message
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Three cash dividends, totaling E1.00 per share, were declared during the year.  Your Board of Directors 
approved the first on February 17, paying E0.25 per share on March 27 to shareholders of record as of 
March 5; a second dividend of E0.25 per share on October 4, paid on November 12 to shareholders of 
record as of October 18; and a third dividend of E0.50 per share on December 6, paid from December 21, 
2012 to January 18, 2013 to stockholders of record as of December 21. These three dividends amounted 
to E625 million, E625 million and E1.25 billion, respectively. Over the last five years, dividends paid made 
up 79% of net income for the corresponding period.  

Book value per share was E9.69 as of December 31, 2012.

The operating businesses, sometimes facing variable markets,  turned to innovation, process 
improvement, and new revenue opportunities and delivered creditable results.  

Group Operations

Phelps Dodge Philippines Energy Products Corporation (PDP Energy)

PDP Energy set a record in net income of E389  million in 2012, 77% over the E220 million earned 
in 2011, despite a drop in revenue to E6.2 billion from the previous year’s E6.5 billion, as the company’s 
export activity fell 50% due to lower demand in foreign markets. The decrease in sales was offset by a more 
favorable domestic product mix  and more efficient production costs.

 
The domestic markets’ high growth was most evident in the industrial, commercial, and residential 

construction and energy sub-sectors.  Sales through its distribution network increased significantly in both 
Metro Manila and the regions, as strategies to penetrate the provincial retail markets showed early success. 
Domestic sales revenue increased from E5.0 billion in 2011 to E5.4 billion in 2012.

 
PDP’s business-to-business sales also jumped 20% as the company clinched numerous projects in 

Manila and the provinces.  Domestic sales growth was tempered by some softening in the utilities, food 
and telephone sub-sectors.

As part of the General Cable Group, PDP offers a larger portfolio of premium quality products like 
special cables for export, medium and high voltage cables, low-smoke halogen- free cables,  aluminum 
cables, and access to technology and best practices that constitute a competitive edge.  Its commercial 
programs, broader range of offerings and delivery record combined with fine tuning of manufacturing 
processes, aimed to increase margins, create new value and firm up market share.

Seven Seas Resorts & Leisure, Inc. (Owner of Amanpulo)
 

Occupancy at Amanpulo ebbed 1.3% as Europe’s turmoil led to an 11% drop in resort arrivals from 
that region, with typhoons causing  further cancellations.  The Resort refocused  its marketing efforts and  
domestic travelers are now Amanpulo’s foremost patrons, comprising 26% of total guests compared to 
last year’s 23%.

 
The Resort generated revenues of E545 million, a 5% improvement, mainly from slight increases in 

room and food and beverage revenues and higher villa management and handling fees, that rose from E50 
million in 2011 to E56 million in 2012. Average room rate was raised by US $88 to US $1,011 per night.  Net 
profit grew by E26 million to E50 million. 

Amanpulo is channeling investments toward care for its environment and human resources, with 
construction of the new seawall at the eastern side of the island  and a staff building;  the latter’s utilities 
will be solar-powered.

The 22nd Annual Reader for the 2012 Gallivanter’s Awards for Excellence recognized Amanpulo as Best 
Leisure Resort Worldwide and Best Small Hotel/Resort under 100 rooms.  Trip Advisor awarded Amanpulo 
a Certificate of Excellence as Palawan’s Number 1 resort.
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Cirrus Medical Staffing, Inc. 

Demand for temporary healthcare staff in the US grew at an uneven pace through 2012; nursing 
demand rose  steadily while demand for physical therapists slowed in the second half as cuts to Medicare, 
as a result of the fiscal cliff, loomed. Revenues rose 14% to E1.1 billion, and operating income increased 
from breakeven in 2011 to E5.5 million in 2012.

Cirrus stepped up investments in both recruitment and account management personnel and opened 
a branch in Fort Lauderdale, Florida in early 2013 to tap into the area’s large pool of healthcare talent.  
User traffic continued to rise at NurseTogether, which turned profitable, as its on-line properties catered to 
advertisers targeting healthcare professionals.  It is developing an improved technology platform and the 
revamped site will launch in the first quarter of 2013.

The Affordable Health Act, also known as “Obamacare”, will begin to go into effect over the next few 
years. One of its central aims is to reduce the number of uninsured in the United States and this, along with 
the ageing population, will underpin demand for nursing services.  

KSA Realty Corporation

New office buildings opened in the Makati Central Business District and secondary locations, 
heightening competition in the office leasing market.  The Enterprise Center started 2012 with the loss of an 
anchor tenant equivalent to five floors or about 85,000 square meters.

However, by midyear new lessees signed up and existing tenants expanded leased areas, and the 
Center ended the year with an average occupancy rate of 86% versus 87% in 2011, and up to 98% in 
committed leases.  Rental yield was E791 per square meter, versus E768 in the previous year.

KSA’s 2012 gross revenue was E765 million, and net income was E528 million, 6% lower than last 
year, attributable to the lower fair value adjustment in investment property of E66 million compared to 
E157 million in 2011.  KSA declared and paid cash dividends of E250 million, of which E28.6 million 
accrued to Anscor. 

 
Enderun Colleges, Inc.

 
With enrollment rising 15% to 1,091 full-time college and certificate students in the current school 

year, Enderun’s operating profit surged 50% to E15 million, from E10 million last year.  Revenues gained 
22% to reach E362 million in school year 2011-2012.  Significant contributors to revenue growth were the 
continuing education unit Enderun Extension, whose revenues climbed 89% to E40 million, and Restaurant 
101-Banquet Operations, which generated E28 million, a 56% rise.

Enderun held its third graduation rites in April 2012, conferring BS International Hospitality Management 
degrees to 94 students.  During the year, 244 students completed internships in 13 countries, bringing to 
930 the number that the school has placed since 2006.  International internships in 2012 totaled 125, or 
51% of this year’s batch.

In April 2012, Enderun signed an agreement with Thunderbird School of Global Management of Arizona, 
USA, making its College of Business the first partner of Thunderbird Online in the Philippines.  Thunderbird 
ranked number 1 in international business in Bloomberg Businessweek’s listing of Best B-Schools for 2012.

The continuing upgrade of campus facilities has produced five additional classrooms, a new state-of-
the-art kitchen and a multi-purpose covered court.
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Prople, Inc.

2012 was a breakthrough year for Prople, Inc., as total revenues grew 33% to E126 million, EBITDA 
margin swelled to E20 million from break-even in 2011, and the firm recorded its first net income after tax 
of E5.7 million.

Sustained investments in technology, processes and productivity pushed down overhead costs from 
49% of revenues to 39%, and raised contribution margin from 41% of revenues to 47% in 2012.

The company expanded its business in the US and the Philippines, adding 33 customers and securing 
contracts with longer service terms, ending the year with 135 clients and 247 employees.  KPO consulting, 
HR, and Information and Technology (IT) services were Prople’s fastest growing segments, gaining by 85%, 
70%, and 70%, respectively.  The firm’s HR, IT, Finance and Accounting, and Consulting services now 
reflect a more balanced mix of business lines.  Proprietary cloud technologies and proven capability to 
integrate processes, people, and systems remain the key selling proposition for clients drawn to augmented 
value.

AG&P International Holdings Ltd.

As stated in the last Annual Report, in December 2011 Anscor invested in AG&P,  Southeast Asia’s 
leading modular fabricator of refinery and petrochemical plants, power plants and other facilities.

                
Three major achievements in 2012 bear highlighting: 

 In August 2012, AG&P and ALE, a leading marine engineering and heavy lift company, were  awarded 
a major  two-year contract to develop, own (on a 50/50 basis), operate and maintain  a proprietary Module 
Offloading Facility Transition Pontoon (MOFTP) for initial deployment  near Darwin, Australia. The MOFTP’s 
technological innovations overcome tidal limitations  and supply-chain bottlenecks.  Engineering work has 
begun and the pontoon should be  completed by end-2013.

 
In September 2012, AG&P and Fluor Corporation agreed to form a long-term, committed joint  venture, 

which will serve Fluor’s global modularization needs.  AG&P will provide Fluor with a  sub-area of land within 
an existing AG&P yard in Batangas that AG&P will operate.  President Aquino hailed the joint venture, called 
AG&P-Fluor, as a major step in developing  the Philippines into an industrial hub.  The new yard will open 
in June 2013.

 
In October 2012, AG&P won a US$152 million contract to modularize 26 local electrical  rooms (LER) 

and local instrumentation rooms (LIR) that will be the electrical backbone of a  consortium project to provide 
liquid natural gas from Australia to Japan and other countries.   Fabrication for the three-year project, to start 
in 2013, will demonstrate AG&P’s capability to  develop mission-ready modules, outfitted with electrical and 
instrumentation systems  installed and tested prior to shipment from Batangas to Northern Australia.

 
To attain the record capacity levels called for by new contracts, even as existing projects  reach peak 

activity, AG&P has treated 2012 as an investment period during which it  restructured its procurement and 
project management functions and streamlined its  fabrication yard to meet global standards.

Alphion Corporation

Alphion is positioning itself as a global provider of Gigabit Passive Optimal Networks (GPON)  solutions 
with a track record of implementation in 50 Indian cities as well as in the US,  Canada and Russia.  As stated 
in 2010 Annual Report, it does business  largely with two of India’s biggest   telecommunications firms.
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However, that country’s telecoms industry has been roiled by a scandal that led to the Indian Supreme 
Court’s ordered cancellation in February 2012 of 122 mobile licenses granted under questionable 
circumstances.  The ruling does not implicate Alphion’s clients, but its  impact has contributed to delays 
in Alphion’s collections and purchase orders from new customers, and the company is encountering some 
cash tightness.

Despite these difficulties, Alphion continues to win contracts with its strong technology and its Board 
and management team are guiding efforts to diversify into other industry sectors  and geographic regions.

Predictive Edge Technologies, LLC

In the first quarter of 2012, Anscor’s holdings in Predictive Edge Media Holdings, LLC  (PEMH), first 
acquired in October 2011, were exchanged for an interest in Predictive Edge  Technologies, LLC (“Predictive”), 
PEMH’s parent company. 

Predictive has a range of proprietary algorithms that examine large amounts of unstructured data to 
uncover patterns and correlations and compile a series of indices that sharpen  decision-making. This 
methodology,  known as “Big Data Analytics”, targets a $5 billion  market that is growing rapidly.

Predictive’s prospective customers are consumer goods and pharmaceutical industries, political 
campaigns, and their support groups. The company focused during the year on  continued development 
of its Smart View analytical product and expansion of its sales and  marketing staff. As an early-stage 
development company, it made no profits in 2012.

Corporate Social Responsibility 

In its 44th year, the Andres Soriano Foundation (ASF) extended the reach of its Small Islands Sustainable 
Development Program (SISDEP) in Northeastern Palawan, marked another milestone in cancer care, and 
lent a helping hand to Typhoon Pablo victims in Compostela Valley.

SISDEP’s highlights for 2012:
•	 After	the	annual	Health	Caravan	attracted	1,927	patients	(up	from	1,693	in	2011)	and	supplementary	

feeding benefited 581 children, the Palawan Provincial Health Office declared Agutaya town second 
lowest in malnutrition prevalence, from having the highest malnutrition rate in 2010.

•	 The	Coastal	Resource	Management	Program	increased	live	coral	cover	in	11	fish	sanctuaries	(up	
from last year’s 10); added 9,550 mangrove seedlings to last year’s 11,000 planted in denuded 
areas; and assured conservation of two lagoons as reef fish spawning areas.

•	 The	Solid	Waste	Management	Program	added	a	new	material	recovery	facility	in	an	island	village,	
similar to last year’s installation on Manamoc Island.  Both elementary and high schools in Agutaya 
practice waste segregation within their campuses, and have integrated solid waste management 
into the science curriculum.

•	 ASF	sourced	funding	from	Share	Foundation	in	Portugal	for	solar	panels	producing	1-kw	off-grid	
power for a local health center.

•	 ASF’s	adopt-a-school	program	constructed	four	kindergarten	classroom	buildings,	supported	two	
academic scholars, and with funding from PDP, Anscor, AG&P and an ASF trustee, enrolled eight 
out-of-school youth in a vocational course offered by AG&P.

•	 A	 E3.13 million Level 2 Potable Water System Project, partially funded by Aus-Aid’s 
Philippine-Australia Community Development Program, was completed in 2012 and now 
serves 104 households in Poblacion, Agutaya.

The Cancer Care Program launched the country’s first run of a six-month specialized oncology nursing 
course in partnership with cancer support organization Forum Against Cancer through Encouragement and 
Support and La Salle Bacolod School of Nursing.
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With donations from Anscor, ASF distributed food packages to 2,700 victims of typhoon Pablo in 
Compostela Province.

The Foundation received the Seal of Good Housekeeping from the Philippine Council for NGO 
Certification for compliance with transparency and accountability standards.  Consequently, the Bureau 
of Internal Revenue issued to ASF its third five-year certificate as a donee institution, which grants a tax 
incentive to Filipino corporate and individual donors.

Outlook and Investment Strategy

Last year’s positive momentum is expected to carry over to 2013 and the business community’s mood 
is decidedly upbeat today.  International banks and rating agencies have, one after another, revised their 
Philippine forecasts upward.  New tax measures make another credit upgrade feasible; a high-profile 
anti-corruption campaign underscores accountability in fund use;  benign interest rates should encourage 
lending, investment, and consumer demand; and election spending will  all perk up the economy further.

The Philippines remains linked, through trade, tourism and overseas employment, to the rest of the 
world.  Our policy makers and business chambers  are acutely aware that, even as the more advanced 
nations focus on paying down debt, keeping Europe integrated, and forging the compromises needed 
to prevent an American relapse, the Philippines needs concerted action to ensure that its own growth is 
inclusive and sustainable.

This means pulling in considerably greater direct investment in factories, transport and communications 
infrastructure; reliable supply of power at reasonable cost; alignment of policy and regulation at national and 
local levels; and fast-tracked educational reform that produces a multiskilled and competitive workforce.  
The country lags behind other Southeast Asian nations in attracting foreign direct investment, but resolute 
efforts along these lines will reverse this reality.

Your Company has sought to contribute its share to the national endeavor by ensuring that its assets 
and operations consistently yield estimable returns to its shareowners and investors.  As noted earlier, 
interest rates of financial assets, here and elsewhere, have fallen of late; but we are gratified that our 
operating and direct investments have amply demonstrated an enduring ability to ride out adverse periods 
and stiff competition (as in KSA), entice different market segments when traditional ones turn tepid (as 
in Amanpulo), identify new talent sources and revenue potential (as in Cirrus), collaborate with partners 
to develop human competencies (as in Enderun), win new customers through higher quality and product 
diversity (as in PDP), and grow through superior technology and business models that move us up the value 
chain (as in Prople and AG&P).  In our best judgment, it is time to leverage these strengths by reducing our 
financial assets and shifting resources to direct investments and operations that offer better prospects of 
growth.

As always, the abiding commitment to protect and enhance your shareholder value will guide our every 
strategic decision.

Once again, your Board of Directors joins me in expressing profound thanks and appreciation for our 
shareholders’ trust, our employees’ dedication, and our customers’ loyal patronage.

   

ANDRES SORIANO III
Chairman of the Board & President
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Financial Highlights

(In Million Pesos Except for Ratios and Per Share Data)

 * Attributable to equity holdings of the parent.

 ** Based on weighted average number of shares of  1,374.3 million in 2012, 1,350.8 million in 

2011 and 1,351.6 million in 2010.

 ***  Based on outstanding shares of 1,258.2 million, 1,298.6 million and 1,301.6 million as of 

  December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively and excluding noncontrolling interests.

  

COnSOlIdaTEd  aT  YEaR-End 12-31-12 12-31-11 12-31-10 
 
Total Assets    13,923.8  12,550.1 11,430.3 
Equity Attributable to Equity Holdings
 of the Parent  12,187.9  11,291.5 10,776.1
Investment Portfolio  11,551.6  10,519.4 8,742.5 
Current Ratio   1.80  3.24 7.04 
Debt to Equity Ratio  0.11  0.08 0.06
Book Value Per Share*** 9.69  8.69 8.28

COnSOlIdaTEd FOR  THE  YEaR 2012 2011 2010 
REVENUES   3,716.5 2,807.8 3,501.9 
Services   1,918.8  1,572.7 866.1 
Gain on sale of available for sale (AFS)
 investments  1,169.3 676.8 2,091.9 
Dividend income 232.0 223.2 145.7
Equity in net earnings of associates 155.3  93.0 115.2
Interest income   93.5  120.2 111.2
Gain (loss) on increase (decrease)
 in market values of fair value through 
 profit or loss (FVPL) investments  67.2  (7.2) 99.9
Management fees 55.8  36.1 37.8
Gain on sale - others  3.5 56.6 –
Other income  21.0  36.4 34.1

Recoveries (valuation allowances) - net (70.5)  34.3 (185.8) 

Foreign exchange loss - net (78.7)  (7.4) (138.4) 

NET INCOME*  1,470.5  994.5 1,975.4 

EARNINGS PER SHARE** 1.07  0.74 1.46
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(In Million Pesos)

Available figures as of March 4, 2013.

Note 1: Inclusive of PD Energy International Corporation’s financial information.

   2012 2011  

 
Phelps dodge Philippines

Energy Products Corporation (note 1)

 Revenues 6,170  6,509  

  Net Income 389  220  

  Total Assets 2,890  2,828  

  Equity 2,012  1,737

Cirrus Medical Staffing, Inc. and Subsidiaries
 

 Revenues 1,146  1,004 

 Income (Loss)  Before Tax 3  (6)  

  Total Assets 838  819  

  Equity 732  572

Seven Seas Resorts and leisure, Inc.

 Revenues  545 517

 Net Income 50  24

 Total Assets 1,057  1,039  

  Equity 703  653

Revenues  – Other  affiliates   

 

 KSA Realty Corporation  765 857  

  Enderun Colleges, Inc. 362  297 

 Island Aviation, Inc. 175  157

 Prople, Inc. 126  95 

 Cirrus Global, Inc. (consolidated; formerly IQMAN) 55  10 

Group’s Key Financial Data
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      GROSS  TOTAL INVESTMENT  
 YEAR  REVENUES    ASSETS PORTFOLIO

 2012 3,716.5  13,923.8  11,551.6 

 2011 2,807.8 12,550.1 10,519.4

 2010 3,501.9 11,430.3 8,742.5

 2009 1,736.2 8,354.7 7,173.7

 2008 (Note 1) 2,271.0 6,942.0 5,023.2

Note 1 Included the one-time gain on sale of PDIPI and eTelecare shares amounting to 
  E312.3 million and E740.4 million, respectively.

 * Ratio of net income to weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year.

 ** Ratio of equity attributable to equity holdings of the parent to outstanding number of shares 
as of end-December.

Consolidated Financial Information 
(In Million Pesos Except Per Share Data)

   EQUITY WEIGHTED 
   ATTRIBUTABLE AVERAGE  BOOK
   TO EQUITY NUMBER OF EARNINGS VALUE
  NET HOLDINGS OF   SHARES PER PER  
 YEAR INCOME THE PARENT OUTSTANDING *SHARE  **SHARE

 2012 1,470.5  12,187.9  1,374.3  1.07  9.69 

 2011 994.5 11,291.5 1,350.7 0.74 8.69

 2010 1,975.4 10,776.1 1,351.6 1.46 8.28

 2009 289.6 7,453.9 1,442.6 0.20 5.17

 2008
   (Note 1) 776.0 6,018.6 1,502.3 0.52 4.17

Five-Year Review
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Consolidated Total Assets 
and Investment Portfolio

Equity Attributable 
to Equity Holdings of the Parent

Consolidated Investment Portfolio Details
December 31, 2012

In Million Pesos
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The management of A. Soriano Corporation is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, including the additional 
components attached therein, in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility 
includes designing and implementing internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies, and making accounting estimates that are reasonable 
in the circumstances. 

The Board of Directors reviews and approves the consolidated financial statements and submits the same 
to the stockholders. 

SyCip Gorres Velayo & Co., the independent auditors appointed by the stockholders for the years ended 
December 31, 2012 and 2011, has examined the consolidated financial statements of the Company in 
accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing, and in its report to the stockholders, has expressed its 
opinion on the fairness of presentation upon completion of such examination.

                                                             

 andRES SORIanO III ERnEST K. CUYEGKEnG         
 Chairman & Chief Executive Vice President & 
             Executive Officer/President Chief Financial Officer

Signed this 21st day of February 2013    
                

REPUBLIC OF THE PHILIPPINES)
MAKATI CITY, METRO MANILA    ) S.S.

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me this 21st day of February 2013 affiants exhibited to me the 
following:

 naME PaSSPORT nO. daTE & PlaCE OF ISSUE
 Andres Soriano III 711786600 Aug. 11, 2005 to Aug. 10, 2015/ U.S.  

 Ernest K. Cuyegkeng XX3032586 Feb. 17, 2009 to Feb. 16, 2014/Manila

Doc. No. 368;    
Page No. 73;    
Book No. III;
Series of 2013.

Statement of Management’s Responsibility

Ma. dOnna V. aREValO
Appointment No.  M-495

Notary Public for Makati City
Until December 31, 2013

18th, 19th & 17th Floors, Liberty Center
104 H.V. Dela Costa St.

Salcedo Village, Makati City
Roll of Attorneys No. 60352

PTR No. 3676663/Makati City/01-17-2013
IBP No. 908422/RSM/01-022013
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The Stockholders and the Board of directors
a. Soriano Corporation
7th Floor, Pacific Star Building
Makati Avenue corner Gil Puyat Avenue Extension
Makati City

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of A. Soriano Corporation and 
Subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as at December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the 
consolidated statements of income, statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and 
statements of cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2012, and a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.  

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

SyCip Gorres Velayo & Co.
6760 Ayala Avenue
1226 Makati City
Philippines

Phone: (632) 891 0307
Fax: (632) 819 0872
www.sgv.com.ph

BOA/PRC Reg. No. 0001,
 December 28, 2012, valid until December 31, 2015
SEC Accreditation No. 0012-FR-3 (Group A),
 November 15, 2012, valid until November 16, 2015

Independent auditors’ Report

Audited Consolidated Financial Statements
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auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.  
We conducted our audits in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require that we 
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the consolidated financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including 
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.

 

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of A. Soriano Corporation and Subsidiaries as at December 31, 2012 and 2011, and their financial 
performance and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2012, in 
accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards.

SYCIP GORRES VElaYO & CO.

Josephine H. Estomo
Partner
CPA Certificate No. 46349
SEC Accreditation No. 0078-AR-3 (Group A),
 February 14, 2013, valid until February 13, 2016
Tax Identification No. 102-086-208
BIR Accreditation No. 08-001998-18-2012,
 April 11, 2012, valid until April 10, 2015
PTR No. 3669680, January 2, 2013, Makati City

February 21, 2013
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

                                   december 31
    2012  2011
aSSETS  
Current assets  
Cash and cash equivalents (Notes 6 and 7) E 870,552,614 E 542,426,682
Fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) investments (Note 8)  534,168,795  883,456,012
Receivables (Notes 6 and 9)  355,962,623  335,048,616
Inventories (Notes 6 and 10)  88,365,726  83,192,215
Available-for-sale (AFS) investments - current (Note 11)  46,578,955  59,542,830
Prepayments and other current assets (Notes 6 and 29)  84,025,791  58,532,769
Total Current assets  1,979,654,504  1,962,199,124

noncurrent assets  
AFS investments - net of current portion (Note 11)  9,272,047,012  8,034,234,901
Investments and advances (Note 12)  919,282,979  725,232,813
Goodwill (Note 6)  565,712,343  604,598,071
Property and equipment (Notes 6, 13 and 18)  874,662,596  906,768,274
Investment properties (Notes 6, 14 and 29)  216,432,223  216,432,223
Retirement plan asset (Notes 6 and 23)  12,248,746  –
Other noncurrent assets (Notes 6, 15 and 29)  83,744,143  100,593,994
Total noncurrent assets  11,944,130,042  10,587,860,276
TOTal aSSETS E 13,923,784,546 E 12,550,059,400

lIaBIlITIES and EQUITY  
Current liabilities  
Notes payable (Note 16) E 332,189,721 E 86,797,229
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (Notes 6, 17 and 29)  368,403,546  346,976,595
Dividends payable (Note 19)  369,162,064  146,644,057
Income tax payable  2,675,309  1,113,407
Current portion of long-term debt (Notes 6 and 18)  28,976,456  23,854,113
Total Current liabilities  1,101,407,096  605,385,401

noncurrent liabilities  
Long-term debt - net of current portion (Notes 6 and 18)  116,929,430  118,625,887
Deferred revenues (Note 29)  29,675,045  80,142,589
Deferred income tax liabilities - net (Notes 6 and 24)  71,107,028  43,273,997
Retirement benefits payable (Notes 6 and 23)  26,558,505  43,297,692
Other noncurrent liabilities (Notes 6, 15 and 29)  51,373,839  49,809,710
Total noncurrent liabilities  295,643,847  335,149,875
Total liabilities  1,397,050,943  940,535,276
Equity attributable to Equity Holdings of the Parent  (Note 19)  
Capital stock - E1 par value  2,500,000,000  2,500,000,000
Additional paid-in capital  1,574,103,911  1,574,103,911
Equity reserve on acquisition of noncontrolling interest (Note 3)  (26,356,543)  (26,356,543)
Cumulative translation adjustment  (156,169,590)  (70,632,555)
Unrealized valuation gains on AFS investments (Note 11)  3,458,799,647  2,495,985,688
Retained earnings:  
 Appropriated (Note 19)  2,100,000,000  2,100,000,000
 Unappropriated (Note 19)  4,757,264,098  4,555,062,107
Cost of shares held by a subsidiary (1,241,797,039 shares 
 in 2012 and 1,201,397,039 shares in 2011) (Note 19)  (2,019,724,599)  (1,836,655,862)
    12,187,916,924  11,291,506,746
noncontrolling Interests (Note 3)  338,816,679  318,017,378
Total Equity  12,526,733,603  11,609,524,124
TOTal lIaBIlITIES and EQUITY E 13,923,784,546 E 12,550,059,400

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Income

     Years Ended december 31
    2012  2011  2010
REVEnUES   
Services (Note 29) E 1,918,796,648 E 1,572,687,890 E 866,112,933
Dividend income (Notes 8 and 11)  231,958,775  223,197,863  145,749,114
Equity in net earnings of associates (Note 12)  155,327,752  93,029,847  115,224,619
Interest income (Notes 8, 11 and 22)  93,512,782  120,204,004  111,236,357
Management fee (Note 29)  55,776,625  36,064,697  37,754,660
Others   21,049,349  36,435,545  34,077,196
    2,476,421,931  2,081,619,846  1,310,154,879
InVESTMEnT GaInS (lOSSES)   
Gain on sale of:   
 AFS investments (Note 11)  1,169,315,456  676,840,454  2,091,925,238
 Property and equipment and investment  
  property (Notes 13 and 14)  3,510,150  39,885,688  –
 Long-term investments (Note 3)  –  16,725,079  –
Gain (loss) on increase (decrease) in market 
 values of FVPL investments (Note 8)  67,242,449  (7,243,193)  99,867,962
    1,240,068,055  726,208,028  2,191,793,200
TOTAL    3,716,489,986  2,807,827,874  3,501,948,079
Costs of services rendered (Note 20)  (1,287,980,518)  (1,108,860,054)  (714,101,500)
Operating expenses (Note 20)  (719,882,096)  (691,909,530)  (445,459,266)
Recoveries (valuation allowances) - net (Note 22)  (70,521,700)  34,259,012  (185,766,042)
Foreign exchange loss - net   (78,729,221)  (7,446,980)  (138,365,146)
Interest expense (Note 22)  (18,246,049)  (9,092,211)  (13,934,412)
Other income (expenses) - net (Note 29)  (15,181,076)  2,441,843  (15,666,088)
    (2,190,540,660)  (1,780,607,920)    (1,513,292,454)
InCOME BEFORE InCOME TaX  1,525,949,326  1,027,219,954  1,988,655,625

PROVISIOn FOR InCOME TaX (Note 24)  34,102,770  30,943,621  11,932,537
nET InCOME E 1,491,846,556 E 996,276,333 E 1,976,723,088

Attributable to:   
Equity holdings of the Parent  E 1,470,504,952 E 994,506,977 E 1,975,357,978
Noncontrolling interests  21,341,604  1,769,356  1,365,110 
   E 1,491,846,556 E 996,276,333 E 1,976,723,088

Earnings per share   
Basic/diluted, for net income attributable 
 to equity holdings of the Parent (Note 25) E 1.07 E 0.74 E 1.46

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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                             Years Ended december 31
    2012  2011  2010
nET InCOME E 1,491,846,556 E 996,276,333 E 1,976,723,088

OTHER COMPREHEnSIVE InCOME (lOSS)   
Unrealized valuation gains on AFS 
 investments (Note 11)  2,171,495,685  536,801,995  4,101,232,336
Income tax effect   (29,799,220)  23,694,655  (45,748,745)
    2,141,696,465  560,496,650  4,055,483,591
Realized gains on sale of AFS investments, net 
 of impairment losses, recognized in the 
 consolidated statements of income (Note 11)  (1,182,576,855)  (712,214,022)  (2,107,472,762)
Income tax effect   3,694,349  (3,243,866)  46,204,971
    (1,178,882,506)  (715,457,888)  (2,061,267,791)
Subtotal   962,813,959  (154,961,238)  1,994,215,800
Cumulative translation adjustment  (85,537,035)  (2,392,478)  (37,265,840)
OTHER COMPREHEnSIVE InCOME (lOSS)  877,276,924  (157,353,716)  1,956,949,960
TOTal COMPREHEnSIVE InCOME E 2,369,123,480 E 838,922,617 E 3,933,673,048

Attributable to:   
Equity holdings of the Parent  E 2,347,781,876 E 837,153,261 E 3,932,307,938
Noncontrolling interests  21,341,604  1,769,356  1,365,110
   E 2,369,123,480 E 838,922,617 E 3,933,673,048 
  
See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
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            Unrealized
        Equity Reserve    Valuation Gains
        on acquisition  Cumulative  on aFS
      additional  of noncontrolling  Translation  Investments  
    Capital Stock  Paid-in Capital  Interest (note 3)  adjustment  (note 11)  

BALANCES AT 
 DECEMBER 31, 2009 E 2,500,000,000 E 1,574,103,911  (E 26,356,543) (E 30,974,237) E 656,731,126
Total comprehensive 
 income (loss) 
 for the year  –  –  –  (37,265,840)  1,994,215,800
Cash dividends - net of 
 dividends on common 
 shares held by a 
 subsidiary amounting 
 to E249.7 million 
 (Note 19)  –  –  –  –  –
Shares repurchased 
 during the year 
 (Note 19)  –  –  –  –  –
Movement in noncontrolling 
 interests (Notes 3 and 6)  –  –  –  –  –
BALANCES AT 
 DECEMBER 31, 2010 E 2,500,000,000 E 1,574,103,911 (E 26,356,543) (E 68,240,077) E 2,650,946,926

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity

                                                                         Equity attributable to Equity Holdings of the Parent (note 19)

Equity attributable to Equity Holdings of the Parent (note 19)

                  Cost of shares           
                 Retained Earnings   Held by a                             noncontrolling 
   Subtotal*   appropriated  Unappropriated  Subsidiary  Total  Interests  Total 
  
BALANCES AT 
 DECEMBER 31, 2009 E 4,673,504,257 E – E 4,297,532,291 (E 1,517,163,308) E 7,453,873,240 E 35,925,763 E 7,489,799,003
Total comprehensive 
 income for
 the year  1,956,949,960  –  1,975,357,978  –  3,932,307,938  1,365,110  3,933,673,048
Cash dividends - net of   
 dividends on 
 common shares 
 held by a subsidiary
 amounting 
 to E249.7 million 
 (Note 19)  –  –   (300,252,601)  –  (300,252,601)  –  (300,252,601)
Shares repurchased 
 during the year 
 (Note 19)  –  –  –  (309,861,157)  (309,861,157)  –  (309,861,157)
Movement in noncontrolling 
 interests 
 (Notes 3 and 6)  –  –  –  –  –  860,209  860,209
BALANCES AT 
 DECEMBER 31, 2010 E 6,630,454,217 E – E 5,972,637,668 (E 1,827,024,465) E 10,776,067,420 E 38,151,082 E 10,814,218,502

*  Sum of equity details in the first table.
 See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Equity attributable to Equity Holdings of the Parent (note 19)

Equity attributable to Equity Holdings of the Parent (note 19)

                      Cost of shares           
                                Retained Earnings   Held by a    noncontrolling 
      Subtotal*  appropriated  Unappropriated  Subsidiary  Total  Interests  Total 
    
BALANCES AT
 DECEMBER 31, 2010 E  6,630,454,217 E – E 5,972,637,668 (E 1,827,024,465) E 10,776,067,420 E 38,151,082 E 10,814,218,502
Total comprehensive 
 income (loss)
 for the year  (157,353,716)  –  994,506,977  –  837,153,261  1,769,356  838,922,617
Cash dividends - net 
 of dividends on 
 common shares 
 held by a subsidiary  
 amounting to 
 E287.9 million 
 (Note 19)  –  –  (312,082,538)  –  (312,082,538)  –  (312,082,538)
Shares repurchased 
 during the year 
 (Note 19)  –  –  –  (9,631,397)  (9,631,397)  –  (9,631,397)
Acquisition of a 
 subsidiary 
 (Note 6)  –  –  –  –  –  277,897,423  277,897,423
Movement in 
 noncontrolling 
 interests 
 (Notes 3 and 6)  –  –  –  –  –  199,517  199,517
Appropriation of 
 retained earnings 
 (Note 19)  –  2,100,000,000  (2,100,000,000)  –  –  –  – 
BALANCES AT
 DECEMBER 31, 2011 E 6,473,100,501 E 2,100,000,000 E 4,555,062,107 (E1,836,655,862)  E 11,291,506,746 E 318,017,378 E 11,609,524,124

*  Sum of equity details in the first table.
 See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

            Unrealized
        Equity Reserve    Valuation Gains
        on acquisition  Cumulative  (losses) on aFS
      additional  of noncontrolling  Translation  Investments 
    Capital Stock  Paid-in Capital  Interest (note 3)  adjustment  (note 11)
BALANCES AT
 DECEMBER 31, 2010 E 2,500,000,000 E 1,574,103,911 (E 26,356,543) (E 68,240,077) E 2,650,946,926 
Total comprehensive 
 income (loss) 
 for the year  –  –  –  (2,392,478)  (154,961,238) 
Cash dividends - net of 
 dividends on common 
 shares held by a 
 subsidiary amounting 
 to E287.9 million 
 (Note 19)  –  –  –  –  –
Shares repurchased 
 during the year
 (Note 19)  –  –  –  –  –
Acquisition of a 
 subsidiary (Note 6)  –  –  –  –  –
Movement in noncontrolling 
 interests (Notes 3 and 6)  –  –  –  –  –
Appropriation of retained
 earnings (Note 19)  –  –  –  –  –
BALANCES AT
 DECEMBER 31, 2011 E 2,500,000,000 E 1,574,103,911 (E 26,356,543) (E 70,632,555) E 2,495,985,688

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity
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Equity attributable to Equity Holdings of the Parent (note 19)

Equity attributable to Equity Holdings of the Parent (note 19)

                    Cost of shares           
                                  Retained  Earnings  Held by a  noncontrolling 
       Subtotal* appropriated  Unappropriated Subsidiary Total Interests Total

BALANCES AT
 DECEMBER 31, 2011 E 6,473,100,501 E 2,100,000,000 E 4,555,062,107 (E 1,836,655,862) E 11,291,506,746 E 318,017,378 E 11,609,524,124
Total comprehensive 
 income (loss) 
 for the year  877,276,924  –  1,470,504,952  –  2,347,781,876  21,341,604  2,369,123,480
Cash dividends - net of 
 dividends on common 
 shares held by a 
 subsidiary amounting 
 to E1,231.7 million 
 (Note 19)  –  –  (1,268,302,961)  –  (1,268,302,961)  –  (1,268,302,961)
Shares repurchased 
 during the year 
 (Note 19)  –  –  –  (183,068,737)  (183,068,737)  –  (183,068,737)
Movement in noncontrolling 
 interests (Notes 3 and 6)  –  –  –  –  –  (542,303)  (542,303)
BalanCES aT 
 dECEMBER 31, 2012 E 7,350,377,425 E 2,100,000,000 E 4,757,264,098 (E 2,019,724,599) E 12,187,916,924 E 338,816,679 E 12,526,733,603

*  Sum of equity details in the first table.
 See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

            Unrealized
        Equity Reserve    Valuation
        on acquisition  Cumulative   Gains on aFS
     additional  of noncontrolling  Translation  Investments  
    Capital Stock Paid-in Capital  Interest (note 3)  adjustment  (note 11)  
BALANCES 
 AT DECEMBER 31, 2011 E 2,500,000,000 E 1,574,103,911 (E 26,356,543) (E 70,632,555) E 2,495,985,688
Total comprehensive 
 income (loss) 
 for the year  –  –  –  (85,537,035)  962,813,959
Cash dividends - net of 
 dividends on common 
 shares held by a 
 subsidiary amounting 
 to E1,231.7 million 
 (Note 19)  –  –  –  –  –
Shares repurchased 
 during the year 
 (Note 19)  –  –  –  –  –
Movement in noncontrolling 
 interests (Notes 3 and 6)   –  –  –  –  –
BalanCES aT 
 dECEMBER 31, 2012 E 2,500,000,000 E 1,574,103,911 (E 26,356,543) (E 156,169,590) E 3,458,799,647 
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

                            Years Ended december 31
    2012  2011  2010
CaSH FlOWS 
 FROM OPERaTInG aCTIVITIES   
Income before income tax E 1,525,949,326 E 1,027,219,954 E 1,988,655,625
Adjustments for:   
 Depreciation and amortization 
  (Notes 13 and 14)  117,903,279  105,230,051  51,579,256
 Loss (gain) on decrease (increase) in market  
  values of FVPL investments (Note 8)  (67,242,449)  7,243,193  (99,867,962)
 Valuation allowances (recoveries) - net 
  (Note 22)  70,521,700  (34,259,012)  185,766,042
 Gain on sale of:   
  AFS investments (Note 11)  (1,169,315,456)  (676,840,454)  (2,091,925,238)
  Investment property (Note 14)  –  (39,885,688)  –
  Property and equipment (Note 13)  (3,510,150)  –  –
  Long-term investments (Note 3)  –  (16,725,079)  –
 Dividend income (Notes 8 and 11)  (231,958,775)  (223,197,863)  (145,749,114)
 Gain from fair value adjustment on net assets
  of acquired subsidiary (Note 6)  –  (3,479,270)  –
 Equity in net earnings of associates (Note 12)  (155,327,752)  (93,029,847)  (115,224,619)
 Interest income (Note 22)  (93,512,782)  (120,204,004)  (111,236,357)
 Interest expense (Note 22)  18,246,049  9,092,211  13,934,412
 Retirement benefit expense (Note 23)  13,931,112  13,651,840  35,654,077
 Unrealized foreign exchange losses - net  46,324,451  84,246,951  69,570,090
Operating income (loss) before working 
 capital  changes  72,008,553  39,062,983  (218,843,788)
Decrease (increase) in:    
 FVPL investments  399,344,115  (74,254,005)  (11,227,963)
 Receivables  (28,626,949)  19,092,592  15,651,635
 Inventories  (5,173,511)  (13,556,102)  (1,980,913)
 Advances from customer  –  (22,141,811)  355,288
 Deferred revenues  (50,467,544)  –  (4,314,245)
 Prepayments and other current assets  12,778,054  28,119,936  (31,213,767)
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and 
 accrued expenses  21,426,940  (81,148,120)  6,121,091
Net cash provided by (used in) operations  421,289,658  (104,824,527)  (245,452,662)
Dividends received  276,758,775  268,797,863  177,749,114
Retirement benefit contribution  (42,876,887)  (7,830,343)  (5,308,347)
Interest received  96,986,204  120,654,946  116,310,012
Interest paid  (18,246,049)  (9,092,211)  (12,226,912)
Income taxes paid  (24,564,933)  (23,849,020)  (9,043,380)
Net cash flows from operating activities  709,346,768  243,856,708  22,027,825

(Forward)
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                             Years Ended december 31
    2012  2011  2010
CaSH FlOWS FROM
 InVESTInG aCTIVITIES   
Additions to:   
 AFS investments (Note 11) (E 5,269,523,768) (E 5,585,359,166) (E 3,193,300,087)
 Investment properties (Note 14)  –  –  (2,203,739)
 Property and equipment (Note 13)  (90,791,210)  (111,945,990)  (15,719,537)
Proceeds from sale of:   
 AFS investments (Note 11)  5,973,486,059  4,120,839,967  5,719,026,524
 Long-term investment (Note 3)  –  44,619,226  –
 Investment property (Note 14)  –  111,455,100  –
 Property and equipment (Note 13)  8,503,759  –  –
Collection from associates (Note 12)  –  –  9,132,897
Collection of other noncurrent 
 assets - net  –  –  2,560,697
Acquisition of  subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 
 (Note 6)  –  (141,759,179)  (23,850,449)
Net cash flows from (used in) investing activities  621,674,840  (1,562,150,042)  2,495,646,306

CaSH FlOWS FROM FInanCInG 
 aCTIVITIES   
Proceeds from notes payable (Note 16)  432,787,492  263,518,777  159,155,452
Proceeds from long-term debt (Note 18)  30,000,000  43,840,000  –
Payments of:   
 Notes payable (Note 16)  (187,395,000)  (241,115,400)  (439,315,336)
 Long-term debt (Note 18)  (26,574,114)  (72,942,100)  (14,437,500)
 Dividends (Note 19)  (1,045,784,954)  (300,294,818)  (287,080,489)
Increase (decrease) in 
 noncontrolling interests  (542,303)  199,517  860,209
Company shares purchased by a subsidiary 
 (Note 19)  (183,068,737)  (9,631,397)  (309,861,157)
Net cash flows used in financing activities  (980,577,616)  (316,425,421)  (890,678,821)

nET InCREaSE (dECREaSE) In 
 CaSH and CaSH EQUIValEnTS  350,443,992  (1,634,718,755)  1,626,995,310

EFFECT OF EXCHanGE RaTE CHanGES 
 On CaSH and CaSH EQUIValEnTS  (22,318,060)  (10,978,152)  (33,398,920)

CaSH and CaSH EQUIValEnTS aT 
 BEGInnInG OF YEaR  542,426,682  2,188,123,589  594,527,199

CaSH and CaSH EQUIValEnTS aT 
 End OF YEaR (Note 7) E 870,552,614 E 542,426,682 E 2,188,123,589

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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1. Corporate Information

A. Soriano Corporation (the Company) was registered with the Philippine Securities and Exchange 
Commission (SEC) on February 13, 1930 to, among others, act as agent or representative of corporations, 
partnerships or individuals whether residing here or abroad; to buy, retain, possess shares of stock, franchises, 
patents of any person or entity and to issue shares of stock, bonds or other obligations for the payment of 
articles or properties acquired by the Company; and to buy or acquire all or part of the property, assets, business 
and clientele of any person, corporation or partnership, managing the properties or businesses so purchased 
or acquired and exercising all the powers necessary and convenient for the management and development of 
the said properties or businesses.  On July 17, 1979, the SEC approved the Company’s amended articles of 
incorporation extending the term of its existence for another fifty years up to February 12, 2030. The Company 
is a corporation incorporated and domiciled in the Philippines whose shares are publicly traded.  The registered 
office address of the Company is at 7th Floor, Pacific Star Building, Makati Avenue corner Gil Puyat Avenue 
Extension, Makati City, Philippines.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to 
as the “Group”) as at December 31, 2012 and 2011 and for each of the three years in the period ended 
December 31, 2012 were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors (BOD) on  February 21, 2013.

2. Basis of Preparation and Changes in accounting Policies and disclosures

Basis of Preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for securities at 

fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) and available-for-sale (AFS) investments that have been measured at fair 
value.  The consolidated financial statements are presented in Philippine pesos (Peso), which is the Company’s 
functional and presentation currency.  Amounts are presented to the nearest Peso unless otherwise stated.

Statement of Compliance
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with Philippine 

Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS).  The term PFRS, in general, includes all applicable PFRS, Philippine 
Accounting Standards (PAS), and interpretations issued by former Standing Interpretations Committee, the 
Philippine Interpretations Committee and the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 
(IFRIC) which have been approved by the Philippine Financial Reporting Standards Council and adopted by the 
Philippine SEC.

Changes in Accounting Policies
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except for the 

adoption of the following new and amended PFRS and Philippine Interpretations based on IFRIC which were 
adopted as of January 1, 2012.

	 •	 Amendments	 to	 PFRS	 7,	 Financial Instruments: Disclosures - Transfers of Financial Assets, require 
additional disclosures about financial assets that have been transferred but not derecognized to 
enhance the understanding of the relationship between those assets that have not been derecognized 
and their associated liabilities.  In addition, the amendments require disclosures about continuing 
involvement in derecognized assets to enable users of financial statements to evaluate the nature of, 
and risks associated with, the entity’s continuing involvement in those derecognized assets.  

The Group does not have financial assets that have been transferred but not derecognized nor does it have 
any continuing involvement in derecognized assets so the amendments have no impact on the consolidated 
financial statements of the Group.

notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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	 •	 Amendment	 to	 PAS	 12,	 Income Taxes - Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets, clarifies the 
determination of deferred tax on investment property measured at fair value.  The amendment introduces 
a rebuttable presumption that the carrying amount of investment property measured using the fair 
value model in PAS 40, Investment Property, will be recovered through sale and, accordingly, requires 
that any related deferred tax should be measured on a ‘sale’ basis. The presumption is rebutted if the 
investment property is depreciable and it is held within a business model whose objective is to consume 
substantially all of the economic benefits in the investment property over time (‘use’ basis), rather 
than through sale. Furthermore, the amendment introduces the requirement that deferred tax on non-
depreciable assets measured using the revaluation model in PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment, 
always be measured on a sale basis of the asset.  

  The Group does not have investment properties at fair value and property and equipment carried under 
the revaluation model so the amendment has no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the 
Group. 

New Accounting Standards, Interpretations and Amendments to
Existing Standards Effective Subsequent to December 31, 2012

The Group will adopt the standards, amendments and interpretations enumerated below when these 
become effective.  The Group continues to assess the impact of the following new and amended accounting 
standards and interpretations.  Except as otherwise indicated, the Group does not expect the adoption of these 
new changes in PFRS to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.  The relevant 
disclosures will be included in the notes to the consolidated financial statements when these become effective.

Effective in 2013
	 •	 Amendments	to	PFRS	7,	Financial instruments: Disclosures - Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial 

Liabilities, require an entity to disclose information about rights of set-off and related arrangements 
(such as collateral agreements).  The new disclosures are required for all recognized financial 
instruments that are set-off in accordance with PAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation. These 
disclosures also apply to recognized financial instruments that are subject to an enforceable master 
netting arrangement or ‘similar agreement’, irrespective of whether they are set-off in accordance with 
PAS 32.  The amendments require entities to disclose, in a tabular format unless another format is more 
appropriate, the following minimum quantitative information. This is presented separately for financial 
assets and financial liabilities recognized at the end of the reporting period:

a) The gross amounts of those recognized financial assets and recognized financial liabilities;
b) The amounts that are set-off in accordance with the criteria in PAS 32 when determining the net 

amounts presented in the statement of financial position;
c) The net amounts presented in the statement of financial position;
d) The amounts subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement or similar agreement that are 

not otherwise included in (b) above, including:
i) Amounts related to recognized financial instruments that do not meet some or all of the offsetting 

criteria in PAS 32; and
ii) Amounts related to financial collateral (including cash collateral); and

e) The net amount after deducting the amounts in (d) from the amounts in (c) above.

  The amendments to PFRS 7 are to be retrospectively applied and are effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2013.  The amendments affect disclosures only and have no impact on 
the Group’s financial position or performance.  The relevant disclosures will be included in the notes to 
the financial statements when this amendment becomes effective. 

	 •	 PFRS	 10,	 Consolidated Financial Statements, replaces the portion of PAS 27, Consolidated and 
Separate Financial Statements, that addresses the accounting for consolidated financial statements.  It 
also includes the issues raised in SIC 12, Consolidation - Special Purpose Entities. PFRS 10 establishes 
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a single control model that applies to all entities including special purpose entities.  The changes 
introduced by PFRS 10 will require management to exercise significant judgment to determine which 
entities are controlled, and therefore, are required to be consolidated by a parent, compared with the 
requirements that were in PAS 27. The standard becomes effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after January 1, 2013. 

  A reassessment of control was performed by the Company on all its subsidiaries and associates in 
accordance with the provisions of PFRS 10.  Following the reassessment, the Company determined 
that there will be no additional entities that need to be consolidated nor are there subsidiaries that need 
to be deconsolidated when this new standard becomes effective.

	 •	 PFRS	11,	Joint Arrangements, replaces PAS 31, Interests in Joint Ventures, and SIC 13, Jointly Controlled 
Entities - Non-Monetary Contributions by Venturers.  PFRS 11 removes the option to account for jointly 
controlled entities using proportionate consolidation.  Instead, jointly controlled entities that meet the 
definition of a joint venture must be accounted for using the equity method. The standard becomes 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. 

  The Company does not have any jointly controlled entities so the adoption of this new standard will 
have no significant impact on the financial statements of the Group upon its effectivity. 

	 •	 PFRS	12,	Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities, includes all of the disclosures related to financial 
statements that were previously in PAS 27, as well as all the disclosures that were previously included 
in PAS 31 and PAS 28, Investments in Associates.  These disclosures relate to an entity’s interests in 
subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and structured entities.  A number of new disclosures are 
also required. The standard becomes effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013.

  The adoption of PFRS 12 will affect disclosures only and will have no impact on the Group’s financial 
position or performance. The relevant disclosures will be included in the notes to the financial statements 
when this standard becomes effective.

 
	 •	 Amendments	to	PAS	27,	Separate Financial Statements. As a consequence of the issuance of the 

new PFRS 10 and PFRS 12, what remains of PAS 27 is limited to accounting for subsidiaries, jointly 
controlled entities, and associates in the separate financial statements.  The amendment becomes 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013.  The adoption of the amended 
PAS 27 will not have a significant impact on the separate financial statements of the entities in the 
Group.

	 •	 Amendments	 to	 PAS	 28,	 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures.  As a consequence of the 
issuance of the new PFRS 11 and PFRS 12, PAS 28 has been renamed PAS 28, Investments in Associates 
and Joint Ventures, and describes the application of the equity method to investments in joint ventures 
in addition to associates.  The amendment becomes effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2013. The Company does not have any joint venture so the adoption of this amendment will 
have no significant impact on the financial statement of the Group upon its effectivity.

	 •	 PFRS	13,	Fair Value Measurement, establishes a single source of guidance under PFRSs for all fair 
value measurements.  PFRS 13 does not change when an entity is required to use fair value, but rather 
provides guidance on how to measure fair value under PFRS when fair value is required or permitted. 
This standard should be applied prospectively as of the beginning of the annual period in which it is 
initially applied. Its disclosure requirements need not be applied in comparative information provided 
for periods before initial application of PFRS 13.  The standard becomes effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2013.

  The Group has assessed the impact of adopting this standard and does not anticipate that the adoption 
of this standard will have a significant impact on its financial position and performance. 
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	 •	 Amendments	 to	 PAS	 1,	 Presentation of Financial Statements - Presentation of Items of Other 
Comprehensive Income or OCI,	change	the	grouping	of	 items	presented	 in	OCI.	 	 Items	that	can	be	
reclassified	(or	“recycled”)	to	profit	or	loss	at	a	future	point	in	time	(for	example,	upon	derecognition	
or	settlement)	will	be	presented	separately	from	items	that	will	never	be	recycled.		The	amendments	
affect	presentation	only	and	have	no	 impact	on	the	Group’s	financial	position	or	performance.	 	The	
amendment	becomes	effective	for	annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	July	1,	2012.		The	amendments	
will	be	applied	retrospectively	and	will	result	to	the	modification	of	the	presentation	of	items	of	OCI.	

	 •	 Amendments	to	PAS	19,	Employee Benefits,	range	from	fundamental	changes	such	as	removing	the	
corridor	mechanism	and	the	concept	of	expected	returns	on	plan	assets	to	simple	clarifications	and	
rewording.		The	revised	standard	also	requires	new	disclosures	such	as,	among	others,	a	sensitivity	
analysis	 for	each	significant	actuarial	assumption,	 information	on	asset-liability	matching	strategies,	
duration	of	the	defined	benefit	obligation,	and	disaggregation	of	plan	assets	by	nature	and	risk.	The	
amendments	become	effective	for	annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	January	1,	2013.		Once	effective,	
the	Group	has	to	apply	the	amendments	retroactively	to	the	earliest	period	presented.

 
	 	 The	Group	reviewed	 its	existing	employee	benefits	and	determined	that	 the	amended	standard	has	

significant	 impact	on	 its	accounting	 for	 retirement	benefits.	 	The	Group	obtained	the	services	of	an	
external	actuary	to	compute	the	impact	to	the	financial	statements	upon	adoption	of	the	standard.	The	
effects	are	detailed	below:	

     December 31,  January 1,
     2012  2012
                            (In Millions)
	 Increase	(decrease)	in:	 	
	 Consolidated	balance	sheets	 	
	 Net	pension	asset	 E 37.9 E	 1.1
	 Deferred	tax		liability	 	 10.8	 	 (0.5)
	 Other	comprehensive	income	 	 16.5	 	 8.5
	 Retained	earnings	 	 10.6	 	 (6.9)	
   
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 2012
       (In Millions)
	 Increase	(decrease)	in:	 	
	 Consolidated	statement	of	income	 	
	 Net	benefit	expense		 	 	 E 1.4
	 Income	tax	expense	-	deferred	 	 	 	 0.4
	 Profit	for	the	year	 	
	 	 Attributable	to	the	owners	of	the	Parent		Company	 	 	 	 (0.9)
	 	 Attributable	to	non-controlling	interests	 	 	 	 (0.1)
	 Other	comprehensive	income,	net	of	deferred	income	tax	
	 	 Attributable	to	the	owners	of	the	Parent	Company	 	 	 	 9.2
	 	 Attributable	to	non-controlling	interests	 	 	 	 (1.2)

	 •	 Philippine	Interpretation	IFRIC	20,	Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine,	applies	
to	 waste	 removal	 (stripping)	 costs	 incurred	 in	 surface	 mining	 activity,	 during	 the	 production	 phase	
of	 the	mine.	 	The	 interpretation	addresses	 the	accounting	 for	 the	benefit	 from	the	stripping	activity.	
The	 interpretation	 is	 effective	 for	 annual	 periods	 beginning	 on	 or	 after	 January	 1,	 2013.	 	 This	 new	
interpretation	is	not	relevant	to	the	Group	as	the	Group	is	not	involved	in	any	mining	activities.

Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2009-2011 cycle)
The	Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2009-2011 cycle)	contain	non-urgent	but	necessary	amendments	to	

PFRSs.		The	amendments	are	effective	for	annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	January	1,	2013	and	are	applied	
retrospectively.		Earlier	application	is	permitted.	
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	 •	 PFRS	1,	First-time Adoption of PFRS - Borrowing Costs, clarifies that, upon adoption of PFRS, an 
entity that capitalized borrowing costs in accordance with its previous generally accepted accounting 
principles, may carry forward, without any adjustment, the amount previously capitalized in its opening 
statement of financial position at the date of transition. Subsequent to the adoption of PFRS, borrowing 
costs are recognized in accordance with PAS 23, Borrowing Costs. The amendment does not apply to 
the Group as it is not a first-time adopter of PFRS.

 
	 •	 PAS	 1,	 Presentation of Financial Statements - Clarification of the Requirements for Comparative 

Information, clarify the requirements for comparative information that are disclosed voluntarily and 
those that are mandatory due to retrospective application of an accounting policy, or retrospective 
restatement or reclassification of items in the financial statements.  An entity must include comparative 
information in the related notes to the financial statements when it voluntarily provides comparative 
information beyond the minimum required comparative period.  The additional comparative period 
does not need to contain a complete set of financial statements.  On the other hand, supporting notes 
for the third balance sheet (mandatory when there is a retrospective application of an accounting policy, 
or retrospective restatement or reclassification of items in the financial statements) are not required. 
The amendments affect disclosures only and will have no impact on the Group’s financial position or 
performance.  

	 •	 PAS	16,	Property, Plant and Equipment - Classification of Servicing Equipment, clarifies that spare parts, 
stand-by equipment and servicing equipment should be recognized as property, plant and equipment 
when they meet the definition of property, plant and equipment and should be recognized as inventory 
if otherwise.  The amendment will not have any significant impact on the Group’s financial position or 
performance. 

	 •	 PAS	32,	Financial Instruments: Presentation - Tax Effect of Distribution to Holders of Equity Instruments, 
clarifies that income taxes relating to distributions to equity holders and to transaction costs of an 
equity transaction are accounted for in accordance with PAS 12, Income Taxes.  The Group expects 
that this amendment will not have any impact on its financial position or performance. 

	 •	 PAS	34,	 Interim Financial Reporting - Interim Financial Reporting and Segment Information for Total 
Assets and Liabilities, clarifies that the total assets and liabilities for a particular reportable segment 
need to be disclosed only when the amounts are regularly provided to the chief operating decision 
maker and there has been a material change from the amount disclosed in the entity’s previous annual 
consolidated financial statements for that reportable segment.  The amendment affects disclosures 
only and has no impact on the Group’s financial position or performance.

Effective in 2014
	 •	 Amendments	to	PAS	32,	Financial Instruments: Presentation - Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial 

Liabilities, clarify the meaning of “currently has a legally enforceable right to set-off” and also clarify 
the application of the PAS 32 offsetting criteria to settlement systems (such as central clearing house 
systems) which apply gross settlement mechanisms that are not simultaneous.  The amendments to 
PAS 32 are to be retrospectively applied for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014. 
The amendments affect presentation only and have no impact on the Group’s financial position or 
performance.

Effective in 2015
	 •	 PFRS	9,	Financial Instruments, reflects the first phase on the replacement of PAS 39 and applies to 

the classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities as defined in PAS 39, Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.  Work on impairment of financial instruments and hedge 
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accounting is still ongoing, with a view to replacing PAS 39 in its entirety.  PFRS 9 requires all financial 
assets to be measured at fair value at initial recognition.  A debt financial asset may, if the fair value 
option (FVO) is not invoked, be subsequently measured at amortized cost if it is held within a business 
model that has the objective to hold the assets to collect the contractual cash flows and its contractual 
terms give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on 
the principal outstanding.  All other debt instruments are subsequently measured at fair value through 
profit or loss.  All equity financial assets are measured at fair value either through other comprehensive 
income (OCI) or profit or loss.  Equity financial assets held for trading must be measured at fair value 
through profit or loss.  For FVO liabilities, the amount of change in the fair value of a liability that 
is attributable to changes in credit risk must be presented in OCI.  The remainder of the change in 
fair value is presented in profit or loss, unless presentation of the fair value change in respect of the 
liability’s credit risk in OCI would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. All other 
PAS 39 classification and measurement requirements for financial liabilities have been carried forward 
into PFRS 9, including the embedded derivative separation rules and the criteria for using the FVO.  The 
adoption of the first phase of PFRS 9 will have an effect on the classification and measurement of the 
Group’s financial assets, but will potentially have no impact on the classification and measurement of 
financial liabilities.

  PFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2015. The Group decided not to 
early adopt PFRS 9 for its 2012 reporting ahead of its effectivity date on January 1, 2015 and therefore 
the consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended December 31, 2012 do not reflect 
the impact of the said standard. 

  The Group shall conduct another impact evaluation in early 2013 using the consolidated financial 
statements for the year ended December 31, 2012.  Given the amendments on  PFRS 9, Financial 
Instruments, the Group at present, does not plan to early adopt in 2012 financial reporting.  

  The Group’s decision whether to early adopt PFRS 9 for its 2013 financial reporting will be disclosed 
in its interim consolidated financial statements as of and for the period ending  March 31, 2013.  
Should the Group decide to early adopt the said standard for its 2013 financial reporting, its interim 
consolidated financial statements as of and for the period ending March 31, 2013 will reflect application 
of the requirement under the said standard and will contain the qualitative and quantitative discussions 
of the results of the Group’s impact evaluation.

  The Group’s AFS investments may be affected by the adoption of this standard. 

Effectivity date to be determined
	 •	 Philippine	Interpretation	IFRIC	15,	Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate, covers accounting 

for revenue and associated expenses by entities that undertake the construction of real estate directly 
or through subcontractors.  This Interpretation requires that revenue on construction of real estate be 
recognized only upon completion, except when such contract qualifies as construction contract to be 
accounted for under PAS 11, Construction Contracts, or involves rendering of services in which case 
revenue is recognized based on stage of completion.  The SEC and the Financial Reporting Standards 
Council (FRSC) have deferred the effectivity of this interpretation until the final Revenue standard is 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and an evaluation of the requirements 
of the final Revenue standard against the practices of the Philippine real estate industry is completed.  
Adoption of the interpretation when it becomes effective will not have any impact on the financial 
statements of the Group. 
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3. Summary of Significant accounting and Financial Reporting Policies

Basis of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and the following 

wholly-owned and majority-owned subsidiaries as at December 31: 

      nature of                    Percentage of Ownership
      Business 2012 2011
A. Soriano Air Corporation Services/Rental 100 100
 Pamalican Island Holdings, Inc. (PIHI) Holding 62 62
  Island Aviation, Inc. 
   (IAI, Notes 18 and 29) Air Transport 62 62
Anscor Consolidated Corporation 
 (Anscorcon)   Holding 100 100
Anscor International, Inc. 
 (AI, Note 12)  Holding 100 100
 IQ Healthcare Investments  Manpower
  Limited (IQHIL, Note 12) Services 100 100
  Cirrus Medical Staffing,  Manpower
   Inc.  (Cirrus, Notes 6 and 12) Services 94 94
   Cirrus Holdings USA, LLC Manpower
    (Cirrus LLC, Note 6) Services 94 94
   Cirrus Allied, LLC  
    (formerly MDI  Medicals, LLC; MDI,  Manpower   

    Note 6) Services 94 94
   NurseTogether, LLC (NT) Online
    (Note 6) Community 
      Management 94 94
Anscor Property Holdings, Inc.  Real Estate
 (APHI, Note 14)  Holding 100 100
 Makatwiran Holdings, Inc.  Real Estate
  (Makatwiran)  Holding 100 100
 Makisig Holdings, Inc. (Makisig) Real Estate
      Holding 100 100
 Malikhain Holdings, Inc. (Malikhain) Real Estate
      Holding 100 100
 Akapulko Holdings, Inc. (Akapulko)  Real Estate
      Holding 100 100
 Goldenhall Corp.  Real Estate
      Holding 100 –
 Lakeroad Corp.   Real Estate
      Holding 100 –
 Mainroad Corp.   Real Estate
       Holding 100 –
 Mountainridge Corp.  Real Estate
      Holding 100 –
 Rollingview Corp.  Real Estate
      Holding 100 –
 Summerside Corp.  Real Estate
      Holding 100 –
 Timbercast Corp.  Real Estate
      Holding 100 –
 

 (Forward)
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      nature of                    Percentage of Ownership
      Business 2012 2011

Sutton Place Holdings, Inc. (Sutton) Holding 100 100
 Cirrus Global, Inc.  (formerly International 
  Quality Manpower Services,  Inc. or IQMAN,  Manpower
  Note 29)   Services 93 93
  IQ Healthcare Professional  
   Connection, LLC (IQHPC,   Manpower
    Notes 15 and 29) Services 93 93
Seven Seas Resorts and Leisure, Inc.  Villa Project 
 (SSRLI, Note 12)   Development 62 62
 Pamalican Resort, Inc.  Resort   

  (PRI, Note 12) Operations 62 62
 
On January 4, 2010, the Philippine SEC approved the amendment in IQMAN’s articles of incorporation and 

by-laws to change IQMAN’s name from International Quality Manpower Services, Inc. to Cirrus Global, Inc. 
(CGI). 

On February 28, 2011, the Group acquired an additional 15.51% shares in SSRLI, increasing its ownership 
from 46.79% to 62.30%. This resulted to the acquisition by the Group of the power to govern the financial and 
operating policies of SSRLI, with due consideration to the terms and conditions of the management agreement 
with Amanresorts (see Notes 6 and 29).

On May 5, 2011, PRI, a wholly-owned subsidiary of SSRLI, was incorporated and is mainly involved in resort 
operations (see Note 12). 

In 2012, Goldenhall, Summerside, Mountainridge, Timbercast, Rollingview, Lakeroad and Mainroad, 
wholly-owned subsidiaries of APHI, were incorporated as real estate holding companies.

Except for AI, IQHIL, Cirrus and its subsidiaries and IQHPC, the above companies are all based in the 
Philippines.  The principal business location of AI and IQHIL is in the British Virgin Islands (BVI), while Cirrus and 
its subsidiaries and IQHPC is based in the United States of America (USA).

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating 
policies so as to obtain benefits from its activities and generally accompanying a shareholding of more than 
one half of the voting rights.  The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or 
convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group controls another entity.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which control is transferred to 
the Group and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.  

Noncontrolling interests represents a portion of profit or loss and net assets of subsidiaries not held by 
the Group, directly or indirectly, and are presented separately in the consolidated statement of income and 
within the equity section in the consolidated balance sheet and consolidated statement  of changes in equity, 
separately from Company’s equity. Total comprehensive income is attributed to the portion held by the Group 
and to the noncontrolling interests even if this results in the noncontrolling interests having a deficit balance. 

 
Consolidated financial statements are prepared using uniform accounting policies for like transactions and 

other events in similar circumstances.  All intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses and profits 
and losses resulting from intra-group transactions that are recognized in assets, liabilities and equities, are 
eliminated in full.
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A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity 
transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:

	 •	 Derecognizes	the	assets	(including	goodwill)	and	liabilities	of	the	subsidiary
	 •	 Derecognizes	the	carrying	amount	of	any	noncontrolling	interest
	 •	 Derecognizes	the	related	other	comprehensive	income	like	cumulative	translation	differences,	recorded	

in equity
	 •	 Recognizes	the	fair	value	of	the	consideration	received
	 •	 Recognizes	the	fair	value	of	any	investment	retained
	 •	 Recognizes	any	surplus	or	deficit	in	profit	or	loss	
	 •	 Reclassifies	the	parent’s	share	of	components	previously	recognized	in	other	comprehensive	income	to	

profit or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate.

Basis of consolidation prior to January 1, 2010
Certain of the above-mentioned requirements were applied on a prospective basis. The following differences, 

however, are carried forward in certain instances from the previous basis of consolidation:

	 •	 Losses	 incurred	 by	 the	 Group	 were	 attributed	 to	 the	 noncontrolling	 interest	 until	 the	 balance	 was	
reduced to nil. Any further excess losses were attributed to the parent, unless the noncontrolling interest 
had a binding obligation to cover these. Losses prior to January 1, 2010 were not reallocated between 
noncontrolling interest and the parent shareholders.

	 •	 Upon	loss	of	control,	the	Group	accounted	for	the	investment	retained	at	its	proportionate	share	of	net	
asset value at the date control was lost. The carrying value of such investments at January 1, 2010 have 
not been restated.  

In 2008, Sutton acquired an additional 32% interest in IQMAN, increasing its ownership to 93%.  The excess 
of the consideration over the book value of the interest acquired was taken to “Equity Reserve on Acquisition of 
Noncontrolling Interest” in the consolidated balance sheets.

Investments in Associates
Associates are entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control, generally accompanying 

a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.  Investments in associates are accounted for 
under the equity method of accounting in the consolidated financial statements and are initially recognized at 
cost.  

The Group’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition profits or losses is recognized in the consolidated 
statements of income, and its share of post-acquisition movements in the associates’ equity reserves is 
recognized directly in equity.  The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying 
amount of the investment.  When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in 
the associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognize further losses, unless 
it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

 
Unrealized gains on transactions between the Group and its associate are eliminated to the extent of 

the Group’s interest in the associate.  Unrealized losses are also eliminated, unless the transaction provides 
evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred.  The reporting dates of the associates of the Group are 
identical and the associates’ accounting policies conform to those used by the Group for like transactions and 
events in similar circumstances.  

The Group determines at the end of each reporting period whether there is any evidence that the investments 
in associates are impaired.  If this is the case, the amount of impairment is calculated as the difference between 
the carrying amount of the investments and their recoverable amount.  
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The following are the Group’s associates: 
      
      nature of                  Percentage of Ownership
      Business 2012 2011
NewCo., Inc. (Newco, Note 12) Real Estate 45 45
 AFC Agribusiness Corporation Real Estate 45 45
Anscor-Casto Travel Corporation Travel Agency 44 44
PDIPI (Notes 12 and 29) Holding 40 40
 Minuet Realty Corporation (Minuet) Landholding 60 60
 Phelps Dodge Philippines  Energy Products  
  Corporation (PDP Energy,  Wire   

  Notes 12 and 29) Manufacturing 40 40
  PD Energy International  Wire 
   Corporation (PDEIC) Manufacturing 40 40
Vicinetum Holdings, Inc. 
 (VHI, Note 12)  Holding 32 32
 

Minuet has been excluded in the consolidated financial statements as special voting requirements adopted 
by its shareholders manifested that the Company’s 60% holding in Minuet is not sufficient to carry major 
business decisions.

 
On December 2, 2011, a deed of assignment was executed for the sale of the Company’s 60% holdings 

in Vesper Industrial and Development Corporation.  Gain recognized from the sale amounted to E16.7 million 
recorded under gain on sale of long-term investments in 2011.

 
Business Combinations and Goodwill
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is 

measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date fair value and the 
amount of any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree. For each business combination, the acquirer measures 
the noncontrolling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s 
identifiable net assets. Acquisition costs incurred are expensed and included in administrative expenses. 

 
When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate 

classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent 
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts 
by the acquiree.

 
If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously 

held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date through profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognized at fair value at the 
acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to be 
an asset or liability will be recognized in accordance with PAS 39 either in profit or loss or as a change to other 
comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it should not be remeasured until 
it is finally settled within equity.

 
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the 

business combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities 
and contingent liabilities.  Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated 
impairment losses.
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Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units and part of the 
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in 
the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation.  Goodwill 
disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on the relative values of the operation disposed of and the 
portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

When subsidiaries are sold, the difference between the selling price and the net assets plus cumulative 
translation differences and goodwill is recognized in the consolidated statements of income.

Foreign Currency Translation
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial 

statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency.  Transactions in foreign currencies are 
initially recorded in Peso based on the exchange rate recorded at the date of the transaction.  Monetary assets 
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the closing exchange rate at the end of 
reporting period.  All differences are taken to the consolidated statements of income.  Non-monetary items that 
are measured in terms of historical  cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the 
dates of the initial transactions.  Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated 
using the closing exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.  Foreign exchange gains and 
losses relating to AFS equity instruments are presented under other comprehensive income.  

Financial statements of consolidated foreign subsidiaries which are considered foreign entities are translated 
into the presentation currency of the Group (Peso) at the closing exchange rate at end of reporting period and 
their statements of income are translated using the monthly weighted average exchange rates for the year. The 
exchange differences arising from the translation are taken directly to a separate component of equity (under 
cumulative translation adjustment).  On disposal of a foreign entity, the deferred cumulative amount recognized 
in equity relating to that particular foreign operation is recognized in the consolidated statements of income.

 
Financial Instruments
Date of recognition
The Group recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability in the consolidated balance sheets when it 

becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  Purchases or sales of financial assets that 
require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace are 
recognized on the trade date.  Derivatives are recognized on trade date basis.

Initial recognition of financial instruments
All financial assets are initially recognized at fair value.  Except for securities at FVPL, the initial measurement 

of financial assets includes transaction costs.  The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: 
financial assets at FVPL, held-to-maturity (HTM) investments, AFS investments, and loans and receivables.  
Financial liabilities are classified as financial liabilities at FVPL and other financial liabilities.  The classification 
depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired and whether they are in an active market.  
Management determines the classification of its investments at initial recognition and, where allowed and 
appropriate, re-evaluates such designation at every reporting date.  

Determination of fair value
The fair value of instruments that are actively traded in organized financial markets is determined by 

reference to market prices at the close of business at the end of the reporting period.  For financial instruments 
where there is no active market, fair value is determined using valuation techniques.  Such techniques include 
using recent arm’s-length market transactions; reference to the current market value of another instrument, 
which is substantially the same; discounted cash flow analysis or other valuation models.

The inputs and assumptions used in the valuation techniques are based on market observable data and 
condition and reflect appropriate adjustments for credit and liquidity risks existing at each of the periods 
indicated.  
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Derivatives recorded at FVPL
The Group enters into derivative contracts such as currency forwards.  These derivative financial instruments 

are initially recorded at fair value and are subsequently remeasured at fair value at each reporting date.  Any 
gains or losses arising from changes in fair values of derivatives (except those accounted for as accounting 
hedges) are taken directly to the consolidated statements of income.  Derivatives are carried as assets when 
the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.  There are no outstanding freestanding 
derivative contract as of  December 31, 2012 and 2011.

The Group has certain derivatives that are embedded in host financial contracts, such as structured notes 
and debt investments.  These embedded derivatives include calls and puts in debt investments and interest rate 
options among others.

An embedded derivative is separated from the host contract and accounted for as a derivative if all of the 
following conditions are met:  (a) the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are not 
closely related to the economic characteristics and risks of the host contract;  (b) a separate instrument with 
the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and (c) the hybrid or 
combined instrument is not recognized at FVPL.

 
Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value and are carried as assets when the fair value is positive 

and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.  The Group has opted not to designate its derivative transactions 
as accounting hedges. Consequently, gains and losses from changes in fair value of these derivatives are 
recognized immediately in the consolidated statements of income.

Classification of financial instruments
Financial instruments are classified as liabilities or equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual 

arrangement.  Interest, dividends, gains and losses relating to a financial instrument or a component that is a 
financial liability, are reported as expense or income.  Distributions to holders of financial instruments classified 
as equity are charged directly to equity, net of any related income tax benefits.

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Group has the following categories of financial assets and financial 
liabilities:

(a) Financial assets and financial liabilities at FVPL

This category includes financial assets and financial liabilities held for trading and financial assets and 
financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at FVPL.  Financial assets and financial liabilities are 
classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term.

Financial assets or financial liabilities classified in this category may be designated by management on 
initial recognition when the following criteria are met:

	 •	 The	designation	eliminates	or	 significantly	 reduces	 the	 inconsistent	 treatment	 that	would	otherwise	
arise from measuring the assets or liabilities or recognizing gains or losses on them on a different basis; 
or

	 •	 The	assets	and	liabilities	are	part	of	a	group	of	financial	assets,	financial	liabilities	or	both	which	are	
managed and their performance evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk 
management or investment strategy; or

	 •	 The	financial	instrument	contains	an	embedded	derivative,	unless	the	embedded	derivative	does	not	
significantly modify the cash flows or it is clear, with little or no analysis, that it would not be separately 
recorded. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities at FVPL are recorded in the consolidated balance sheets at fair value.  
Changes in fair value are recorded in “Gain (loss) on increase (decrease) in market values of FVPL investments”.  
Interest earned or incurred is recorded in interest income or expense, respectively, while dividend income is 
recorded as such according to the terms of the contract, or when the right of payment has been established.
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As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Group has designated as FVPL all investments in bonds that 
have callable and other features, managed/hedged funds, and derivatives amounting to E534.2 million and 
E883.5 million, respectively.  No financial liability at FVPL is outstanding as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 
(see Notes 8 and 28).

(b) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not in an active 
market. They are not entered into with the intention of immediate or short-term resale. After initial measurement, 
loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method, 
less allowance for impairment. 

Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees that 
are an integral part of the effective interest rate.  The amortization is included in the interest income in the 
consolidated statements of income.  The losses arising from impairment of such loans and receivables are 
recognized as “Recoveries (valuation allowances) - net” in the consolidated statements of income.

Included under loans and receivables are cash in banks, short-term investments, trade receivables, interest 
receivable, advances to officers and employees and other receivables.  As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the 
Group has loans and receivables amounting to  E1,226.5 million and E877.5 million, respectively (see Note 28).

(c) AFS investments

AFS investments are those which are designated as such or do not qualify to be classified as FVPL, HTM 
or loans and receivables.  They are purchased and held indefinitely and may be sold in response to liquidity 
requirements or changes in market conditions.  They include equity investments, money market papers, 
investments in managed funds and other debt instruments.

After initial measurement, AFS investments are subsequently measured at fair value.  The effective yield 
component of AFS debt securities, as well as the impact of restatement on foreign currency-denominated AFS 
debt securities, is reported in the consolidated statements of income.  The unrealized gains and losses arising 
from the fair valuation of AFS investments and the impact of restatement on foreign currency-denominated AFS 
equity securities are reported as part of other comprehensive income.   

When the security is disposed of, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized under other 
comprehensive income is transferred to profit or loss as “Gain (loss) on sale of AFS investments”.  Where the 
Group holds more than one investment in the same security, cost of the disposed investment is determined on 
a weighted average cost basis.  Interest earned on holding AFS investments are reported as interest income 
using the effective interest rate.  Dividends earned on holding AFS investments are recognized as such in the 
consolidated statements of income when the right of payment has been established.

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Group’s AFS investments amounted to  E9,318.6 million and 
E8,093.8 million, respectively (see Notes 11 and 28).

(d) Other financial liabilities

All loans and borrowings are initially recognized at the fair value of the consideration received, less directly 
attributable transaction costs.  After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently 
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.  Gains and losses are recognized in the 
consolidated statements of income when the liabilities are derecognized as well as through the amortization 
process.

 
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement 

of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.
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As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, included in other financial liabilities are the Group’s notes payable, 
accounts payable and accrued expenses, long-term debt and dividends payable totaling to E1,137.3 million and 
E584.1 million, respectively (see Note 28).

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, there were no financial instruments classified as HTM.

Derecognition of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
Financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) 

is derecognized or removed from the consolidated balance sheets where:

	 •	 the	contractual	rights	to	receive	cash	flows	from	the	asset	have	expired;	or
	 •	 the	Group	retains	the	right	to	receive	cash	flows	from	the	asset,	but	has	assumed	an	obligation	to	pay	

them in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; or
	 •	 the	Group	has	transferred	its	rights	to	receive	cash	flows	from	the	asset	and	either	(a)	has	transferred	

substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor retained substantially 
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

Where the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither transferred 
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is 
recognized to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset.  

Financial liabilities
A financial liability is removed from the consolidated balance sheets when the obligation under the liability 

is discharged or cancelled or has expired.

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different 
terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification will result 
into the removal of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability and the difference in the respective 
carrying amounts is recognized in the consolidated statements of income. 

Impairment of Financial Assets
The Group assesses at each end of reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial 

asset or group of financial assets is impaired. 

Assets carried at amortized cost
For loans and receivables carried at amortized cost, the Group first assesses whether objective evidence 

of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for financial 
assets that are not individually significant.  

For individually significant financial assets, if there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been 
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the 
present value of the estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit  losses that have not been incurred).  
If the Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for individually assessed financial 
asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk 
characteristics and collectively assesses for impairment.  Those characteristics are relevant to the estimation 
of future cash flows for groups of such assets by being indicative of the debtors’ ability to pay all amounts due 
according to the contractual terms of the assets being evaluated.  Assets that are individually assessed for 
impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognized are not included in a collective 
assessment for impairment.

 
For the purpose of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis of such 

credit risk characteristics as industry, collateral type, past-due status and term.
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Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment are estimated 
on the basis of historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to those in the Group.  
Historical loss experience is adjusted on the basis of current observable data to reflect the effects of current 
conditions that did not affect the period on which the historical loss experience is based and to remove the 
effects of conditions in the historical period that do not exist currently.  Estimates of changes in future cash 
flows reflect, and are directionally consistent with changes in related observable data from period to period 
(such changes in unemployment rates, property prices, commodity prices, payment status, or other factors that 
are indicative of incurred losses in the Group and their magnitude).  The methodology and assumptions used 
for estimating future cash flows are reviewed regularly by the Group to reduce any differences between loss 
estimates and actual loss experience.

The present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original effective 
interest rate.  If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the 
current effective interest rate, adjusted for the original credit risk premium.  The calculation of the present value 
of the estimated future cash flows of a collateralized financial asset reflects the cash flows that may result 
from foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling the collateral, whether or not foreclosure is probable.  The 
carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of loss is 
charged to the consolidated statements of income.  Interest income, if any, continues to be recognized based 
on the original effective interest rate of the asset.  Loans, together with the associated allowance accounts, 
are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realized.  If, in a 
subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment loss decreases because of an event occurring after the 
impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is reduced by adjusting the allowance 
account.  If a future write-off is later recovered, any amounts formerly charged are credited to “Recoveries 
(valuation allowances) - net” in the consolidated statements of income.

Assets carried at cost
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried 

at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, or on a derivative asset that is linked to and 
must be settled by delivery of such an unquoted equity instrument has been incurred, the amount of the loss is 
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash 
flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset.

AFS investments
In case of equity investments classified as AFS, objective evidence of impairment would include a significant 

or prolonged decline in the fair value of the investments below its cost.  Where there is evidence of impairment, 
the cumulative loss - measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less 
any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognized in the consolidated statements of income - is 
removed from equity and recognized in the consolidated statements of income.  The losses arising from impairment 
of such investments are recognized as “Recoveries (valuation allowances) - net” in the consolidated statements 
of income. Impairment losses on equity investments are not reversed through the consolidated statements of 
income.  Increases in fair value after impairment are recognized in the consolidated statements of comprehensive 
income.

 
In the case of debt instruments classified as AFS investments, impairment is assessed based on the 

same criteria as financial assets carried at amortized cost.  Future interest income is based on the reduced 
carrying amount and is accrued based on the rate of interest used to discount future cash flows for the purpose 
of measuring impairment loss.  Such accrual is recorded as part of “Interest income” in the consolidated 
statements of income.  If, in the subsequent year, the fair value of a debt instrument increases and the increase 
can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized in the consolidated 
statements of income, the impairment loss is reversed through the consolidated statements of income.
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Day 1 Difference
Where the transaction price in a non-active market is different from the fair value from other observable 

current market transactions in the same instrument or based on a valuation technique whose variables include 
only data from observable market, the Group recognizes the difference between the transaction price and fair 
value (a “Day 1” difference) in the consolidated statements of income unless it qualifies for recognition as some 
other type of asset.  In cases where use is made of data which is not observable, the difference between the 
transaction price and model value is recognized in the consolidated statements of income only when the inputs 
become  observable or when the instrument is derecognized.  For each transaction, the Group determines the 
appropriate method of recognizing the “Day 1” difference.

Offsetting Financial Instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated balance 

sheets if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amounts and there is 
an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  This is not 
generally the case with master netting agreements and the related assets and liabilities are presented gross in 
the consolidated balance sheets.

Revenue and Cost Recognition
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group 

and the revenue can be reliably measured.  Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received 
excluding discounts, rebates, and other sales taxes or duties.  

The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue or cost is recognized:

Sale of Goods
Sale is recognized when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have passed to the 

buyer and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably.

Revenue on Villa Development Project
Revenue on Villa Development Project of a subsidiary is recognized under the completed contract method. 

Under this method, revenue is recognized only when the villa clusters have been constructed, turned over to, 
and accepted by the buyer.

Cost of Real Estate Sold
The cost of real estate sold includes the acquisition cost of the land and total development costs upon 

completion.   

Rendering of Services
Management fees, air transport services, and other aviation-related activities are recognized when the 

services have been performed.
 
Revenue on nurse placements is recognized upon the nurses’ arrival and employment in the U.S. hospitals.

All deposits on contracts with U.S. hospitals are recorded under “Deferred revenues” until the contracted 
nurses’ arrival and employment in the U.S. hospitals.

Revenue from temporary staffing is recognized when services are rendered.

Revenue on permanent placements is recognized when the candidate starts with the contracting facility.  
The Company does not, in the ordinary course of business, give refunds.  If a candidate leaves a permanent 
placement within a relatively short period of time, it is customary for the Company to provide a replacement at 
no additional cost to the hospital.

Revenue from contractual services consists of jobs filled by subcontractors.  The Company contracts with 
other staffing companies to provide the travelers to fill the jobs for the Company.  These staffing companies are 
called subcontractors.  Subcontractors are paid based on agreed terms at a percentage of the invoice.
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Revenue from rooms is recognized based on actual occupancy.  Other ancillary services are recognized 
when the related services are rendered and/or facilities/amenities are used. 

Costs of Services Rendered
All direct nurse costs incurred in deployment of nurses are deferred and included in “Other noncurrent 

assets” in the consolidated balance sheets, until the nurses’ arrival and employment in the U.S. hospitals.  Upon 
the nurses’ arrival and employment in the U.S. hospitals, deferred costs are reversed to “Costs of services 
rendered”.

All selling and general and administrative expenses are expensed as incurred.

Interest
Interest income from bank deposits and investments in bonds are recognized as interest accrues based on 

the effective interest rate method.
 
Dividends
Dividend income is recognized when the shareholders’ right to receive the payment is established.

Rental
Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Other Comprehensive Income
Other comprehensive income comprises items of income and expense that are not recognized in profit 

or loss for the year in accordance with PFRS. Other comprehensive income of the Group pertains to gains 
and losses on remeasuring AFS investments and exchange differences on translating foreign operations.  In 
computing for the earnings available for dividend declaration and earnings per share, other comprehensive 
income is not considered.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash includes cash on hand and with banks.  Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments 

that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with original maturities of three months or less and that 
are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. 

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value (NRV). Cost of aircraft spare parts and 

supplies is determined at purchase price using the first-in, first-out method while NRV is the estimated current 
replacement cost of such spare parts and supplies.

Cost of food and beverage inventories and operating supplies is determined using the moving average 
method. NRV of food and beverage inventories is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, 
less the estimated cost of preparation and the estimated cost necessary to make the sale. NRV of operating 
supplies is the estimated current replacement cost.

Residential units held for sale include those costs incurred for the development and improvement of the 
properties. Its NRV was based on the available net selling price of similar residential units sold during the year.

Property and Equipment
Depreciable properties, including buildings and improvements, leasehold improvements, machinery and 

other equipment, flight and ground equipment, furniture, fixtures and office equipment, and transportation 
equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization, and any impairment in value.  
Land is stated at cost less any impairment in value.



ANNUAL REPORT 2012 39

The initial cost of property and equipment comprises its purchase price, including import duties, taxes and 
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.  
Expenditures incurred after the property and equipment have been put into operations, such as repairs and 
maintenance, are normally charged to income in the period when the costs are incurred.  In situations where it 
can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditures have resulted in an increase in the future economic benefits 
expected to be obtained from the use of an item of property and equipment beyond its originally assessed 
standard of performance, the expenditures are capitalized as additional costs of property and equipment.

When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and the related accumulated depreciation and 
amortization and any impairment in value are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is 
credited to or charged against current operations.

Depreciation is computed on a straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives of the 
properties, except for aircraft engine which is computed based on flying hours.  

Category Number of Years
Buildings and improvements 10 - 30
Land improvements 25
Leasehold improvements* 5 - 20
Machinery and equipment 5 - 25
Flight and ground equipment 5 - 10
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 3 - 5
Transportation equipment 3 - 5
* or lease term, whichever is shorter

The useful lives, depreciation and amortization method, and residual values are reviewed periodically to 
ensure that the periods and method of depreciation and amortization are consistent with the expected pattern 
of economic benefits from the use of property and equipment.

Construction in progress (CIP) is stated at cost.  This includes cost of construction and other direct costs.  
CIP is not depreciated until such time the relevant assets are completed and put into operational use.

Property Development in Progress
Property development in progress includes the acquisition costs of raw lots and development costs and 

expenses incurred.  

Property development in progress is carried at the lower of cost incurred and net realizable value.  Net 
realizable value is the selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion 
and estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Investment Properties
Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including transaction costs.  The carrying amount 

includes the cost of replacing part of an existing investment property at the time that cost is incurred if the 
recognition criteria are met and excludes the costs of day-to-day servicing of an investment property.  Subsequent 
to initial recognition, the Group’s investment properties are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and 
any accumulated impairment losses.

Investment properties are written-off when either these are disposed of or when the investment properties 
are permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal.  Any gains or 
losses on the retirement or disposal of the investment property are recognized in the consolidated statements 
of income in the year of retirement or disposal. 

Expenditures incurred after the investment properties have been put into operation, such as repairs and 
maintenance costs, are normally charged to income in the period in which the costs are incurred.
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Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis using the remaining useful lives from the time of acquisition 
of the investment properties but not to exceed:

Category Number of Years
Land improvements 25
Buildings 20 - 30
Condominium units 20

Transfers are made to investment properties when, and only when, there is a change in use, evidenced by 
ending of owner-occupation, commencement of an operating lease to another party or ending of construction 
or development.  Transfers are made from investment properties when, and only when, there is a change in use, 
evidenced by commencement of owner-occupation or commencement of development with a view to sale.  
If the property occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied property becomes an investment property, the 
Group accounts for such property in accordance with the policy stated under property and equipment up to the 
date of change in use.

Impairment of Non-financial Assets
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that its non-financial assets 

(namely, property and equipment, investment properties and investments in associates) may be impaired.  
When an indicator of impairment exists or when an annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the 
Group makes a formal estimate of recoverable amount.  Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or 
cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, 
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or 
groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is assessed as part of the cash-generating unit to which 
it belongs.  Where the carrying amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) exceeds its recoverable amount, 
the asset  (or cash-generating unit) is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.  In 
assessing value-in-use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
asset (or cash-generating unit).

An impairment loss is charged to operations in the year in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a 
revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is charged to the revaluation increment of the said asset.  
An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognized 
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.  If such indication exists, the recoverable 
amount is estimated.  A previously  recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the 
estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognized.  If 
that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount.  That increased amount 
cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation and amortization, had 
no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years.  Such reversal is recognized in the consolidated 
statements of income unless the asset is carried at a  revalued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as 
a revaluation increase.  After such a reversal, the depreciation and amortization expense is adjusted in future 
years to allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its 
remaining life.

Goodwill
Goodwill is reviewed for impairment, annually or more frequently, if events or changes in circumstances 

indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.

Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit 
(or group of cash-generating units) to which the goodwill relates.  Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit 
(or group of cash-generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated, an impairment loss is recognized 
immediately in the consolidated statements of income. 
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Impairment losses relating to goodwill cannot be reversed for subsequent increases in its recoverable 
amount in future periods.  The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as of December 31 of 
each year.

Noncurrent Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations
Noncurrent assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of carrying 

amount and fair value less costs to sell.  Noncurrent assets and disposal groups are classified as held for 
sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use.  
This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly  probable and the asset or disposal group is 
available for immediate sale in its present condition.  Management must be committed to the sale, which should 
be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification.  
Depreciable assets are no longer depreciated once they are classified as noncurrent assets held for sale and 
discontinued operations.

In the consolidated statements of income of the reporting period, and of the comparable period of the 
previous year, income and expenses from discontinued operations are reported separate from normal income 
and expenses down to the level of profit after taxes, even when the Group retains a noncontrolling interest in the 
subsidiary after the sale.  The resulting profit or loss (after taxes) is reported separately from the consolidated 
statements of income.

Other Noncurrent Assets and Other Noncurrent Liabilities
Other noncurrent assets represent restricted cash funds for future acquisition of specific property and 

equipment and for future villa operating requirements. A corresponding liability was recognized for these funds 
under other noncurrent liabilities.

Capital Stock
Capital stock represents the portion of the paid in capital representing the total par value of the shares 

issued.

Additional Paid-in Capital
Additional paid-in capital pertains to the amount paid in excess of the par value of the shares issued.

Retained Earnings
Retained earnings represent the cumulative balance of net income or loss, net of any dividend declaration.

Unappropriated retained earnings represent that portion which is free and can be declared as dividends 
to stockholders, after adjustments for any unrealized items, which are  considered not available for dividend 
declaration.

Appropriated retained earnings represent that portion which has been restricted and therefore is not 
available for any dividend declaration. 

Treasury Shares and Contracts on Own Shares
The Company’s shares which are acquired and held by a subsidiary (treasury shares) are deducted from 

equity and accounted for at weighted average cost. No gain or loss is recognized in the consolidated statements 
of income on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s shares.

Leases
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the 

arrangement at inception date and requires an assessment of whether the fulfillment of the arrangement is 
dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a  right to use the asset.  A 
reassessment is made after inception of the lease only if one of the following applies:

 a. There is a change in contractual terms, other than a renewal or extension of the arrangement;
 b. A renewal option is exercised or extension granted, unless that term of the renewal or extension was 

initially included in the lease term; 
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 c. There is a change in the determination of whether fulfillment is dependent on a specified asset; or
 d. There is a substantial change to the asset.

Where a reassessment is made, lease accounting shall commence or cease from the date when the change 
in circumstances gave rise to the reassessment for scenarios a, c or d above, and at the date of renewal or 
extension period for scenario b.

The Group as Lessee
Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified 

as operating leases.  Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense in the consolidated statements of 
income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group as Lessor
Leases where the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the assets 

are classified as operating leases.  Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating operating leases are added to the 
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognized over the lease term on the same basis as the rental income.  
Contingent rents are recognized as revenue in the period in which they are earned. 

Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs are generally expensed as incurred.  Borrowing costs are capitalized if they are directly 

attributable to the acquisition or construction of a qualifying asset.  Capitalization of borrowing costs commences 
when the activities to prepare the asset are in progress and expenditures and borrowing costs are being incurred.  
Borrowing costs are capitalized until the assets are substantially ready for their intended use.

Pension Benefits
The Group has a non-contributory defined benefit retirement plan.

The retirement cost of the Group is determined using the projected unit credit method.  Under this method, 
the current service cost is the present value of retirement benefits payable in the future with respect to services 
rendered in the current period.

The liability recognized in the consolidated balance sheets in respect of defined benefit pension plans is the 
present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of reporting period less the fair value of plan assets, 
together with adjustments for unrecognized actuarial gains or losses and past service costs (see Note 23).  
The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by an independent actuary using the projected unit credit 
method.  The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future 
cash outflows using interest rate on government bonds that have terms to maturity approximating the terms 
of the related retirement liability.  Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes 
in  actuarial assumptions are credited to or charged against income when the net cumulative unrecognized 
actuarial gains and losses at the end of the previous period exceeded 10% of the higher of the present value of 
the defined benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets at that date.  These gains or losses are recognized 
over the expected average remaining working lives of the employees participating in the plan.

Past service costs, if any, are recognized immediately in income, unless the changes to the pension plan 
are conditional on the employees remaining in service for a specified period of time (the vesting period).  In this 
case, the past service costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period.  

The defined benefit asset or liability comprises the present value of the defined benefit obligation less past 
service costs not yet recognized and less the fair value of plan assets out of which the obligations are to be 
settled directly.  The value of any asset is restricted to the sum of any past service cost not yet recognized and 
the present value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in the 
future contributions to the plan.
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Provisions and Contingencies
Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a 

past event and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.  Where the Group expects 
some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example, under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is 
recognized as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain.  The expense relating to 
any provision is presented in the consolidated statements of income, net of any reimbursement.  If the effect of 
the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at 
a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the 
risks specific to the liability.  Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time 
is recognized as an interest expense.

Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements but are disclosed unless 
the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote.

Contingent assets are not recognized but are disclosed in the notes to consolidated financial statements 
when an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

Income Taxes

Current income tax
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount 

expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities.  The tax rates and tax laws used to compute 
the amounts are those that have been enacted or substantively enacted as of end of the reporting period.

Deferred income tax
Deferred income tax is provided, using the balance sheet liability method, on all temporary differences 

at the statement of financial position date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying 
amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, including asset 
revaluations.  Deferred income tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward 
of unused tax credits from the excess of minimum corporate income tax (MCIT) over the regular corporate 
income tax, and unused net operating loss carryover (NOLCO), to the extent that it is probable that sufficient 
future taxable income will be available against which the deductible temporary differences and carry forward of 
unused tax credits from excess MCIT and unused NOLCO can be utilized.  Deferred income tax, however, is not 
recognized on  temporary differences that arise from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction 
that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting income nor 
taxable income. 

Deferred income tax liabilities are not provided on non-taxable temporary differences associated with 
investments in domestic subsidiaries and associates.  With respect to investments in foreign subsidiaries 
and associates, deferred income tax liabilities are recognized except where the timing of the reversal of the 
temporary difference can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each end of reporting period and reduced 
to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient future taxable profit will be available to allow all or part 
of the deferred income tax assets to be utilized.  Unrecognized deferred income tax assets are re-assessed at 
each end of reporting period and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient future 
taxable income will allow the deferred income tax assets to be recovered. 

Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are 
applicable to the period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of reporting period.
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Current income tax and deferred income tax relating to items recognized directly in equity is also recognized 
in equity and not in the consolidated statements of income.

Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists 
to set off current income tax assets against current income tax liabilities and deferred income taxes relate to the 
same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Earnings Per Share
Basic earnings per share (EPS) is computed by dividing net income for the year by the weighted average 

number of common shares outstanding during the year after giving retroactive effect to stock dividends declared 
and stock rights exercised during the year, if any.  The Company does not have potentially dilutive common 
shares as of December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010.

Dividends on Common Shares
Dividends on common shares are recognized as a liability and deducted from equity when approved by the 

respective shareholders of the Company and subsidiaries.  Dividends for the year that are approved after the 
end of reporting period are dealt with as an event after the end of reporting period.

Events After the Reporting Period
Post year-end events that provide additional information about the Group’s position at the end of reporting 

period (adjusting events) are reflected in the consolidated financial statements.  Post year-end events that are 
not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to consolidated financial statements when material.

 
Segment Reporting
The Group’s operating businesses are organized and managed separately according to the nature of the 

products and services provided, with each segment representing a strategic business unit that offers different 
products and serves different markets.  Financial information on business segments is presented in Note 5.

4. Significant accounting Judgments, Estimates and assumptions

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with PFRS requires the Group to 
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses, 
other comprehensive income (loss) and disclosure of contingent assets and contingent liabilities.  Future 
events may occur which will cause the assumptions used in arriving at the estimates to change.  The effects 
of any change in estimates are reflected in the consolidated financial statements as they become reasonably 
determinable. 

Judgments, estimates and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience 
and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. 

 
Judgments
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgments, 

apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on amounts recognized in the 
consolidated financial statements.

Determination of functional currency
The Company’s functional currency was determined to be the Peso.  It is the currency of the primary 

economic environment in which the Company operates.

Classification of financial instruments
The Group classifies a financial instrument, or its component parts, on initial recognition either as a financial 

asset, a financial liability or an equity instrument in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement 
and the definition of a financial asset, a financial liability or an equity instrument.  The substance of a financial 
instrument, rather than its legal form, governs its classification in the consolidated balance sheets (see Note 28).
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Operating Lease Commitments - The Group as Lessee
The Group has entered into leases of office and commercial spaces.  The Group has determined that all 

significant risks and rewards of ownership of these spaces remain with the lessors.

Operating Lease Commitments - The Group as Lessor
The Group has entered into a commercial property lease on its investment property.  The Group has 

determined that it retains all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of this property and so accounts for 
it as an operating lease.

Financial assets not in an active market
The Group classifies financial assets by evaluating, among others, whether the asset is or not in an active 

market.  Included in the evaluation on whether a financial asset is  in an active market is the determination on 
whether  prices are readily and regularly available, and whether those prices represent actual and regularly 
occurring market transactions on an arm’s-length basis.

Estimates and Assumptions
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation and uncertainty at the 

balance sheet date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

Impairment losses on loans and receivables
The Group reviews its loans and receivables at each reporting date to assess whether an impairment 

loss should be recorded in the consolidated statements of income.  In particular, judgment by management is 
required in the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows when determining the level of allowance 
required.  Such estimates are based on assumptions about a number of factors and actual results may differ, 
resulting in future changes to the allowance.

For the advances to related parties, the Group uses judgment, based on the best available facts and 
circumstances, including but not limited to, assessment of the related parties’ operating activities (active 
or dormant), business viability and overall capacity to pay, in providing reserve allowance against recorded 
receivable amounts.  For the receivables, the Group evaluates specific accounts where the Group has information 
that certain customers or third parties are unable to meet their financial obligations.  Facts, such as the Group’s 
length of relationship with the customers or other parties and their current credit status, are considered to 
ascertain the amount of reserves that will be recognized.  These reserves are re-evaluated and adjusted as 
additional information is received.  

Allowance for doubtful accounts as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 amounted to E602.9 million and 
E605.3 million, respectively.  Receivables and advances, net of valuation allowance, amounted to E358.5 million 
and E339.1 million as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively (see Notes 9 and 12).

Valuation of unquoted equity investments
Valuation of unquoted equity investments is normally based on one of the following:

	 •	 recent	arm’s-length	market	transactions;
	 •	 current	fair	value	of	another	instrument	that	is	substantially	the	same;
	 •	 the	expected	cash	flows	discounted	at	current	rates	applicable	for	terms	with	similar	terms	and	risk	

characteristics; or,
	 •	 other	valuation	models.

The determination of the cash flows and discount factors for unquoted equity investments requires significant 
estimation.  The Group performs periodic reassessment by reference to prices from observable current market 
transactions in the same instrument or from other available observable market data.

Unquoted equity investments amounted to E702.6 million and E839.3 million as of December 31, 2012 and 
2011, respectively (see Note 11).
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Impairment of AFS equity investments
The Group recognizes impairment losses on AFS equity investments when there has been a significant 

or prolonged decline in the fair value of such investments below its cost or where other objective evidence of 
impairment exists.  The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged” requires judgment.  In determining 
whether the decline in value is significant, the Group considers historical volatility of share price (i.e., the higher 
the historical volatility, the  greater the decline in fair value before it is likely to be regarded as significant) and 
the period of time over which the share price has been depressed (i.e., a sudden decline is less significant than 
a sustained fall of the same magnitude over a longer period). 

AFS equity investments amounted to E8,571.9 million and E7,490.3 million as of  December 31, 2012 and 
2011, respectively (see Note 11).

Impairment of investments carried at equity method
Investments carried at equity method are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 

circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.  The Group’s impairment test on 
investments carried at equity is based on value in use calculations that use a discounted cash flow model.  
The cash flows are derived from the budget for the next five years as well as the terminal value at the end of 
five years.  The recoverable amount is most sensitive to the discount rate used for the discounted cash flow 
model, as well as the expected future cash inflows and the growth rate used for extrapolation purposes.  As 
of December 31, 2012 and 2011, allowance for decline in value of investments amounted to E27.3 million and 
E112.3 million, respectively.  The carrying amounts of the investments, net of valuation allowance, amounted to 
E916.7 million and  E721.2 million as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively (see Note 12).

Estimation of allowance for inventory and impairment losses 
The Group estimates the allowance for inventory obsolescence and impairment losses related to inventories 

based on specifically identified inventory items.  The amounts and timing of recorded expenses for any period 
would differ if the Group made different judgments or utilized different estimates.  An increase in allowance 
for inventory and impairment losses would increase recorded  expenses and decrease current assets.  As of 
December 31, 2012 and 2011, allowance for inventory losses and obsolescence amounted to E4.6 million and 
E4.3 million, respectively.  The carrying amount of the inventories, net of valuation allowance, amounted to 
E88.4 million and  E83.2 million as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively (see Note 10).

Estimation of useful lives of the Group’s property and equipment
The Group estimates the useful lives of property and equipment based on the period over which these 

assets are expected to be available for use.  The estimated useful lives of these assets are reviewed periodically 
and are updated if expectations differ from previous estimates due to physical wear and tear, technical or 
commercial obsolescence, and legal or other limits on the use of the assets.  In addition, the estimation of the 
useful lives of these assets is  based on collective assessment of internal technical evaluation and experience 
with similar assets. The amounts and timing of recorded expenses for any period would be affected by changes 
in these factors and circumstances.

 
As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the aggregate net book value of depreciable property and equipment 

amounted to E874.7 million and E906.8 million, respectively (see Note 13).

Impairment of non-financial assets
(a) Property and equipment and investment properties

The Group assesses impairment on assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.  The factors that the Group considers important which 
could trigger an impairment review include the following:

•	 significant	underperformance	relative	to	expected	historical	or	projected	future	operating	results;
•	 significant	changes	in	the	manner	of	use	of	the	acquired	assets	or	the	strategy	for	overall	business;	and
•	 significant	negative	industry	or	economic	trends.	
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As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the aggregate net book value of property and equipment and investment 
properties amounted to E1,091.1 million and E1,123.2 million, respectively (see Notes 13 and 14).

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the aggregate impairment loss on property and equipment and 
investment properties amounted to nil (see Notes 13 and 14).

(b) Goodwill
 
The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis.  This requires an 

estimation of the “value-in-use” of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated.  Estimating 
a value in use amount requires management to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from 
the cash-generating unit and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present 
value of those cash flows.  Considering the U.S. crisis and the unemployment rate, the Group recognized 
an impairment provision of E100.0 million since December 31, 2009 on its investment in Cirrus.  As of  
December 31, 2012 and 2011, goodwill recognized for this investment amounted to  E466.4 million and 
E505.3 million, respectively (see Note 6).  

Resulting goodwill from the step acquisition of SSRLI amounting to E99.3 million will be tested for impairment 
in the next financial year (see Note 6). 

Estimation of contingent consideration 
Contingent consideration, resulting from business combinations, is valued at fair value at the acquisition 

date as part of the business combination.  Where the contingent consideration meets the definition of a 
derivative and, thus, a financial liability, it is subsequently remeasured to fair value at each reporting date.  The 
determination of the fair value is based on discounted cash flows.  The key assumptions take into consideration 
the probability of meeting each performance target and the discount factor.

On December 10, 2010, as part of the purchase price allocation for its acquisition of NT, the Group identified 
an element of contingent consideration with a fair value of E14.6 million which is classified under “Accounts 
payable and accrued expenses” in the 2010 consolidated balance sheet.  In May 2011, Cirrus and the former 
members of NT agreed to amend the earn-out provisions resulting to a decrease in contingent liability amounting 
to E5.8 million. The Group recognized an impairment loss for goodwill for the same amount.

 
Recognition of deferred income tax assets
The Group reviews the carrying amounts of the deferred income tax assets at each end of reporting 

period and reduces deferred income tax assets to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient 
future taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax assets to be utilized.  
Significant management judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred income tax assets that 
can be recognized, based upon the likely timing and level of future  taxable profits together with future tax 
planning strategies.  However, there is no assurance that  the Group will utilize all or part of the deferred 
income tax assets.  As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Group recognized deferred income tax assets 
amounting to E19.7 million and E22.0 million, respectively (see Note 24). 

Determination of pension and other retirement benefits
The determination of the Group’s obligation and cost for pension and other retirement benefits is dependent 

on the Group’s selection of certain assumptions used by the actuaries in calculating such amounts.  Actual 
results that differ from the Group’s assumptions are accumulated and amortized over future periods and 
therefore, generally affect the Group’s recognized expense and recorded obligation in such future periods.  
While management believes that its assumptions are reasonable and appropriate, significant differences in 
actual experience or significant changes in the assumptions may materially affect the Group’s pension and other 
retirement obligations.

The expected rates of return on plan assets ranging from 5% to 8% was based on the average historical 
premium of the fund assets.  The assumed discount rates were determined using the market yields on Philippine 
government bonds with terms consistent with the expected employee benefit payout as of end of reporting 
periods.  Refer to Note 23 for the details of assumptions used in the calculation.



A. SORIANO CORPORATION48

In Millions  2012  2011  2010
Net benefit expense  E 13.9 E 13.7 E 35.7
Pension liability   26.6  43.3  23.3
Pension asset  12.2  –  –

Provisions and contingencies
Judgment is exercised by management to distinguish between provisions and contingencies.  Policies on 

recognition of provision and disclosure of contingencies are discussed in the preceding notes and in Note 30.

5. Segment Information

The Company and its subsidiaries’ operating businesses are organized and managed separately according 
to the nature of the products or services offered.  Prior to 2008, the Group has no geographical segments 
(except for IQHPC’s operations) as majority of the companies within the Group were incorporated and are 
operating within the Philippines.  The Group has no inter-segment sales and transfers.  The amounts disclosed 
were determined consistent with the measurement basis under PFRS.

Holding company segment pertains to the operations of the Company.

Nurse/Physical Therapist (PT) staffing companies segment pertains to the subsidiaries providing healthcare 
and allied services operating in the United States.

Resort operations segment pertains to the Company’s subsidiary providing hotel and resort accommodation, 
relaxation and entertainment, among others (see Note 3).

Amounts for the investments in associates comprise the Group’s equity in net earnings of the associates.

Other operations include air transportation, hangarage, real estate holding and management, and recruitment 
services.

The following tables present the financial information of the business segments as of and for the years 
ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 (in thousands).

    Before Eliminations
 Philippines
            US      Resort  
   nurse/PT  Holding Co.  Operations  Other  Investments
   Staffing Co.  (Parent)  (note 6)  Operations in associates   Total  Eliminations Consolidated
As of and for the 
 year ended 
 December 31, 2012       
Revenues, excluding 
 interest income E 1,145,739 E 1,381,293 E 545,195 E 610,414 E – E 3,682,641 (E 1,299,732) E 2,382,909
Interest income   –  86,708  3,726  3,079  –  93,513  –  93,513
Investment gains  –  1,239,370  –  698  –  1,240,068  –  1,240,068
Interest expense  1,386  8,058  3,449  5,353  –  18,246  –  18,246
Income tax expense  7,379  3,989  15,487  7,248  –  34,103  –  34,103
Net income (loss)  (7,219)  2,361,338  51,052  208,697  155,328  2,769,196  (1,277,349)  1,491,847
Total assets  1,322,602  13,250,891  1,058,531  465,024  –  16,097,048  (2,173,263)  13,923,785
Investments and advances  –  3,096,656  –  –  –  3,096,656  (2,177,373)  919,283
Property and equipment  6,002  36,294  614,062  94,399  –  750,757  123,906  874,663
Total liabilities  1,193,600  789,215  354,567  212,476  –  2,549,858  (1,152,807)  1,397,051
Depreciation 
 and amortization  3,487  5,660  72,697  36,059  –  117,903  –  117,903
Other non-cash expenses  –  65,287  –  5,235  –  70,522  –  70,522
Cash flows from (used in):
 Operating activities  (37,578)  1,688,963  98,417   14,100  –  1,763,902  (1,054,555)  709,347 
 Investing activities  (10,392)  668,199  (74,859)   (13,769)  –  569,179  52,496  621,675
 Financing activities  40,717  (2,027,482)  32,620   (4,319)  –  (1,958,464)  977,886   (980,578)
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                         Before Eliminations
 Philippines
            US      Resort  
   nurse/PT  Holding Co.  Operations  Other  Investments
   Staffing Co.  (Parent)  (note 6)  Operations in associates   Total  Eliminations Consolidated
As of and for the 
 year ended 
 December 31, 2011      
Revenues, excluding 
 interest income E 998,257 E 647,091 E 412,375 E 187,547 E – E 2,245,270 (E 283,854) E 1,961,416
Interest income   –  115,974  427  3,803  –  120,204  –  120,204
Investment gains  –  726,088  –  120  –  726,208  –  726,208
Interest expense  931  1,215  4,534  2,412  –  9,092  –  9,092
Income tax expense  –  19,965  4,738  6,241  –  30,944  –  30,944
Net income (loss)  (2,381)  1,307,510  5,050  (137,090)  93,030  1,266,119  (269,843)  996,276
Total assets  1,332,048  11,900,903  1,018,288  316,536  –  14,567,775  (2,017,716)  12,550,059
Investments and advances  –  3,047,439  –  –  –  3,047,439  (2,322,206)  725,233
Property and equipment  6,573  39,870  611,033  125,387  –  782,863  123,905  906,768
Total liabilities  1,186,630  244,643  362,843  292,924  –  2,087,040  (1,146,505)  940,535
Depreciation and 
 amortization  6,173  8,916  58,796  31,345  –  105,230  –  105,230
Other non-cash 
 (income) expenses  –  (34,791)  –  532  –  (34,259)  –  (34,259)
Cash flows from (used in):
 Operating activities  (43,630)  493,380  95,995  (277,358)  –  268,387  (24,530)  243,857
 Investing activities  (2,950)  (1,581,330)  (219,257)  278,896  –  (1,524,641)  (37,509)   (1,562,150)
 Financing activities  32,380   (654,665)  118,977  9,387  –  (493,921)  177,496  (316,425)
             
 
                Before Eliminations
            US                       Philippines
   nurse/PT  Holding Co.  Other  Investments
   Staffing Co.  (Parent)  Operations  in associates  Total  Eliminations  Consolidated
As of and for the year ended 
 December 31, 2010      
Revenues, excluding 
 interest income E 711,561 E 211,572 E 459,183 E – E 1,382,316 (E 183,397) E 1,198,919
Interest income   6  107,147  4,083  –  111,236  –  111,236
Investment gains  –  2,191,154  639  –  2,191,793  –  2,191,793
Interest expense  187  11,024  2,723  –  13,934  –  13,934
Income tax expense  –  3,602  8,331  –  11,933  –  11,933
Net income (loss)  (61,123)  1,967,237  152,286  115,225  2,173,625  (196,902)  1,976,723
Total assets  851,285  11,406,079  184,710  –  12,442,074  (1,011,771)  11,430,303
Investments and advances  –  2,246,514  66,453  –  2,312,967  (1,370,214)  942,753
Property and equipment  6,403  47,641  89,134  –  143,178  –  143,178
Total liabilities  702,404  307,212  291,875  –  1,301,491  (685,407)  616,084
Depreciation and amortization  7,716  14,629  29,234  –  51,579  –  51,579
Other non-cash (income) expenses –  187,660  (1,894)  –  185,766  –  185,766
Cash flows from (used in):
 Operating activities  (64,996)  115,214  (40,776)  –  9,442  12,586  22,028
 Investing activities  (26,550)  2,447,452  338,131  –  2,759,033  (263,387)  2,495,646
 Financing activities  47,660  (876,329)  (305,504)  –  (1,134,173)  243,494  (890,679)

6. Business Combinations

 a. On December 10, 2010, Cirrus completed the acquisition of all of the outstanding membership units 
of NT to complement the operations of Cirrus LLC and MDI Medical.  As part of the purchase price 
allocation for its acquisition of NT, the Group identified an element of contingent consideration subject 
to revenue and earnings targets.

  The fair value of the contingent consideration at the acquisition date using the discount rate of 5% 
amounted to $332,868 or E14.6 million. In May 2011, Cirrus and the former members of NT agreed to 
amend the earn-out provisions resulting to a decrease in contingent liability amounting to E5.8 million 
(included under “Accounts payable and accrued expenses”, see Note 17). The Group recognized an 
impairment loss for goodwill for the same amount in 2011.

 
  The purchase price was initially allocated to assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on a 

provisional assessment of fair values as of the date of acquisition.  In 2011, the fair value of accounts 
receivable was determined to be E0.1 million lower than the previous amount of E0.3 million. This 
increased goodwill by E0.1 million.
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The fair values of the assets and liabilities of NT at the date of acquisition were: 

  Fair Value Recognized
  on Acquisition (in millions)
Cash  E  0.2
Receivables - net   0.2
Total assets   0.4
Accounts payable and accrued expenses   0.4
Net assets   –
Goodwill arising from the acquisition   38.5
Total consideration  E 38.5

 
 b.  On February 28, 2011, the Company acquired additional 15.51% shares in SSRLI which increased the 

Company’s ownership from 46.79% to 62.30%. 

The purchase price was allocated to assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on a provisional 
assessment of fair values since valuation of the intangible assets acquired has not yet been determined as of 
the date of the acquisition.  Adjustments to the provisional amounts will be determined within one year from the 
date of acquisition.

The fair values of the assets and liabilities of SSRLI at the date of acquisition were: 

 Fair Value Recognized
 on Acquisition (in millions)
Cash E 96.2
Receivables - net  76.6
Property and equipment  470.9
Other assets  46.8
Total assets  690.5
Accounts payable and accrued expenses  93.4
Other liabilities  137.8
Net assets  459.3
Goodwill arising from the acquisition  99.3
Total consideration E 558.6

The total cost of the combination was E558.6 million broken down as follows (in millions):

Cash consideration  E 255.9
Fair value of 46.79% investment   302.7
Total consideration   E 558.6

 
The Group recognized noncontrolling interests in SSRLI amounting to E277.9 million at the acquisition date.  

The Group elected to measure the noncontrolling interests in SSRLI at the proportionate share of its interest in 
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

From the date of acquisition, Cirrus LLC, MDI Medical and NT have contributed losses amounting to 
E4.1 million, E5.7 million and E43.4 million to the Group’s consolidated income for 2012, 2011 and 2010, 
respectively (excluding expenses of Cirrus). 

The goodwill of E577.9 million, before exchange differences amounting to E33.0 million as of December 31, 2011, 
comprises the value of the acquired companies’ customer and staff base and existing market share in the healthcare 
staffing industry.  There are no specific values assigned to the customer and staff base.  These are not separate and 
quantifiable and therefore, do not meet the criteria for recognition as an intangible asset under PAS 38, Intangible 
Assets.  The goodwill from Cirrus was reduced by E38.9 million due to foreign exchange differences in 2012. Also, the 
goodwill was reduced by E0.9 million collections from the previous debtors of Cirrus in 2012 and 2011, respectively.
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In 2011, the Group recognized goodwill amounting to E99.3 million arising from the acquisition of additional 
shares in SSRLI.

Impairment Testing of Goodwill

a. The recoverable amount of the investments in Cirrus LLC and MDI Medical has been determined 
based on the value-in-use calculation using cash flow projections from financial budgets approved by senior 
management covering a ten year period.  The pre-tax discount rate applied to cash flow projections is 8% and 
11% in 2012 and 2011.  In 2012, the cash flows beyond the ten-year period are extrapolated using a growth rate 
that is consistent with the expected average growth rate for the industry.

Key assumptions used in value-in-use calculations
The consolidated value-in-use of both companies is most sensitive to the following assumptions:

Cash flow projection
Cash flow projections are based on Cirrus and MDI’s contracts, which are long term in nature that renew in 

perpetuity.  

Discount rate
Discount rate is consistent with the risk-free industry interest rate.  

Growth rate 
Growth rate assumptions for the ten year cash flow projections are supported by the different initiatives of 

Cirrus and MDI which started in 2011.  
 
Sensitivity to changes in assumptions
Management accepts that changes in key assumptions would cause the carrying value of the unit to exceed 

its recoverable amount.  The estimated recoverable amount of investments in subsidiaries exceeds the cost 
of investment by about E197.9 million.  The implications of the key assumptions to the recoverable amount are 
discussed below:

	 •	 Growth	rate	assumptions
  Management has used the average industry growth rate for the forecast.  Although the current 

economic downturn is impacting the temporary healthcare staffing industry, the long-term growth 
of the healthcare staffing industry is underpinned by the increasing shortage of qualified healthcare 
professionals, notably registered nurses, and the growing demand fueled by an aging population. 

	 •	 Terminal	value
  Management has used the most recent healthcare staffing transaction price earnings multiple in 

determining the terminal value.   

  The significant economic downturn in the U.S. could adversely affect the average terminal value for 
similar sale of assets in the same industry in future years.  Accordingly, management had set up an 
impairment loss of E100.0 million as of December 31, 2012 and 2011. 

b. Goodwill from the Company’s investment in Cirrus Global Inc., through Sutton, amounting to 
E37.0 million, was fully impaired as of December 31, 2012 and 2011.  The Company, through Sutton, 
assessed that there will be delays in the recovery of the investment cost in Cirrus Global Inc. because 
Cirrus Global Inc.’s operations has been restricted due to the delayed processing of EB-3 immigrant visas 
for nurses destined for employment in the U.S. 

c. The recoverable amount of the investments in SSRLI has been determined based on the value-in-use 
calculation using cash flow projections from financial budgets approved by senior management covering a ten 
year period.  The pre-tax discount rate applied to cash flow projections is 10% in 2012.  In 2012, the cash flows 
beyond the ten-year period are extrapolated using a growth rate that is consistent with the expected average 
growth rate for the industry.
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Key assumptions used in value-in-use calculations
 The consolidated value-in-use of SSRLI is most sensitive to the following assumptions:

Discount rate
 Discount rate is consistent with the risk-free industry interest rate.  

Growth rate 
Growth rate assumptions for the ten year cash flow projections are supported by the different initiatives of 

SSRLI.  

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions
Management accepts that changes in key assumptions would cause the carrying value of the unit to exceed 

its recoverable amount.  The estimated recoverable amount of investments in subsidiaries exceeds their carrying 
amount by about E112.0 million. 
 

7. Cash and Cash Equivalents

  2012  2011
Cash on hand and with banks E 439,948,108 E 286,949,264
Short-term investments  430,604,506  255,477,418
 E 870,552,614 E 542,426,682

Cash with banks earn interest at the respective bank deposit rates ranging from 0.25% to 0.75% and 0.25% 
to 0.50% in 2012 and 2011, respectively (see Note 22).  Short-term investments with interest rates ranging from 
0.75% to 4.00% and 1.26% to 6.57% in 2012 and 2011 are made for varying periods of up to three months 
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group.

 
8. Fair Value Through Profit or loss (FVPl) Investments

  2012  2011
Bonds E 484,143,489 E 665,837,528
Funds and equities  39,829,506  192,097,120
Others  10,195,800  25,521,364
 E 534,168,795 E 883,456,012

This account consists of investments that are designated as at FVPL and held-for-trading investments.  
Designated FVPL investments consist of foreign currency-denominated fixed income securities with embedded 
derivatives (e.g., call and put options) that significantly modify the security’s cash flow.  These investments are 
classified under others and bonds.  Held-for-trading investments include foreign currency-denominated mutual/
hedge funds, and equity investments that are managed together on a fair value basis. These investments are 
classified under funds and equities.

FVPL investments in bonds represent foreign currency-denominated bond securities with variable and fixed 
interest rates. The FVPL coupon interest rate per annum ranges from 2.50% to 11.50% in 2012, 3.38% to 
12.25% in 2011 and 2.50% to 11.50% in 2010.  Effective interest rates range from 2.53% to 12.13%, 3.43% 
to 12.96% and 2.52% to 12.13% for foreign currency-denominated FVPL investments in 2012, 2011 and 2010, 
respectively.
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Net gain (loss) on increase (decrease) in market value of FVPL investments as of December 31 (in millions) 
are as follows: 

    Gain on increase
   Unrealized valuation gains in market 
   (losses) in market values value of FVPL
   as of December 31 Investments
   2012  2011  in 2012
Bonds E 19.4 (E 20.8) E 40.2
Funds and equities  2.6  (5.1)  7.7
Others  0.2  1.4  (1.2)
Total   22.2  (24.5)  46.7
Add realized gain on sale of 
 FVPL investments      20.5 
Net gain on increase in market 
 value of FVPL investments     E 67.2 

      
    Loss on decrease
   Unrealized valuation gains in market 
   (losses) in market values value of FVPL
   as of December 31 investments
   2011  2010  in 2011
Bonds (E 20.8) (E 13.7) (E 7.1)
Funds and equities  (5.1)  (8.6)  3.5
Others  1.4  3.5  (2.1)
Total   (24.5)  (18.8)  (5.7)
Add realized loss on sale of 
 FVPL investments      (1.5)
Net loss on decrease in market 
 value of FVPL investments     (E 7.2)

      
      Gain on increase
   Unrealized valuation gains in market 
   (losses) in market values value of FVPL
   as of December 31 investments
   2010  2009  in 2010
Bonds (E 13.7) (E 21.9) E 8.2
Funds and equities  (8.6)  (36.0)  27.4
Others  3.5  (25.1)  28.6
Total   (18.8)  (83.0)  64.2
Add realized gain on sale of 
 FVPL investments      35.7
Net gain on increase in market 
 value of FVPL investments     E 99.9

In 2012 and 2011, the Group entered into non-deliverable currency forward contracts to manage foreign 
currency risk.  These contracts were all settled during the year and resulted to a realized gain of E22.9 million and 
E10.9 million, respectively.  There was no outstanding forward transaction as of December 31, 2012 and 2011.
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9. Receivables
  
  2012  2011
Trade (Note 29) E 300,726,374 E 282,612,670
Receivables from villa owners  5,992,661  13,371,123
Interest receivable  23,099,407  23,915,288
Tax credits/refunds  38,562,813  36,398,722
Advances to officers and employees  2,683,243  3,260,130
Others  18,453,730  8,730,123
  389,518,228  368,288,056
Less allowance for doubtful accounts  33,555,605  33,239,440
 E 355,962,623 E 335,048,616

Interest receivable pertains to accrued interest income from cash and cash equivalents, FVPL and AFS 
investments in debt instruments.

Other receivables represent accruals of revenue from hospitals. 

Movement in the allowance for doubtful trade and other receivable accounts are as follows:

     2012
   Trade  Others  Total
At January 1 E 29,494,219 E 3,745,221 E 33,239,440 
Provision for the year (Note 22)  3,704,583  772,443  4,477,026 
Recoveries (Note 22)  (1,476,355)  (2,684,506)  (4,160,861) 
At December 31 E 31,722,447 E 1,833,158 E 33,555,605 

     2011
   Trade  Others  Total
At January 1 E 30,041,787 E 2,075,163 E 32,116,950  
Provision for the year (Note 22)  1,729,936  1,670,058  3,399,994
Recoveries (Note 22)  (2,277,504)  –  (2,277,504)
At December 31 E 29,494,219 E 3,745,221 E 33,239,440

10. Inventories
    
    2012  2011
At cost:  
 Food and beverage E 17,209,268 E 19,110,059
 Aircraft parts in transit  1,336,472  1,414,407
    18,545,740  20,524,466
At net realizable value:
 Operating supplies - net of allowance for inventory 
  obsolescence of E2.5 million in 2012 and 2011  45,647,068  43,047,545
 Aircraft spare parts and supplies - net of 
  allowance for inventory losses of 
  E1.3 million in 2012 and E1.0 million in  2011   18,196,278  14,770,517
 Construction-related materials - net of  
  allowance for inventory obsolescence of 
  E0.5 million in 2012 and 2011  5,692,551  4,565,598
 Residential units held for sale - net of  
  allowance for impairment losses of 
  E0.3 million in 2012 and 2011   284,089  284,089
   E 88,365,726 E 83,192,215
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Allowance for inventory losses recognized in 2012 and 2011 amounted to E0.4 million and nil, respectively.

Aircraft parts in transit are purchased from suppliers abroad under Freight on Board Shipping Point. These 
items are in the custody of either the Bureau of Customs or freight forwarder as of December 31, 2012 and 2011.

Operating supplies pertain to inventory items used in providing services such as printing, cleaning and 
office and guest supplies.  

Construction-related materials are excess materials and supplies from Phase 2 of the Villa Development 
Project (the Project).  These are held for use in other construction projects and villa operations.

11. available for Sale (aFS) Investments

    2012  2011
Quoted equity shares E 7,395,511,457 E 6,212,939,840
Unquoted equity shares  702,599,749  839,348,920
Bonds   746,773,893  603,519,773
Funds and equities  286,502,618  313,730,948
Proprietary shares  187,238,250  124,238,250
    9,318,625,967  8,093,777,731
Less current portion of AFS bonds  46,578,955  59,542,830
   E 9,272,047,012 E 8,034,234,901

Quoted equity shares consist of marketable equity securities that are listed and traded on the Philippine 
Stock Exchange (PSE).  The fair market values of these listed shares are based on their closing market prices 
as of December 31, 2012 and 2011.  

AFS investments in bonds represent foreign currency-denominated bond securities with variable and fixed 
coupon interest rate per annum ranging from 3.38% to 13.13% in 2012, 3.38% to 10.50% in 2011 and 3.58% to 
11.13% in 2010.  Maturity dates range from January 18, 2013 to October 24, 2037 in 2012, February 1, 2012 to 
March 1, 2022 in 2011 and April 1, 2011 to April 18, 2028 in 2010.  Effective interest rates range from 3.43% to 
13.94%, 5.63% to 11.59% and 5.74% to 12.01% for foreign currency-denominated AFS investments in 2012, 
2011 and 2010, respectively.

Investments in bonds, funds and equities’ market prices or rates are calculated and/or confirmed by the 
respective fund managers. 

In 2012, 2011 and 2010, gain on sale of AFS investments amounted to E1,169.3 million,  E676.8 million and 
E2,091.9 million, respectively.

Unquoted equity shares and bonds are carried at cost, subject to impairment. 

a. Prople, Inc.

In December 2007, the Company entered into a subscription agreement with Prople, Inc. (Prople; formerly 
Gralce Holdings, Inc.) for the acquisition of 6,665 shares of stock of the latter (equivalent to 20% of the 
outstanding shares).

Prople is a domestic corporation that owns Prople-bpo, Inc. (formerly, Sommersault, Inc.), Prople-kpo, 
Inc. and Prople-contents, Inc., jointly called the Prople Group.  The Prople Group is into business process 
outsourcing, specializing in finance and accounting, human resource administration and industry-focused 
transaction processing services.  In 2011, the Company made additional investment in Prople amounting to 
E4.4 million.  The additional investment enabled the Company to maintain its 20% equity share in Prople.  As of 
December 31, 2012 and 2011, the total cost of the investment in Prople amounted to E42.2 million.  Investment 
in Prople is accounted for as AFS because management believes that the Company does not have the ability to 
exercise significant influence on Prople.  
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Furthermore, the Company does not have any involvement in the operations of Prople.  The investment 
is measured at cost less impairment rather than at fair value as the shares of stock of Prople are not 
publicly-traded, such that there is no reliable basis of fair value.  

b. Enderun College, Inc. (Enderun)

In 2008, the Group entered into a subscription agreement for the acquisition of 16,216,217 new shares of 
stock equivalent to 20% equity stake in Enderun, a college that offers a full range of bachelor’s degree and 
non-degree courses in the fields of hotel administration, culinary arts and business administration.  The total 
cost of the investment in Enderun amounted to E286.2 million.  Investment in Enderun is classified as AFS at 
cost because the Group does not exercise significant influence and its holding in Enderun is not sufficient to 
carry major business decisions. 

c. Alphion Corporation (Alphion)

In March 2009, the Group invested US$900,000 (E43.7 million) for 387,297 Series E Preference shares of 
Alphion convertible into 645,485 shares of common stock.  Alphion is a fiber optic network company based in 
New Jersey, with sales, marketing, procurement and R&D offices in India.  Alphion develops, manufactures and 
markets high-speed fiber optic access and switching systems that enable “triple play” services, or voice, video, 
and data transmission in a single line.  In 2011, the Group invested US$1 million (E42.6 million) for 713,158 
Series G preference shares convertible into the same number of common stock and 140,817 Series G warrants 
convertible into the same number of common stock.  As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the total cost of the 
investment in Alphion amounted to E78.0 million and E83.3 million, respectively. 

d. ATR Holdings, Inc. (ATR Holdings) 

On July 26, 2010, the BOD authorized the Company to purchase 38,830,244 common shares of stock of 
ATR Kim Eng Financial Corporation (ATRKE) for a total purchase price of  E115.7 million paid as follows:

	 •	 Exchange	of	 the	Company’s	5,000,000	common	shares	of	 stock	of	ATR	Holdings	which	constitute	
8.85% of the total outstanding capital of ATR Holdings and with aggregate book value of E96.8 million; 
and,

	 •	 Cash	consideration	for	E18.7 million.

On November 2, 2010, the Company exchanged its 5,000,000 common shares in ATR Holdings with 
41,936,663 shares in ATRKE.  The resulting gain from the transaction amounting to E27.0 million is included 
under gain on sale of AFS investments.

On December 14, 2011, the Company sold its 41,936,663 shares in ATRKE to Maybank at  E4.38 per share. 
The resulting gain, net of taxes, from this transaction amounting to  E66.5 million is recorded under gain on sale 
of AFS investments.

e. Predictive Edge Technologies, LLC

In October 2011, AI entered into a subscription agreement with Predictive Edge Media Holdings, LLC 
(PEMH) for the acquisition of 1,000,000 Series A preferred units at US$3 per unit, which constitute 10% of the 
total Series A preferred units outstanding.  

In the first quarter of 2012, the Company’s holdings in PEMH, first acquired in October 2011, were exchanged 
for an interest in Predictive Edge Technologies, LLC (“Predictive”), PEMH’s parent company. 

f. AGP International Holdings Ltd. - BVI (AGP-BVI)

In December 2011, AI entered into a subscription agreement with AGP-BVI for US$5.0 million Convertible 
Bridge Notes (the “Notes”), with interest rate of 9% compounded annually.  The principal, together with the 
accrued interest, is payable on the one year anniversary of the issuance of each Note. The Notes is convertible 
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at the option of the holder into: (a) Series B preferred shares at the per share price paid to buy out existing Series 
A preferred shares (US$0.345/share or the “conversion price”); or (b) the equity security issued by AGP-BVI 
in its next round of equity financing at the per share price paid in such next round of financing.  AGP-BVI is a 
British Virgin Islands business company formed in 2010 in connection with the acquisition of equity of Atlantic, 
Gulf and Pacific Company of Manila, Incorporated (AG&P).  AGP-BVI, through its subsidiary and associates, is 
focused on providing modular engineering and construction and general engineering design services, including, 
fabrication, assembly and manpower services, particularly in the oil, gas, petrochemical, power generation and 
mining industries. The total cost of the investment in AGP-BVI amounted to E205.3 million and E219.2 million as 
of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

g. Leopard Cambodia Investments (BVI) Ltd. (Leopard)
 
In 2012, AI purchased 525 shares of Leopard. Leopard is a limited company (closed end) established in 

the British Virgin Islands (BVI). The objective is to achieve capital appreciation through investments primarily in 
businesses with significant operations in Cambodia and in real estate located in Cambodia. The total cost of the 
investment in Leopard amounted to  E22.7 million as of December 31, 2012.

h. KSA Realty Corporation 

The Group received cash dividends amounting to E28.6 million in 2012 and 2011 and  E5.7 million in 2010.

Below is the roll forward of the unrealized valuation gains (losses) on AFS investments recognized in equity:

    2012  2011
 Beginning balance E 2,495,985,688 E 2,650,946,926
 Gain recognized directly in equity - net of tax  2,141,696,465  560,496,650
 Amount removed from equity and recognized 
  in profit and loss - net of tax  (1,178,882,506)   (715,457,888)
 Ending balance E 3,458,799,647 E 2,495,985,688

In 2012 and 2011, the Group recognized impairment losses, included in the valuation allowances, on its 
quoted and unquoted AFS equity investments amounting to E156.1 million and  E35.9 million, respectively.

12. Investments and advances
    
    2012  2011
 Investments at equity - net E 916,707,909 E 721,180,157
 Advances - net of allowance for doubtful accounts
  of  E569.3 million in 2012 and E572.1 million 
  in  2011 (Note 26)  2,575,070  4,052,656 
   E 919,282,979 E 725,232,813

Investments at equity consist of:
    
    2012  2011
 Acquisition cost:  
  Common shares E 314,901,284 E 314,901,284
 Accumulated equity in net earnings:  
  Balances at beginning of year  518,538,615  613,004,245
  Equity in net earnings for the year   155,327,752  93,029,847
  Effect of step acquisition resulting to control 
        (Note 6)  –  (141,895,477)
  Dividend received  (44,800,000)  (45,600,000)
  Balances at end of year  629,066,367  518,538,615
 Valuation allowance  (27,259,742)  (112,259,742)
   E 916,707,909 E 721,180,157
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Significant details of the balance sheets and statements of income of PDP Energy and  PDEIC are 
enumerated below as of December 31 (in millions):

    2012  2011
 Balance Sheets:  
  Current assets E 2,510 E 2,476 
  Noncurrent assets  380  352 
  Current liabilities  878  1,091
 Statements of Income:  
  Net sales  6,170  6,509 
  Gross profit  843  524
  Income from continuing operations, before taxes  536  317
  Net income  389  220
 
In addition to those discussed in Note 6, the significant transactions involving the Group’s investments in 

subsidiaries and associates for 2012 and 2011 follow:

PDIPI and subsidiaries 

 a. In May 2007, PDP Energy established PDEIC, a PEZA-registered company engaged in manufacturing 
wires, mainly for export.  PDEIC started commercial operations in January 2009.  

 b. In November 2012, June 2011 and March 2010, PDIPI (parent company of PDP Energy) declared cash 
dividends to its stockholders.  Cash dividends received by the Company amounted to E44.8 million at 
E19.0 per share in 2012, E45.6 million at E19.3 per share in 2011 and E32.0 million at E13.6 per share 
in 2010. 

SSRLI and PRI 

 a. On January 9, 2007, SSRLI and the Philippine Economic Zone Authority (PEZA) signed a Registration 
Agreement declaring SSRLI as an Ecozone Developer/Operator, entitling SSRLI to establish, develop, 
construct, administer and manage the villas and to operate the Ecozone.  SSRLI is entitled to four-year 
income tax holiday and tax-free importation on PEZA-covered items under the Registration Agreement.  

  On December 18, 2009, SSRLI’s resort operations have been registered with PEZA to engage in the 
renovation and expansion of Amanpulo Resort at the Pamalican Island Tourism Ecozone.  SSRLI’s 
resort operation is entitled to 5% gross income tax on revenues generated from foreign clients and 
ordinary income tax on non-foreign clients under the Registration Agreement.

 b. On February 18, 2011, the BOD of the Company approved the Company’s acquisition of additional 
shares from the minority shareholders of SSRLI.  The acquisition increased the present ownership of 
the Company from 46.79% to 62.30% of the total outstanding common and preferred shares of SSRLI.  
Total acquisition price for the additional shares is  $5.89 million (E255.9 million) cash consideration plus 
the fair value of the 46.79% investment amounting to E302.7 million.  Goodwill recognized from the 
acquisition amounted to E99.3 million.

 c. On July 1, 2011, PRI took over the tourism project, ownership and operations of SSRLI. On the same 
date, PEZA approved PRI’s application for registration as an Ecozone Tourism Enterprise.  SSRLI also 
transferred in the name of PRI all resort-operation-related contracts entered into with related parties 
and third parties, including its long-term loans with a bank (see Note 18).

 d. On December 7, 2011, SSRLI and PRI entered into a Deed of Transfer (the Deed) effective July 1, 2011 
whereby SSRLI, in compliance with the requirement of PEZA, transfers and conveys to PRI on a tax-free 
basis under Section 40 (C)(2) of the National Internal Revenue Code, as amended, all its rights and interests 
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in resort-related assets and liabilities amounting to E851.4 million and E350.9 million, respectively, in 
exchange for SSRLI’s 5,000 shares of stock with a par value of E100 per share for an issue value of E500.5 
million.  This was recognized as advances to subsidiary until such time that the stock certificates for the 
5,000 shares were issued.

  In addition to the general agreement, both parties agreed under Section 5 of the Deed that if the transfer 
of the assets and liabilities in exchange for shares of stock is disapproved by the Bureau of Internal 
Revenue or any government related agency, including imposition of any taxes on the contemplated 
transaction, or if such exchange cannot be effected for any reason whatsoever, the Deed shall be null 
and void and shall have no force and effect.  In the event that the parties decided to rescind the Deed 
pursuant to Section 5 of the Deed, the parties intended that a lease arrangement be entered into in 
order to comply with the PEZA requirement for a separate entity to handle the resort operations of 
SSRLI.

  SSRLI also transferred in the name of PRI all resort operation-related contracts entered into with related 
parties and with third parties, including its short-term and long-term loans with a bank.

 
  On October 3, 2012, pursuant to Section 5 of the Deed, SSRLI and PRI have mutually agreed to 

rescind the Deed and considered it null and void.  On the same date, to effect the true intention 
of both parties, SSRLI entered into an operating lease agreement with PRI covering all rights and 
interests in resort-related assets for a period of 20 years beginning July 1, 2011 (see Note 18).

  As of December 31, 2012, all contracts with related parties that are related to resort operations were 
transferred to PRI except for the foreshore lease contract with the Department of Environment and 
Natural Resources (DENR) which is non-transferrable.

Cirrus

 a. In the ordinary course of business, Cirrus obtains cash advances from Anscor Group to finance its 
working capital requirements.  Promissory notes were issued with five year maturities from the date 
of each respective advance, bearing interest rates comparable with the market rates at the time of 
issuance compounded annually.  During the year, Cirrus paid a total of E8,445,900 of these promissory 
notes.

  On August 14, 2012, Cirrus issued two promissory notes to Anscor Group totaling E34,128,000 bearing 
5% interest rates which are compounded annually.  The promissory notes will mature in two years.

  On December 6, 2012, Cirrus entered into a release and settlement agreement with Anscor Group, to 
settle E142,967,850 of the promissory notes through issuance of preference shares to IQHIL, designee 
of Anscor.  Under the agreement, the Company will issue preference shares and the promissory notes 
amounting to E142,967,850 will be deemed fully and finally settled and all accrued interest thereon shall 
be forfeited.  Accordingly, 357 shares of Cirrus A Preferred Stock with a total par value of E163.86 were 
issued.  The difference between the book value of the promissory notes and the par value of the issued 
shares as well as the forfeited accrued interest were included in the Investments account in the parent 
company financial statements.

  Each preferred share is convertible to common stock at the option of the holder, based on the conversion 
price as defined in the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation.  The preferred shares are 
redeemable at the option of the Company.

  Outstanding balance of the advances amounted to E34,128,000 and E142,967,850 as of December 31, 2012 
and 2011, respectively in the parent company financial statements.  Interest receivable on the promissory 
notes as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 amounted to  E453,520 and E16,489,583, respectively, which are 
presented as part of “Investments and advances” account in the parent company financial statements.  
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Advances

Net advances consist of receivables from the following associates:

    2012  2011
 AFC Agribusiness Corporation E 1,500,000 E 1,500,000
 Others (net of allowance for doubtful accounts of 
  E11.8 million in 2012 and E14.6 million in 2011)  1,075,070  2,552,656
   E 2,575,070 E 4,052,656

13. Property and Equipment

        2012 
        Furniture,
    land,  Flight and  Fixtures
    Buildings and  Ground  and Office  Transportation   Construction in
    Improvements  Equipment  Equipment  Equipment  Progress  Total
Cost      
January 1 E 1,123,098,321 E 414,061,730 E 197,480,881 E 123,901,715 E 427,699 E 1,858,970,346
Additions  671,989  11,806,783  14,837,788  15,102,133  48,372,517   90,791,210
Retirement/disposals  (941,732)  (6,327,879)  (513,290)  (7,517,068)  –   (15,299,969)
Foreign exchange 
 adjustment  (62,361)  –  (869,174)  –  –   (931,535)
December 31  1,122,766,217  419,540,634  210,936,205  131,486,780  48,800,216  1,933,530,052 

accumulated depreciation 
and amortization      
January 1  491,700,451  213,491,571  156,099,240  90,910,810  –  952,202,072
Depreciation and 
 amortization  43,649,606  48,582,112  16,485,864  9,185,697  –  117,903,279
Retirement/disposals  (924,843)  (1,753,908)  (547,670)  (7,308,626)  –  (10,535,047)
Foreign exchange 
 adjustment  –  –  (702,848)  –  –  (702,848)
December 31  534,425,214  260,319,775  171,334,586  92,787,881  –  1,058,867,456
net Book Value E 588,341,003 E159,220,859  E 39,601,619 E 38,698,899 E 48,800,216 E 874,662,596
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                                 2011
                          Furniture,
    land,  Flight and  Fixtures
    Buildings and  Ground  and Office  Transportation   Construction in
    Improvements  Equipment  Equipment  Equipment  Progress  Total
Cost      
January 1 E 152,860,004 E 219,719,566 E 57,261,762 E 29,511,633 E – E 459,352,965
Additions  39,855,755  115,231,999  14,918,123  15,890,837  427,699  186,324,413
Additions arising from step 
 acquisition resulting 
 to control (Note 6)  930,382,562  181,628,127  125,256,428  85,388,316  2,872,857  1,325,528,290
Retirement/disposals  –  (102,517,962)  (4,000)  (6,889,071)  (2,872,857)  (112,283,890)
Foreign exchange 
 adjustment  –  –  48,568  –  –  48,568
December 31  1,123,098,321  414,061,730  197,480,881  123,901,715  427,699  1,858,970,346

accumulated depreciation 
 and amortization:      
January 1  103,608,177  136,745,442  46,735,991  25,792,478  –  312,882,088
Accumulated depreciation 
 and amortization arising 
 from step acquisition 
 resulting to control 
 (Note 6)  350,955,421  137,171,913  87,142,307  62,227,374  –  637,497,015
Depreciation 
 and amortization  37,688,191  37,718,103  21,612,515  7,244,088  –  104,262,897
Retirement/disposals  16,890  (98,143,887)  (2,810)  (4,353,130)  –  (102,482,937)
Foreign exchange 
 adjustment  (568,228)  –  611,237  –  –  43,009
December 31  491,700,451  213,491,571  156,099,240  90,910,810  –  952,202,072
net Book Value E 631,397,870 E 200,570,159 E 41,381,641 E 32,990,905 E 427,699 E 906,768,274

The Spa Complex of SSRLI, with facilities for hairdressing, gym and pilates, plunge pools and massage 
treatments, fully completed in 2011, with total cost of E141.0 million, is included in the additions arising from 
step acquisition resulting to control in 2011.

Aircraft hull and engine with total carrying value of about E43.2 million as of December 31, 2011 were 
used as collateral for the loan obtained in 2006 and fully paid in 2011 (see Note 18). 

As of December 31, 2012, land with improvements and structures thereon with carrying and appraised 
value of E452.6 million and E2,311.0 million, respectively, were used as collateral for the loan obtained in 2005 
by a subsidiary (see Note 18). 

Additions in 2011 include capitalized major overhaul and repair costs of an aircraft hull and engine paid 
by insurer and through application of deposits for the maintenance service plan paid in previous years.

Depreciation charged to operations amounted to E117.9 million, E104.3 million and E40.7 million in 2012, 
2011 and 2010, respectively.
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14. Investment Properties

                          2011
     land  Buildings  Total
Cost   
January 1  E 187,946,716 E 145,073,170 E 333,019,886
Additions arising from step acquisition 
 resulting to control (Note 6)  28,485,507  –  28,485,507
Disposals   –  (145,073,170)  (145,073,170)
December 31   216,432,223  –  216,432,223
accumulated depreciation   
January 1   –  72,536,584  72,536,584
Depreciation for the year  –  967,154  967,154
Disposals   –  (73,503,738)  (73,503,738)
December 31   –  –  –
net Book Value E 216,432,223 E – E 216,432,223

As of December 31, 2012, the Group’s investment properties amounted to E216.4 million. These properties 
include 874 hectares of land in Palawan and Cebu amounting to E111.3 million.  Based on the valuation 
performed by an independent appraiser as of October and November 2011, the aggregate fair market values 
of these properties exceeded its cost by E265.3 million.  The fair value represents the amount at which assets 
could be exchanged between a knowledgeable, willing buyer and a knowledgeable, willing seller in an arm’s 
length transaction at the date of valuation.  The estimated recoverable amount of the investment properties 
were based on available net selling price of similar properties sold during the year. No appraisal of properties 
was performed in 2012.

Additions in 2011 pertain to land held for future development, which includes the cost of raw lots and 
other incidental costs intended to be used for the prospective villa development of the resort subsidiary, 
amounting to E28.5 million.

On March 1, 2011, the Company sold its unit at the 34th Floor of the Enterprise Center with an area of 
1,238.4 square meters at a gain of E39.9 million. 

There was no acquisition or disposal of investment properties in 2012.

15. Other noncurrent assets

 Other noncurrent assets include the following among others:

 a. Fund for villa operations of PRI amounting to E48.6 million and E47.1 million as of December 31, 2012 and 
2011, respectively, which is a restricted cash fund for the villas held as a source of future maintenance 
requirements and association dues when the need arises as determined by PRI.  Interest income on this 
fund shall accrue to the villa owners.  A liability related to the fund was recognized and is included under 
“Other noncurrent liabilities” in the consolidated balance sheets (see Note 29).

 
 b. A restricted cash fund for future replacement of the resort’s generator set and desalination plant 

amounting to E3.6 million and E2.7 million as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively, are also 
recognized under “Other noncurrent liabilities” in the consolidated balance sheets.

 c. Property development in progress of SSRLI amounting to E11.7 million and E11.5 million as of December 
31, 2012 and 2011, respectively, which pertains to the development costs incurred on Phase 3 and 
Phase 4 projects started in 2009 by SSRLI. 

 d. Deferred nurse costs of IQHPC amounting to E10.5 million and E33.3 million as of  December 31, 2012 
and 2011 (see Note 29).
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16. notes Payable

Notes payable represent unsecured (unless otherwise stated), short-term, interest-bearing liabilities of the 
following companies in the Group to various local banks:

    2012  2011
Bank loans availed by:  
 Anscor E 250,000,000 E –
 IAI   53,365,000   65,760,000
 Cirrus  28,824,721  21,037,229
   E 332,189,721 E 86,797,229

In 2012 and 2011, the Company availed of loans from a local bank totaling to E425.0 million and  
E230.0 million, respectively, with terms of 18 to 200 days subject to 4.0%-4.4% interest rate for 2012 and 
terms of 6 to 32 days with 4.2% interest rate in 2011. As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the balance of 
these short-term loans amounted to E250.0 million and nil, respectively. The Company’s unavailed loan 
credit line from banks amounted to E550.0 million in 2012 and 2011.  

The loans availed of by IAI amounting to $1.0 million or E43.8 million issued in 2010 bears an annual interest 
rate of 3-month LIBOR + 2% per annum. In June 2011, IAI availed of an additional $0.5 million or E21.9 million 
loan. The note has a maturity of 90 days, with option to extend for another 90 days and was subsequently 
extended in March, June, September and December. IAI paid US$0.2 million or E8.2 million in December 2012.  
The maturity of the remaining US$1.3 million or E53.4 million was extended to June 2013.

Cirrus has a $1.50 million line-of-credit as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 with Fifth Third Bank with 
interest payable monthly at the bank’s prime rate and is secured by accounts receivables with carrying value 
amounting to $4.7 million (E193.3 million).  Loans payable availed of by Cirrus as of December 31, 2012 and 
2011 amounted to $702,186 (E28.8 million) and $479,864  (E21.0 million), respectively. There is $0.80 million and 
$1.02 million available on this line-of-credit as at December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.  

Total interest expense recognized in the consolidated statements of income amounted to  E11.5 million, 
E4.3 million and E12.2 million in 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively (see Note 22).

17. accounts Payable and accrued Expenses

  2012  2011
Trade payables E 223,289,897 E 193,815,432
Accrued expenses   127,137,103  125,474,046
Advances from customers  4,489,970  9,586,840
Due to affiliates (Notes 29)  1,495,784  5,471,921
Other payables (Note 6)  11,990,792  12,628,356
 E 368,403,546 E 346,976,595

Trade payables are noninterest-bearing and are normally settled on 30 to 90 days’ terms.

Accrued expenses include unpaid operating costs of the subsidiaries.
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18. long-term debt

Long-term debt pertains to the following:
 
    2012  2011
Long-term debt availed by:  
 PRI  E 145,905,886 E 131,520,000
 IAI   –  10,960,000
    145,905,886  142,480,000
Less current portion  28,976,456  23,854,113
   E 116,929,430 E 118,625,887

Loans payable of IAI represents US$1.0 million loan obtained in October 2006 from a local bank to finance 
the payment of an earlier loan from an affiliate for the purchase of a second aircraft.  The loan is payable 
at maturity in October 2012, with interest payable quarterly at 8.87% per annum.  The Company made an 
agreement with the bank that starting October 2008 until the original maturity date, the principal amount of the 
loan shall be amortized equally and the bank can demand payment for amount currently due. In addition, the 
applicable interest rate will be repriced quarterly.  Under a chattel mortgage agreement executed in relation to 
the loan, two aircrafts with carrying value of E50.2 million as of December 31, 2011 were used as collaterals to 
secure the loan. The loan has been fully paid upon its maturity.

Loans payable of PRI amounting to US$2.0 million and US$1.0 million were obtained from local banks 
on November 29, 2005 and December 22, 2011.  The $2.0 million loan, which was transferred from SSRLI 
through an execution of Deed of Assumption of Loan and Mortgage dated  June 2, 2011, is subject to 
Mortgage Trust Indenture (MTI), covering the assets of SSRLI which were also transferred to PRI pursuant to 
the Deed of Transfer dated December 7, 2011 but reverted to SSRLI upon rescission of the Deed of Transfer 
on October 3, 2012. The mortgage participating certificates or “MTC” issued to creditor bank represents 
12% of the appraised value of the properties that were used as collateral, with carrying value of E452.6 million 
and E499.1 million as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively (see Notes 12 and 13).  Both loans have a 
floating interest rate per quarter equivalent to the average quarterly LIBOR plus 2% spread.  The US$2.0 million 
loan has a maximum term of seven years, including three years grace period while the US$1.0 million loan has 
a maximum term of five years.  Both loans are payable in 17 equal quarterly installments starting October 2012 
to 2016. Current portion of loans payable is recognized amounting to E29.0 million and E12.9 million as at 
December 31, 2012 and 2011.

 
On October 3, 2012, PRI obtained a loan from its stockholder amounting to E30.0 million.  The loan has a 

grace period of five years and is payable in seven equal annual installments commencing in the year 2018 up to 
2024.  In lieu of the interest, PRI waives the landing and take-off charges on the said stockholder’s use of PRI’s 
runway in Amanpulo.

Total interest expense recognized in the consolidated statements of income amounted to  E3.4 million, 
E4.5 million and E1.0 million in 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively (see Note 22).

19. Equity

Equity holdings of the parent
Capital stock consists of the following common shares:

    Number
    of Shares  Amount
 Authorized  3,464,310,958 E 3,464,310,958
 Issued  2,500,000,000  2,500,000,000
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Outstanding shares, net of shares held by a subsidiary, as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 totaled 1,258,202,961 
and 1,298,602,961, respectively.  The Company’s number of equity holders as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 is 
11,563 and 11,677, respectively. 

The SEC authorized the offering/sale to the public of the Company’s 10.0 million and  140.0 million 
common shares with par value of E1.0 each on December 29, 1948 and  January 17, 1973, respectively.  
On August 30, 1996, the SEC authorized the licensing of 910,476,302 common shares at the subscription 
price of E2.50 per share.

In 2012, 2011 and 2010, the Company declared the following cash dividends:
 
     2012  2012  2012
Cash dividends per share  E 0.50  E 0.25  E 0.25
Month of declaration  december  October  February
Stockholders of record  december 21  October 18  March 5
Total cash dividends  E1,250 million  E625 million  E625 million
Share of a subsidiary  E620.9 million  E310.5 million  E300.3 million

    2011 2011 2010 2010
Cash dividends per share E0.12 E0.12 E0.12 E0.10
Month of declaration October February October March
Stockholders of record October 26 March 7 November 4 March 25
Total cash dividends E300 million   E300 million E300 million E250 million
Share of a subsidiary E144.1 million E143.8 million E143.8 million E106.0 million

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Company had dividends payable amounting to  E369.2 million and 
E146.6 million, respectively.  Dividends payable represents mainly  dividend checks that were returned by the 
post office and which remained outstanding as of  December 31, 2012 and 2011 due to problematic addresses 
of some of the Company’s stockholders. Dividends payable as of December 31, 2012 also includes dividends 
declared in 2012 but which remained unpaid.

 
On December 6, 2011, the BOD approved the appropriation of the Company’s unrestricted retained earnings 

amounting to E2.1 billion for expansion projects and investments in 2012 onwards in the areas of tourism, 
business process outsourcing (BPOs), manpower services, education and manufacturing.   

On February 21, 2013, the BOD approved the additional appropriation of the Company’s unrestricted retained 
earnings amounting to E0.9 billion. The appropriated retained earnings will be used for the Company’s investment 
program within three years on business activities gearing towards service sector, tourism, telecommunication, 
manufacturing and petroleum, whose operations are based within and outside the Philippines. 

The undistributed earnings of subsidiaries and associates amounting to E2.0 billion,  E1.6 billion 
and E1.7 billion as of December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively, which are included in retained 
earnings, are not available for declaration as dividends until declared by the subsidiaries and associates.

Shares held by a subsidiary
As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, a subsidiary held 1,241,797,039 shares and 1,201,397,039 shares, 

respectively, of the Company.  Cost of shares of the Company purchased by the subsidiary in 2012, 2011 and 
2010 amounted to E183.1 million, E9.6 million and E309.8 million, respectively.



A. SORIANO CORPORATION66

20. Costs of Services Rendered and Operating Expenses

Costs of services rendered consist of:

   2012  2011  2010
Salaries, wages and employee 
 benefits (Note 21) E 738,514,256 E 642,009,654 E 463,371,068
Insurance  61,456,431  45,390,310  36,898,414
Recruitment services  61,116,988  50,857,350  52,083,265
Outside services  60,167,009  2,864,724  2,360,656
Fuel cost  59,139,070  47,266,914  27,321,574
Transportation and travel  50,200,922   10,098,213  6,554,801
Housing cost  48,352,649  38,078,229  31,857,749
Departmental costs - resort operations  46,561,911  34,323,081  –
Depreciation and amortization 
 (Notes 13 and 14)  32,979,188  26,289,569  24,794,121
Dues and subscriptions  27,128,143  110,224,808  32,781,618
Materials and supplies - resort operations  24,430,154  25,073,173  –
Repairs and maintenance  23,461,678  27,607,077  21,854,014
Commissions  15,296,158  10,847,108  –
Variable nurse costs (Note 29)  5,985,349  261,817  2,458,871
Technical assistance fees (Note 29)  144,642  195,005  66,550
Others  33,045,970  37,473,022  11,698,799
  E 1,287,980,518 E 1,108,860,054 E 714,101,500

Operating expenses consist of:

   2012  2011  2010
Salaries, wages and employee 
 benefits (Note 21) E 267,013,772 E 270,575,923 E 225,029,028
Depreciation and amortization 
 (Notes 13 and 14)  84,924,092  78,940,482  26,785,135
Utilities  69,128,581  57,674,335  7,469,905
Professional and directors’ fees  49,950,583  56,584,744  52,427,831
Advertising  45,138,276  33,735,871  11,824,481
Repairs and maintenance  27,301,224  22,936,022  1,874,005
Transportation and travel  23,415,490  20,302,781  14,398,146
Commissions  22,727,304  24,662,075  11,311,051
Taxes and licenses  17,012,666  13,631,787  8,648,448
Security services  16,963,432  13,458,964  6,124,222
Rental (Note 29)  12,108,519  21,741,161  22,350,065
Insurance  11,820,313  8,981,640  6,491,328
Entertainment, amusement and recreation  10,351,752  9,622,489  6,219,240
Communications  9,644,724  9,341,625  7,778,406
Association dues  6,472,807  8,148,181  5,760,540
Office supplies  5,223,791  5,083,491  3,194,676
Meetings and conferences  3,406,502  2,858,114  3,150,116
Shipping and delivery expenses  924,687  846,468  772,768
Others  36,353,581  32,783,377  23,849,875
  E 719,882,096 E 691,909,530 E 445,459,266

In 2012, 2011 and 2010, the Company paid bonus to its non-executive directors amounting to E6.8 million, 
E9.9 million and E4.5 million, respectively. 
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21. Personnel Expenses
   
   2012  2011  2010
Salaries and wages E 975,278,317 E 884,732,736 E 642,765,270
Pension costs (Note 23)  13,931,112  13,651,840  35,654,077
Social security premiums, meals 
 and other employees’ benefits  16,318,599  14,201,001  9,980,749
  E 1,005,528,028 E 912,585,577 E 688,400,096

In 2012, 2011 and 2010, the Company declared and paid bonuses to its executive officers amounting to 
E38.3 million, E50.4 million and E32.5 million, respectively. 

22. Interest Income, Interest Expense and Valuation allowances

Interest income consists of:

   2012  2011  2010
Debt instruments (Notes 8 and 11) E 79,951,188 E 91,429,030 E 93,835,609
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 7)  8,587,147  24,097,379  14,550,246
Funds and equities (Note 8)  3,879,826  3,137,167  1,821,353
Others  1,094,621  1,540,428  1,029,149
  E 93,512,782 E 120,204,004 E 111,236,357

Interest income on debt instruments is net of bond discount amortization amounting to  E0.2 million in 2012 
and bond premium amortization amounting to E0.8 million in 2011 and  E3.3 million in 2010.

Interest expense consists of:

     2012  2011  2010
Notes payable (Note 16) E 11,523,547 E 4,343,570 E 12,212,278
Long-term debt (Note 18)  3,449,465  4,533,750  1,010,895
Others    3,273,037  214,891  711,239
    E 18,246,049 E 9,092,211 E 13,934,412

Valuation allowances (recoveries) consist of:

     2012  2011  2010
Valuation allowances on:   
 Investments and advances  
  (Note 12) E – E – E 172,072,396
 AFS investments (Note 11)  156,131,473  35,904,485  20,000,000
 Receivables (Note 9)  4,477,026  3,399,994  1,077,971
 Other current and noncurrent  
  assets  380,433  –  863,689
Recovery of allowances for
 Impairment losses (Notes 9, 10 
 and 11)   (90,467,232)  (73,563,491)  (8,248,014)
    E 70,521,700 (E 34,259,012) E 185,766,042
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23. Pension and Other Post-employment Benefit Plans

The Group has funded defined benefit pension plans covering substantially all of its officers and employees.  
The benefits to be received by the officers and employees under the pension plans shall not be less than the 
minimum mandated retirement benefit plan under Republic Act  (RA) No. 7641.  On November 30, 2010, the BOD 
approved the improvement to the Company’s retirement plan which resulted to past service cost.  Accordingly, 
in 2010, the Company recognized as expense the vested benefits and the amortization of the nonvested past 
service cost totaling E26.1 million.    

The Group’s plan assets and investments, which are being maintained by trustee banks, consist of the 
following: 

 a. Cash and cash equivalents, which include regular savings and time deposits;
 b.  Investments in government securities, which include retail treasury bonds and fixed rate treasury notes 

that bear interest ranging from 4.88% to 8.75% and have maturities from September 24, 2016 to 
October 24, 2037;

 c. Investments in corporate debt instruments, consisting of both short-term and long-term corporate 
notes and land bonds, which bear interest ranging from 5.45% to 8.50% and have maturities from 
February 23, 2013 to November 23, 2019; and

 d. Investments in equity securities; which consist of unlisted and actively traded securities of holding 
firms, banks and companies engaged in utilities, telecommunication, transportation, construction, food 
and beverage, mining and other services.

As of December 31, 2012, the fund’s carrying value and fair value amounted to E279.7 million.

The following tables summarize the components of net benefit expense recognized in the consolidated 
statements of income and the funded status and amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets.   

     2012  2011  2010
Retirement benefit expense:   
 Current service cost E 13,311,090 E 12,382,480 E 9,898,219
 Interest cost on benefit  
  obligation  14,199,902  15,106,587  10,199,093
 Expected return on plan assets  (13,923,238)  (13,949,827)  (9,662,453)
 Net actuarial gain recognized  (175,336)  (111,489)  (898,250)
 Past service cost - nonvested  
  benefits  267,608  224,089  224,089
 Past service cost - vested  
  benefits  251,086  –  25,893,379
Net benefit expense (Note 21) E 13,931,112 E 13,651,840 E 35,654,077

Actual return on plan assets E 44,267,514 E 16,348,665 E 29,436,317

Parent Company 

Computation of pension asset (liability):

     2012  2011
Fair value of plan assets E 269,237,771 E 190,119,948
Defined benefit obligation  225,485,109  208,248,266
Surplus (deficit)  43,752,662  (18,128,318)
Unrecognized net actuarial losses (gains)  (32,176,182)  2,273,630
Unrecognized past service cost  672,266  896,355
Pension asset (liability) E 12,248,746 (E 14,958,333)
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Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligations are as follows:

    2012  2011
Opening defined benefit obligation E 208,248,266 E 190,665,382
Interest cost  12,224,173  13,174,978
Current service cost  9,328,437  8,672,736
Actuarial gains  4,315,767  4,264,830
Closing defined benefit obligation E 225,485,109 E 208,248,266

Changes in the fair value of plan assets are as follows:

    2012  2011
Opening fair value of plan assets E 190,119,948 E 168,564,969
Expected return  13,510,673  13,693,372
Contributions  35,473,105  5,204,367
Actuarial gains on plan assets  30,134,045  2,657,240
Closing fair value of plan assets E 269,237,771 E 190,119,948

The major categories of plan assets as a percentage of the fair value of total plan assets are as follows:

    2012  2011
Bonds   49%  62%
Stocks   48%  37%
Others   3%  1%

Subsidiaries

Computation of pension liability follow:

    2012  2011
Defined benefit obligation E 25,176,933 E 28,109,554
Fair value of plan assets  10,448,153  6,379,987
    14,728,780  21,729,567
Unrecognized net actuarial gain  12,047,322  6,609,792
    26,776,102  28,339,359
Less  unrecognized past service cost  (217,597)  –
Pension liability E 26,558,505 E 28,339,359

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligations are as follows:

    2012  2011
Opening defined benefit obligation E 28,109,554 E 12,607,228
Opening defined benefit obligation of an acquired 
 subsidiary at acquisition date (Note 6)  –  15,244,945
Total opening defined benefit obligation  28,109,554  27,852,173
Interest cost  1,975,729  2,021,984
Current service cost  3,982,653  3,619,369
Past service cost - vested benefits  251,086  –
Past service cost - non vested benefits  261,116  –
Benefits paid   (4,000,570)  (280,217)
Actuarial gains  (5,402,635)  (2,238,339)
Reversal of retirement benefit cost of an officer  –  (2,865,416)
Closing defined benefit obligation E 25,176,933 E  28,109,554
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Changes in the fair value of plan assets are as follows:

    2012  2011
Opening fair value of plan assets E 6,379,987 E 1,378,677
Opening fair value of plan assets of an 
 acquired subsidiary at acquisition date (Note 6)  –  2,377,281
Total opening fair value of plan assets  6,379,987  3,755,958
Expected return  412,565  256,455
Contributions  7,403,782  2,625,976
Benefits paid  (3,958,412)  –
Actuarial gain (loss)  210,231  (258,402)
Closing fair value of plan assets E 10,448,153 E 6,379,987

 
The Group expects to make contributions amounting to E15.6 million to its defined benefit pension plans 

in 2013.

The major categories of plan assets as a percentage of the fair value of total plan assets are as follows:

     2012  2011
 Bonds   98%  62%
 Stocks   1%  37%
 Others   1%  1%

The overall expected rate of return on assets is determined based on the market prices prevailing on that 
date, applicable to the period over which the obligation is to be settled.  

The principal assumptions used in determining pension benefit obligations for the Group’s plans are shown 
below:

     2012  2011
 Discount rate  6%-7%  6%-8%
 Expected rate of return on plan assets  5%-8%  5%-10%
 Future salary increases  5%-10%  5%-10%

Amounts for 2012, 2011, 2010, 2009 and 2008 are as follows:

    2012  2011  2010  2009  2008
Defined benefit obligation E 250,662,042 E 236,357,820 E 203,272,610 E 105,801,894 E 84,598,603
Plan assets  279,685,924  196,499,935  169,943,646  135,285,388  113,464,303
Surplus (deficiency)  29,023,882  (39,857,885)  (33,328,964)  29,483,494  28,865,700
Experience adjustments on 
 plan liabilities  (508,898)  6,952,270  26,110,757  2,786,272  11,811,516
Experience adjustments on 
 plan assets  30,070,147  2,898,428  19,894,449  9,433,597  32,898,747

24. Income Taxes

The provision for income tax consists of:

     2012  2011  2010
Current   E 24,212,278 E 12,313,421 E 11,152,859
Deferred    9,890,492  18,630,200  779,678
    E 34,102,770 E 30,943,621 E 11,932,537
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The components of the net deferred income tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

Parent Company 

     2012  2011
Net deferred income tax liabilities:  
 Recognized directly in the consolidated  
  statements of income:  
  Deferred income tax assets:  
   Unrealized foreign exchange losses E 19,692,758 E 2,849,453
   Pension liability  –  4,487,500
     19,692,758  7,336,953
  Deferred income tax liabilities:  
   Uncollected management fee  (10,109,578)  (7,238,709)
   Pension asset  (3,674,624)  –
   Market adjustments on FVPL  
       investments  (6,429,950)  –
     (20,214,152)  (7,238,709)
 Recognized directly in equity - unrealized   
  valuation gains on AFS investments  (18,798,966)  (98,244)
    (E 19,320,360) E –

Subsidiaries
     
     2012  2011
Net deferred income tax liabilities:  
 Recognized directly in the consolidated  
  statements of income:  
  Deferred income tax assets:  
   NOLCO E – E 14,085,792
   Others  –  569,262
     –  14,655,054
  Deferred income tax liabilities:  
   Goodwill amortization  (13,661,903)  (15,731,765)
   Others  –  (5,854,305)
     (13,661,903)  (21,586,070)
     (13,661,903)  (6,931,016)
 Recognized directly in equity - unrealized  
  valuation gains on AFS investments  (953,210)  828,575
    (E 14,615,113) (E 6,102,441)

Deferred income tax liability amounting to E37.2 million was recognized for the fair value of the land with 
improvements of an acquired subsidiary (see Note 6).
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There are deductible temporary differences for which no deferred income tax assets were recognized as 
future realizability of these deferred income tax assets is not certain.  These deductible temporary differences 
are as follows:

        
     2012  2011
Allowances for:  
 Doubtful accounts E 812,045,335 E 791,474,784
 Impairment losses  206,889,785  326,062,348
 Inventory losses  1,639,616  3,883,393
Market adjustments on FVPL investments  –  25,899,910
Market adjustments on AFS investments  –  28,879,825
NOLCO    249,284,328  199,477,093
MCIT    6,432,935  8,409,647
Accrued pension benefits and others  47,318,314  28,339,359

The Company and other subsidiaries domiciled in the Philippines are subjected to the Philippine statutory 
tax rate of 30% in 2012, 2011 and 2010 while a foreign subsidiary is subject to U.S. federal tax rate of 34% in 
2012, 2011 and 2010.   

The reconciliation of provision for income tax computed at the statutory tax rates to provision for  income 
tax is as follows:

     
     2012  2011  2010
Provision for income tax at statutory 
 tax rates  E 416,841,325 E 322,660,236 E 602,279,908
Additions to (reductions from) 
 income taxes resulting from:   
 Movement in unrecognized
  deferred income tax assets  33,817,050  (17,991,664)  87,154,764
 Nondeductible expenses  1,677,283  557,075  5,459,178
 Nondeductible interest expense  579,192  400,182  1,371,524
 Nontaxable income  –  –  (8,584,786)
 Interest income already 
  subjected to final tax  (1,582,545)  (2,422,175)  (1,138,220)
 Equity in net earnings 
  of associates not subject 
  to income tax  (27,908,954)  (27,908,954)  (34,567,386)
 Dividend income not subject 
  to income tax  (67,000,858)  (65,702,350)  (42,237,201)
 Gain on sale of AFS 
  investments, marketable 
  equity securities and other 
  investments subjected 
  to final tax  (330,046,783)  (170,723,598)  (589,586,269)
 Others   7,727,060  (7,925,131)  (8,218,975)
    E 34,102,770 E 30,943,621 E 11,932,537
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The Group has available NOLCO and MCIT which can be claimed as credit against income tax due and 
payable as follows:

NOLCO
The following table summarizes the NOLCO as of December 31, 2012 of the Company and its subsidiaries 

domiciled in the Philippines: 

 Period of   availment
 Recognition period  amount  applied  Expired   Balance
  2009  2010-2012 E 62,121,142 (E 1,904,826) (E 60,216,316)  E –
  2010  2011-2013  90,146,105  –  –   90,146,105
  2011  2012-2014  93,326,465   –  –   93,326,465 
  2012  2013-2015  66,077,438  –  –   66,077,438 
     E 311,671,150  (E 1,904,826) (E 60,216,316)   E 249,550,008

As of December 31, 2012, a foreign subsidiary has NOLCO for federal and income tax purposes of 
approximately US$6.5 million (E266.8 million), portion of which will begin to expire in the year 2027. 

MCIT

 Period of   availment
 Recognition period  amount  applied  Expired   Balance
  2009  2010-2012 E 3,601,794 E – (E 3,601,794) E  –
  2010  2011-2013  3,141,636  –  –   3,141,636
  2011  2012-2014  1,671,586   –  –   1,671,586 
  2012  2013-2015  2,147,145   –  –   2,147,145 
     E 10,562,161  E – (E 3,601,794) E  6,960,367

25. Earnings Per Share - Basic / diluted

Earnings per share - basic / diluted were computed as follows:
     
     2012  2011  2010
Net income attributable to equity 
 holdings of the parent E 1,470,504,952 E 994,506,977 E 1,975,357,978
Weighted average number 
 of shares (Note 19)  1,374,250,079  1,350,762,579  1,351,589,662
Earnings per share E 1.07 E 0.74 E 1.46

The Company does not have potentially dilutive common stock equivalents.

26. Related Party Transactions

Related party relationship exists when the party has the ability to control, directly or indirectly, through one 
or more intermediaries, or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating 
decisions.  Such relationships also exist between and/or among entities which are under common control with 
the reporting entity and its key management personnel, directors or stockholders.  In considering each possible 
related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the relationships, and not merely to the legal 
form.

 
In the normal course of business and in addition to those disclosed in Notes 12 and 29, the Group grants/

receives interest and noninterest-bearing cash advances to/from its associates and affiliates.
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The consolidated balance sheets include the following transactions and account balances as of  December 
31 with related parties:

    amount/  Outstanding
2012   Volume  Balance Terms Conditions
associates    
PDP Energy    
 Management Fees E 55,776,625 E 38,602,709 non-interest  Unsecured, 
 Advances  –  169,141 bearing no impairment
Vicinetum     
 Advances  –  67,606 non-interest  Unsecured, 
       bearing no impairment
AFC Agribusiness Corporation     
 Advances  –  1,500,000 non-interest  Unsecured,
       bearing no impairment
Others
 Advances  –  838,323 non-interest  Unsecured
       bearing 
 

    Amount/  Outstanding
2011   Volume  Balance Terms Conditions
associates    
PDP Energy    
 Management Fees E 34,561,654 E 27,024,513 Non-interest Unsecured,
 Advances  –  120,656 bearing no impairment 
AFC Agribusiness Corporation     
 Advances  –  1,500,000 Non-interest Unsecured, 
       bearing no impairment
Others
 Advances  –  2,432,000 Non-interest  Unsecured
       bearing 

    Amount/  Outstanding
2010   Volume  Balance Terms Conditions
associates    
PDP Energy    
 Management Fees E 33,965,560 E 13,764,692 Non-interest Unsecured,
 Advances  –  28,576 bearing no impairment 
AFC Agribusiness Corporation     
 Advances  –  1,500,000 Non-interest Unsecured, 
       bearing no impairment
SSRLI    
 Advances  –  481,651 Non-interest Unsecured,
       bearing no impairment
Others
 Advances  –  805,821 Non-interest  Unsecured 
       bearing 

Post-employment benefit plan
As of December 31, 2012, Anscor’s defined benefit retirement fund has investments in shares of stock of the 

Parent Company with a cost of E30.2 million.  The retirement benefit fund’s total gains arising from the changes 
in market prices amounted to E4.6 million in 2012.  All of the Fund’s investing decisions are made by the Board 
of Trustees which is composed of the executive officers of the Company.  The power to exercise the voting 
rights rests with the Board of Trustees.
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Compensation of the Group’s key management personnel (in millions): 
    
     2012  2011  2010
Short-term employee benefits (Note 21) E 102.1 E 110.4 E 80.6
Post-employment benefits  6.8  7.2  4.4
Total compensation of key management 
 personnel  E 108.9 E 117.6 E 85.0

27. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

The Company’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and cash equivalents, receivables, 
investments in debt instruments, quoted and unquoted equity securities, investments in mutual and hedge 
funds, and short-term and long-term bank loans. The Group’s other financial instruments include accounts 
payable and dividends payable and amounts due to affiliates, which arose directly from operations.

The Company’s investment objectives consist mainly of:

a) maintaining a bond portfolio that earns adequate cash yields and,
b) maintaining a stable equity portfolio that generates capital gains through a combination of long-term 

strategic investments and short-term to medium-term hold type investment.

The main risks arising from the use of these financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk, interest 
rate risk, foreign currency risk, and equity price risk.  These risks are monitored by the Company’s Investment 
Committee (the Committee). 

The Committee evaluates the performance of all investments and reviews fund allocation to determine 
the future strategy of the fund.  The Committee is formed by the Company’s Chairman, Vice Chairman, Chief 
Finance Officer, and an independent consultant. These meetings occur at least every quarter.

The BOD reviews and approves the Company’s risk management policies.  The Company’s policies for 
managing each of these risks are summarized below.

Credit risk
The Group is exposed to credit risk primarily because of its investing and operating activities. Credit risk 

losses may occur as a result of either an individual, counterparty or issuer being able to or unwilling to honor 
its contractual obligations.  The Group is exposed to credit risk arising from the counterparties (i.e., foreign 
and local currency denominated debt instruments and receivables) to its financial assets.  The Group does 
not have a customer that accounts for more than 10% of the consolidated revenue.  

Credit risk management
In managing credit risk on these investments, capital preservation is paramount.  The Group transacts 

only with recognized and creditworthy counterparties. For investments in bonds, funds are invested in highly 
recommended, creditworthy debt instruments that provides satisfactory interest yield and capital appreciation.  
Investments in foreign equity funds are made in mutual funds and/or hedge funds with investments in A-rated 
companies with good dividend track record as well as capital appreciation.  The investment portfolio mix 
between debt and equities is reviewed regularly by the Committee.
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Credit risk exposures
The carrying amounts of the assets represent maximum credit exposure.  The table below shows the gross 

maximum exposure for each class of financial assets before the effects of collateral, credit enhancements and 
other credit risk mitigation techniques:

     2012  2011
Cash in banks  E 439,755,856 E 286,748,264
Short-term investments  430,604,506  255,477,418
FVPL investments – bonds  484,143,489  665,837,528
AFS investments – bonds  746,773,893  603,519,773
     2,101,277,744  1,811,582,983
Loans and receivables:  
 Trade   300,726,374  282,612,670
 Interest receivable  23,099,407  23,915,288
 Advances to officers and employees  2,683,243  3,260,130
 Others   24,446,391  22,101,246
     350,955,415  331,889,334
 Less allowance for doubtful accounts  33,555,605  33,239,440
     317,399,810  298,649,894
    E 2,418,677,554 E 2,110,232,877

The Group has no collateral held as security nor credit enhancements as of December 31, 2012 and 2011.

Credit quality per class of financial asset
For the Group’s financial assets, credit quality is monitored and managed using internal credit ratings.  

Internal risk ratings are derived in accordance with the Group’s rating policy.  The table below shows the credit 
quality by class of financial asset based on the Group’s credit rating system:

                             Financial assets that are 
                        neither Past due nor Impaired      
      Standard  Substandard  Past due 
2012   High Grade  Grade  Grade  or Impaired  Total
Cash in banks E 439,755,856 E – E – E – E 439,755,856
Short-term investments  430,604,506  –  –  –  430,604,506
FVPL investments -     
 Bonds  25,484,855  458,658,634  –  –  484,143,489
AFS investments -     
 Bonds  144,241,730  602,532,163  –  –  746,773,893
Receivables:     
 Trade  200,410,997  –  –  100,315,377  300,726,374
 Interest receivable  –  23,099,407  –  –  23,099,407
 Advances to officers 
 and employees  –  2,683,243  –  –  2,683,243
 Others    657,559  –  –  23,788,832  24,446,391
   E 1,241,155,503 E 1,086,973,447 E – E 124,104,209 E 2,452,233,159
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                         Financial assets that are 
                    neither Past due nor Impaired      
      Standard  Substandard  Past due 
2011   High Grade  Grade  Grade  or Impaired  Total
Cash in banks E 286,748,264 E – E – E – E 286,748,264
Short-term investments  255,477,418  –  –  –  255,477,418
FVPL investments -     
 Bonds  23,250,106  639,847,422  2,740,000  –  665,837,528
AFS investments -     
 Bonds  204,733,457  398,786,316  –  –  603,519,773
Receivables:     
 Trade  53,492,920  169,707,907  17,469,554  41,942,289  282,612,670
 Interest receivable  –  23,915,288  –  –  23,915,288
 Advances to officers 
 and employees  –  3,260,130  –  –  3,260,130
 Others    12,210,515  2,578,791  1,904,645  5,407,295  22,101,246
   E 835,912,680 E 1,238,095,854 E 22,114,199 E 47,349,584 E 2,143,472,317

The Group evaluates credit quality on the basis of the credit strength of the security and/or counterparty/
issuer.  High grade financial assets reflect the investment grade quality of the investments and/or counterparty; 
realizability is thus assured.  Standard grade assets are considered moderately realizable. 

Financial assets that are past due but not impaired
The table below shows the aging analysis of past due but not impaired loans/receivables per class that the 

Group held.  Under PFRS 7, a financial asset is past due when a counterparty has failed to make a payment 
when contractually due. 

     Financial assets that are Past due but not Impaired
    less      More
december 31, 2012  than 30 days  31 to 60 days  61 to 90 days  than 91 days  Total
Trade  E 35,326,073 E 13,422,670 E 5,451,781 E 14,392,406 E 68,592,930
Others   10,710,970  3,571,808  1,241,167  6,431,729  21,955,674 
   E 46,037,043 E 16,994,478 E 6,692,948 E 20,824,135 E 90,548,604

     Financial assets that are Past due but not Impaired
    less      More
December 31, 2011  than 30 days  31 to 60 days  61 to 90 days  than 91 days  Total
Trade  E 2,004,700 E 6,847,342 E 1,140,414 E 2,455,614 E 12,448,070
Others   410,414  525,131  259,510  467,019  1,662,074 
   E 2,415,114 E 7,372,473 E 1,399,924 E 2,922,633 E 14,110,144

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that the Group may not be able to settle or meet its obligations as they 

fall due.  Aside from yielding good returns, the Group ensures investments have ample liquidity to finance 
operations and capital requirements.  Short-term bank loans are secured to fill in temporary mismatch of funds 
for new investments.

Where applicable, long-term debt or equity are used for financing when the business requirement calls for 
it to ensure adequate liquidity in the subsidiaries and affiliates’ operation.

The Group’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it will always have sufficient liquidity to 
meet its liabilities when they are due.  This is done by primarily investing in highly liquid investments.  The Group 
is exposed to liquidity risk arising from its short-term bank loans from local and investment banks.
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The tables below summarize the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at December 31 based on 
undiscounted contractual payments as well as the financial assets used for liquidity management.

    Within
december 31, 2012  6  months  6 to 12 months  1 to 5 years  Over 5 years  Total
Cash in banks E 439,755,856 E – E – E – E 439,755,856
Short-term investments  430,604,506  –  –  –  430,604,506
FVPL investments -     
 Bonds  –  484,143,489  –  –  484,143,489
AFS investments -     
 Bonds  32,818,517  13,760,438  326,745,771  373,449,167  746,773,893
Receivables  317,399,810  –  –  33,555,605  350,955,415
   E 1,220,578,689 E 497,903,927 E 326,745,771 E 407,004,772 E 2,452,233,159

Notes payable E 332,189,721 E – E – E – E 332,189,721
Accounts payable 
 and accrued expenses*  290,068,853  –  –  –  290,068,853
Long-term debt  14,488,228  14,488,228  116,929,430  –  145,905,886
Dividends payable  369,162,064  –  –  –  369,162,064
Interest payable   8,726,273  5,409,125  17,719,558  –  31,854,956
   E 1,014,635,139 E 19,897,353 E 134,648,988 E – E 1,169,181,480

*Excluding other payables to government agencies amounting to E78.3 million.

    Within
December 31, 2011  6  months  6 to 12 months  1 to 5 years  Over 5 years  Total
Cash in banks E 286,748,263 E – E – E – E 286,748,263
Short-term investments  255,477,418  –  –  –  255,477,418
FVPL investments -     
 Bonds  –  665,837,528  –  –  665,837,528
AFS investments -     
 Bonds  42,532,910  17,009,920  246,477,110  297,499,833  603,519,773
Receivables  298,649,894  –  –  33,239,440  331,889,334
   E 883,408,485 E 682,847,448 E 246,477,110 E 330,739,273 E 2,143,472,316

Notes payable E 86,797,229 E – E – E – E 86,797,229
Accounts payable and 
 accrued expenses*  208,166,495  –  –  –  208,166,495
Long-term debt  –  23,854,113  118,625,887  –  142,480,000
Dividends payable  146,644,057  –  –  –  146,644,057
Interest payable   2,325,768  1,913,799  2,863,218  –  7,102,785
   E 443,933,549 E 25,767,912 E 121,489,105 E – E 591,190,566

*Excluding other payables to government agencies amounting to E138.8 million.

The Group’s total financial liabilities due to be settled within one year include notes payable that management 
considers as working capital.  Accounts payable and accrued expenses and dividends payable are expected 
to be settled using cash to be generated from operations and drawing from existing lines of credits or liquidity 
reserves.

Market risks
Market risk is defined as the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 

because of changes in market prices. It is the risk coming from adverse movements in factors that affect the 
market value of financial instruments of the Group.  The Group is exposed primarily to the financial risks of 
changes in interest rates, foreign currency risk and equity price risks.
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The table below shows the impact on income before income tax and equity of the estimated future yield of 
the related market indices of the mutual funds using a sensitivity approach.  The effect on income before tax 
pertains to the changes in the fair value of mutual funds at FVPL, while effect on equity arises from changes in 
the fair value of mutual funds classified as AFS.

                        Increase (decrease)   
     Change in relative   Effect on income  Effect  on
2012     average return  before tax   equity
Mutual funds    +2.35% to +54.32% E 8,278,323 E 82,170,098
     -2.35% to -54.32%  (8,278,323)  (82,170,098)

  
                       Increase (decrease)   
     Change in relative   Effect on income  Effect  on
2011     average return  before tax   equity
Mutual funds    +0.54% to +60.35% E 4,555,893 E 60,231,545
     -0.54% to -60.35%  (4,555,893)  (60,231,545)

The annual standard deviation of the yield of related indices ranges from 2.35% to 54.32% and 0.54% to 
60.35% in 2012 and 2011, respectively.  With 99% confidence level, the returns could range between 5.46% to 
126.38% and 1.25% to 140.39% from the average returns in 2012 and 2011, respectively.

 
d. Foreign exchange risks

Currency risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in foreign 
exchange rate.  The Group takes on exposure to effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency 
exchange rates on its financials and cash flows.  This arises primarily from investments in foreign currency 
denominated debt investments and equity securities.

The Company and a subsidiary’s foreign exchange risk arises primarily from investments in foreign currency 
denominated debt and equity securities.  To minimize income volatility due to exchange rate movements, liquid 
investments are held in a basket of currencies, including Philippine peso and other major currencies such as 
U.S. dollar and Euro.  This also enables the Company and a subsidiary to access investment opportunities in 
those currencies.  The Company and a subsidiary occasionally engage in foreign currency forward contracts as 
a defensive measure against foreign currency volatility.

On borrowings, it is the Company’s group-wide policy for its subsidiaries and associates where it has 
significant influence to minimize any foreign exchange risks.  Thus, all borrowings whether short-term or 
long-term, in general, should be in Philippine peso.  Any foreign currency borrowings may be engaged only if 
matched by the entities’ corresponding currency revenue flows or by a foreign currency asset.  As such, SSRLI 
and IQMAN can borrow in U.S. dollar as their revenues are dollar-based.  It is also the policy of the Group to 
minimize any foreign exchange exposure in its management of payables.  Any substantial exposure is covered 
by foreign exchange contracts, if necessary.
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The table below indicates the currencies to which the Group had significant exposure as of December 31, 2012 
and 2011.

The analysis discloses management’s best estimates of the effect of reasonably possible movement of 
the currency rate against the Philippine peso.  It assumes that all other variables remain constant.  A negative 
amount in the table reflects a potential reduction in income or equity, while a positive amount reflects a net 
potential increase.

                      Increase (decrease)
       Effect
     Change in  on income  Effect on
2012     currency rate  before tax  equity
US dollar    +6.23% E 5,241,987 E 530,386
     -6.23%  (5,241,987)  (530,386)
Euro     +8.10%  32,093  –
     -8.10%  (32,093)  –

                       Increase (decrease)
       Effect
     Change in  on income  Effect on
2011     currency rate  before tax  equity
US dollar    +5.61% E 5,254,624 E 1,752,126
     -5.61%  (5,254,624)  (1,752,126)
Euro     +3.66%  –  96,762
     -3.66%  –  (96,762)

 The effect on equity arises from revaluation of foreign securities classified as AFS.
 

Capital Management
Due to the diversity of the operations of each company in the Group, capital risk management processes 

in place are specific to each company.  Below are the capital risk management policies of the Company and its 
more significant subsidiary and associate:

a. The primary objective of the Company’s capital management is to ensure an adequate return to its 
shareholders and to maximize its value to its shareholders.  In pursuance of this goal, the Company establishes 
an optimum risk return investment objectives through a sound diversified investment portfolio and in ensuring a 
fair credit rating, the Company establishes prudent financial policies through appropriate capitalization ratios in 
its investments and maintain reasonable liquidity.

No changes were made in the objectives, policies or process for the years ended  December 31, 2012 and 
2011.

b. Cirrus’ and CGI’s capital management objectives are: 
•	 To	ensure	its	ability	to	continue	as	a	going	concern;	and
•	 To	provide	an	adequate	return	to	shareholders	by	pricing	products	and	services	commensurately	

with the level of risk.

CGI monitors capital on the basis of the carrying amount of equity as presented on the face of the balance 
sheet.

CGI sets the amount of capital in proportion to its overall financing structure, i.e., equity and financial 
liabilities.  It manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic 
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying business.
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28. Financial Instruments

Categorization of Financial Instruments

    loans  Financial
december 31, 2012  and Receivables  assets at FVPl aFS Investments   Total
Cash and cash equivalents E 870,552,614 E – E – E 870,552,614
FVPL investments  –  534,168,795  –  534,168,795
AFS investments  –  –  9,318,625,967  9,318,625,967
Receivables  355,962,623  –  –  355,962,623
   E 1,226,515,237 E 534,168,795 E 9,318,625,967 E11,079,309,999

    loans  Financial
December 31, 2011  and Receivables  assets at FVPl aFS Investments   Total
Cash and cash equivalents E 542,426,682 E – E – E 542,426,682
FVPL investments  –  883,456,012  –  883,456,012
AFS investments  –  –  8,093,777,731  8,093,777,731
Receivables  335,048,616  –  –  335,048,616 
   E 877,475,298 E 883,456,012 E 8,093,777,731 E 9,854,709,041

Other Financial Liabilities  2012  2011
Notes payable E 332,189,721 E 86,797,229
Accounts payable and accrued expenses*  290,068,853  208,166,495
Long-term debt, including current portion  145,905,886  142,480,000
Dividends payable  369,162,064  146,644,057
   E 1,137,326,524 E 584,087,781

*Excluding other payables to government agencies amounting to E78.3 million and E138.8 million in 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Fair Values of Financial Assets and Liabilities
The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, receivables, notes payable, dividends payable and 

accounts payable and accrued expenses approximate their fair values due to the short-term maturity of these 
financial instruments.

AFS and FVPL investments are stated at their fair values.  The carrying values of long-term debt, which have 
floating rates with quarterly repricing, approximate their fair values.

Fair Value Hierarchy
The Company uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial 

instruments by valuation technique:

Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2:  other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are 

observable, either directly or indirectly
Level 3:  techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not 

based on observable market data.
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As of December 31, 2012, all of the Group’s assets measured at fair value are quoted and are classified as 
Level 1. 

    2012  2011
FVPL investments:  
 Bonds E 484,143,489 E 665,837,528
 Funds and equities  39,829,506  192,097,120
 Others   10,195,800  25,521,364
AFS investments:  
 Bonds  746,773,893  603,519,773
 Quoted equity shares  7,395,511,457  6,212,939,840
 Funds and equities  286,502,618  313,730,948
 Proprietary shares  187,238,250  124,238,250
   E 9,150,195,013 E 8,137,884,823

For the year ended December 31, 2012, there were no transfers from Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 fair value 
measurements. 

29. Contracts and agreements 

Company 
The Company leases out its investment property to a third party.  The term of the lease is for two years 

and 10 months, with the lease term starting on February 1, 2007 and is renewable upon mutual agreement 
of the parties.  The lease is subject to an agreed amount of escalation in the second and third years.  The 
lease agreement was not renewed in 2009 and the related investment property was sold to a third party on 
March 1, 2011 (see Note 14).

Total rent income recognized in 2011 and 2010 amounted to E0.3 million and E0.4 million, respectively, and 
are shown as part of “Other expenses - net” in the consolidated statements of income.  

 
Sutton
a. On February 26, 2009, CGI’s BOD ratified the new Service Agreement with IQHPC with a revised fee 

equivalent to 3% of all billed expenses effective January 1, 2009. 

b. In the ordinary course of business, IQHPC enters into Service Agreements with U.S. hospitals and/
or staffing agencies to provide services in relation to the placement of qualified Filipino nurses for full time 
employment in the U.S.  The Service Agreement sets forth the rights, responsibilities, terms and conditions 
governing IQHPC’s services, which include among others, training and procedural assistance in obtaining all 
required licensure examinations, obtaining U.S. permanent residence status and eventual placement of the 
nurses to the U.S. hospitals and/or agency.

As of December 31, 2012, IQHPC has outstanding Service Agreements with different U.S. hospitals and 
one with a staffing agency.  Service income recognized in 2012, 2011 and 2010 amounted to E14.4 million, 
E14.3 million and E17.2 million, respectively.

c. As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, IQHPC has an outstanding commission agreement with an 
independent consulting firm.

d. CGI (formerly called IQMAN) entered into a non-cancellable operating lease covering certain offices.  
The lease has terms ranging up to three years, with renewal options and includes annual escalation rates of 5% 
to 10%.  Upon its maturity on July 31, 2010, the lease was renewed for a two-year term ending July 31, 2012. 
In 2012, the same was again renewed for a one-year term ending July 31, 2013.  
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The future minimum rentals payable under the non-cancellable operating lease within one year from the 
balance sheet date amounted to E1.5 million and  E1.4 million as of  December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.  

Rent expense in 2012, 2011 and 2010 amounted to  E2.5 million,  E2.4 million and  E2.3 million, respectively. 

e. In May 2010, CGI entered into a sublease agreement with a third party covering its office space.  The 
sublease has a term of one year ending April 30, 2011, renewable upon mutual agreement of both parties. 
Upon its maturity on April 30, 2011, the same was renewed for a term ending January 31, 2012 and in 2012 an 
addendum was made to extend the sublease agreement for another six months ending July 31, 2012. On April 
29, 2012, the same was again renewed for a term ending January 31, 2013.  Rent income from the sublease 
agreement for the period ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 amounted E0.8 million.

f. In December 2012 and 2011, advances to CGI amounting to E20.2 million and E20.9 million were 
assigned to Sutton in exchange for its 2,528 common shares and 2,609 preferred shares, respectively.

Cirrus
a. Cirrus Holdings USA, LLC and Cirrus Allied, LLC have various staffing contracts with their U.S. clients 

concerning certain rates and conditions, among others.  Service income amounted to E1,145.7 million, E998.3 
million and E711.6 million in 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.  

 
Cirrus has entered into a third party non-cancellable operating lease agreements for the rental of office 

space and equipment.  The leases include options to renew, as well as rent escalation clauses and in certain 
cases, incentives from the landlord for rent-free months and allowances for tenant improvements.  The rent 
escalations and incentives have been reflected in the following table. 

Future minimum lease payments, as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, associated with these agreements 
with terms of one year or more are as follows: 

  2012  2011
Within one year E 6,773,031 E 7,022,325
After one year but not more than five years  17,459,097  25,879,086
 E 24,232,128 E 32,901,411

Rent expense in 2012, 2011 and 2010 amounted to E7.5 million, E9.8 million and E10.1 million, respectively.  

b. As discussed in Note 6, on December 10, 2010, Cirrus acquired NT, a company maintaining web domains 
for nurses and physical therapist, and agreed to pay a maximum total consideration amounting to $1.06 million 
for the net assets of NT as of purchase date.  Of the amount, $0.51 million will be paid by Cirrus provided certain 
revenue and earnings target are met.  To facilitate the transaction, the Company made advances to AI in the 
amount of $840,000 (E37.09 million).

ASAC
ASAC enters into a lease agreement for ground handling equipment in the conduct of its operations.  The 

lease agreement is in force for a period of not more than one year unless all parties formally extend the said term.  
Rent expense charged to operations amounted to  E0.1 million in 2012, E0.3 million in 2011 and 2010.

IAI
a. On August 23, 2006, IAI entered into a Maintenance Service Plan (MSP) with Honeywell effective 

for five years for the latter to service IAI’s additional aircraft engine acquired in 2007.  Under the terms of 
the programs, IAI agrees to pay a fee computed at a rate of engine’s actual operating hours or the minimum 
operating hours, subject to annual escalation. The engine shall be shipped to the United States to undergo 
repairs and maintenance as necessary, by a Honeywell authorized service center. Deposits for the MSP as of 
December 31, 2012 and 2011 amounted to E40 million and E24.1 million, respectively and included as part 
of “Prepayments and other current assets” account in the consolidated balance sheets. Total MSP deposits 
capitalized as part of aircraft engine amounted to E24.2 million in 2011 (nil in 2012).
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b. IAI conducts its operations from leased facilities which include the aircraft hangar and the administrative 
office.  The lease agreement is for a period of two years commencing on September 1, 2009 and is subsequently 
renewed for another two years upon its termination in 2011. The renewed lease agreement will terminate in 
August 2013.  

The same shall be renewable upon mutual agreement if either party receives no notice of termination.  Rent 
expense recognized in operations amounted to E2.4 million in 2012 and  E2.1 million in 2011.

 
Future minimum annual rentals payable under this lease are as follows:

  2012  2011
Not later than one year E 1,571,429 E 2,142,852
Later than one year but not later than 5 years  –  1,428,568
 E 1,571,429 E 3,571,420

c. On October 28, 2011, IAI’s advances from PRI amounting to E19.4 million as of  December 31, 2010 
were transferred to PIHI. Subsequent to the execution of the agreement, PIHI converted the advances into 
additional equity in IAI.  PIHI subscribed to 5,000 common shares with a par value of E100 per share or a total 
par value of E500,000 at an issue price of  E3,877.3 per share.

SSRLI and PRI
a. Since 1995, the Company charges SSRLI a monthly fee amounting to US$4,000 or its Peso equivalent 

for the Company’s general, administrative, treasury, tax and legal services rendered to SSRLI.  In addition, the 
Company also made advances to SSRLI for the latter’s operating expenses.  Due from SSRLI amounted to 
E0.5 million as of December 31, 2010 (see Note 12).

b. SSRLI executed an Operating and Management Agreement (OMA) with Amanresorts Management, 
B.V. (the Operator of Amanresorts), a company based in Amsterdam, the Netherlands, for a fee of 5% of SSRLI’s 
gross operating profits, as defined in the OMA.  The OMA provides for, among others, the reimbursements by 
SSRLI to Amanresorts of all costs  and expenses incurred by the latter in connection with the management and 
operation of SSRLI and a reserve cash funding equivalent to 4% of gross revenues which will be used to cover 
the cost of replacements, renewals, and additions to furniture, fixtures and equipment.  Likewise, marketing 
services and license contracts with Amanresorts, were entered into by SSRLI, providing marketing fee of 3% 
of SSRLI’s hotel revenues and US$1,000 monthly fee, respectively.  Total fees related to these agreements 
amounted to E23.4 million and  E25.0 million in 2011 and 2010, respectively.

As of December 31, 2011, all existing agreements with Amanresorts were already transferred under the 
name of PRI as a result of the transfer of resort operations (see Note 12).

c. SSRLI has an agreement with IAI for the latter to provide regular air service.  IAI shall charge SSRLI 
a fixed round trip rate per passenger, subject to an annual review by both parties, with a guarantee that all of 
IAI’s operating costs will be covered.  The original agreement had duration of no less than two years and was 
renewed in February 2008.  

As a result of the transfer of resort operations from SSRLI to PRI (see Note 12), the latest renewal of 
the air service agreement was made between PRI and IAI covering a two-year period from July 1, 2011 to 
June 30, 2013. The duration of the contract may be extended upon such terms and conditions as may be 
mutually agreed by both parties.

d. The latest renewal of the lease agreement between SSRLI and IAI for the Guest Lounge and Purchasing 
Office covers the two-year period from September 2009 to August 2011.  As a result of the transfer of resort 
operations (see Note 12), the lease agreement was renewed by IAI and PRI on September 2011 for a period of 
two years.  The agreement provides that PRI is not allowed to sublease any part of the premises or facilities that 
it leases.  Rent relating to the lease amounted to E1.9 million in 2012, E1.5 million in 2011 and E1.6 million in 
2010.
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e. In January 2007, APHI and SSRLI entered into a consultancy agreement whereby APHI will 
provide project management, general and specific administration and supervision over pre-construction 
and post-construction stages of SSRLI’s Amanpulo Phase 2 and other capital expenditure projects for a 
certain fee agreed by the two parties. As of December 31, 2011, the consultancy contract is still in effect 
but at a reduced fee.

f.  On July 1, 2011, PRI entered into management agreements with the villa owning companies wherein 
PRI shall provide general maintenance and accounting and administrative services for the villas.  PRI shall also 
be responsible for the marketing and promotion of the villas.  In return for these services, PRI shall be entitled 
to 50% of the net villa rental proceeds.  PRI shall also receive reimbursements of costs, with 15% handling fees 
(except for utilities), incurred in providing services to the villa guests. PRI’s share in the net villa rental proceeds 
amounted to E50.1 million in 2012 and E17.9 million in 2011 and is presented as part of “Services revenue” in 
the consolidated statement of income.

As part of the agreement, PRI will also maintain a fund which shall be used for future maintenance 
requirements of the villas.  As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the restricted fund amounted to E47.5 million and 
E46.0 million, respectively, which is included under “Other noncurrent assets” and “Other noncurrent liabilities” 
in the consolidated balance sheets (see Note 15).

g. On October 3, 2012, PRI entered into a lease agreement with SSRLI covering the land where 
PRI operates and certain resort-related assets for a period of 20 years.  Annual lease rental amounted to 
E53.5 million payable within the first five days at the beginning of each quarter.  

Future minimum lease payments under these lease agreements as of December 31 are as follows:

  2012  2011
Within one year E 55,530,385 E 55,202,831
After one year but not more than five years  268,802,251  268,777,123
More than five years  668,750,000  722,250,000
 E 993,082,636 E 1,046,229,954

PDIPI and Subsidiaries
a. The Company has a management contract with PDP Energy which provides, among others, for payment 

of annual management fees amounting to E7.2 million (VAT inclusive) plus certain percentages of audited income 
before tax and management and technical assistance fees (VAT exclusive).  Due from PDP Energy amounted to 
E38.6 million and E27.0 million as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively (see Note 12).  Management 
fees amounted to  E55.8 million, E34.6 million and E34.0 million in 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

b. Beginning January 2004, PDP Energy entered into a new technical assistance contract with Phelps 
Dodge International Corporation which provides an annual payment of technical fees amounting to a certain 
percentage of audited income before tax (VAT inclusive).  Technical fees amounted to E55.8 million, E34.6 million 
and E34.0 million in 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.  These are included in “Management fee” in the Group’s 
consolidated statements of income.

 

30. Other Matters 

a. ASAC is a founding member of the Federation of Aviation Organizations of the Philippines (FEDAVOR) 
since 1986.  In 2005, FEDAVOR won a Supreme Court case against MIAA involving its imposition of higher rates 
for rental and other services without a public hearing.  ASAC accrued its share in FEDAVOR’s legal expenses 
in 2006.  In 2009, MIAA filed and subsequently won their motion for reconsideration with the Court of Appeals 
ruling that all refunds have to be coursed through the Commission on Audit.  As of December 31, 2011, the 
refund process has remained pending. Also, ASAC is planning to enter into a new lease contract with MIAA, with 
IAI as the lessor and ASAC as the sublessor.

b. ASAC is a defendant in labor lawsuits and claims.  As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, management 
has recognized provisions for losses amounting to E5.7 million (see Note 17) that may be incurred from these 
lawsuits. 
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